SOIL MICROBIAL COMMUNITIES AND SOIL ORGANIC MATTER: COMPOSITION AND ECOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS IN THE LUQUILLO CRITICAL ZONE

Madeleine M. Stone

A DISSERTATION

in

Earth and Environmental Science

Presented to the Faculties of the University of Pennsylvania

in

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2014

Supervisor of Dissertation

Alain F. Plante

Associate Professor, Earth and Environmental Science

Graduate Group Chairperson

Douglas J. Jerolmack

Associate Professor, Earth and Environmental Science

Dissertation Committee

Arthur H. Johnson, Professor, Earth and Environmental Science

Brenda Casper, Professor, Biology

Serita Frey (external), Professor, University of New Hampshire

SOIL MICROBIAL COMMUNITIES AND SOIL ORGANIC MATTER: COMPOSITION AND ECOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS IN THE LUQUILLO CRITICAL ZONE

© COPYRIGHT

2014

Madeleine Marta Stone

This work is licensed under the

Creative Commons Attribution

NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0

License

To view a copy of this license, visit

http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/

Dedicated to Fred Scatena

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To get through the hardest journey we need only take one step at a time but we must keep stepping -Chinese proverb.

This quote was left above a desk that I inherited some years back from a former grad student. I kept several of her decorations in place in the hopes of channeling a bit of her work ethic over the past four and a half years. But for nearly all of the steps I've taken, I've relied on the guidance, advice and support of a smorgasbord of amazing people. Below I'd like to acknowledge and convey my heartfelt gratitude toward the people who helped make this dissertation possible.

First, I'd like to thank my advisor, Alain Plante, who from day one believed in me and encouraged me to follow my interests, wherever they may lead. His guidance throughout this long journey has been invaluable, and I am grateful to have an advisor who has provided balance, realism and unflagging belief in what I could accomplish to my scientific explorations. Beyond Penn, Alain has helped to connect me with additional mentors and resources across the country, broadening my network and enriching my graduate education. He has been exceptionally supportive of my interests in science outreach and communication, and, as with my academic interests, has encouraged me to pursue these interests as rigorously as possible.

My dissertation committee has provided additional perspectives, support and feedback throughout my graduate studies. Thanks to Art Johnson for opening my eyes to the layers of history that can be found in the soil, for his unmatched enthusiasm for the rocks and forests of Puerto Rico and for asking me to look up from the proverbial microscope and tell him why microbes matter to a forest. He has helped me to see the world not only as a scientist, but also as a student of natural history. Thanks to Brenda Casper for welcoming me into Penn's Biology department. By including me in Ecology lab meetings, and allowing me access to her laboratory and greenhouse facilities, Brenda has made me feel part of the wonderful Penn Biology community and has supported my own work in countless ways. Brenda also had a hand to play in the graduate research fellowship that has supported me for the past three years: Thanks for giving me the honest feedback needed to make first year's research proposal much stronger. And many, many thanks to Fred Scatena. Fred was like a father to countless researchers in Luquillo; his wide-ranging interests and network facilitated an entire generation of research. He took a keen interest in my work, helping me develop a bibliography of microbial ecology studies in Puerto Rico, which I've relied on time and time again throughout grad school. Above all, he was a devoted, caring person with a genuine passion for science.

Thanks to all the faculty and staff in the Earth and Environmental Sciences and Biology departments at Penn, many of whom have helped me in very tangible ways over the years. Thanks to Doug Jerolmack for helping me to get over my lifelong aversion to coding (I actually really like coding now), to Peter Petraitis for always taking the time to sit down with me and answer my statistical questions, however simple, and to David Vann for his tireless assistance with laboratory instruments, and for sharing with me his wide-ranging knowledge about biology, geology, chemistry and everything in between. Thanks to Steve Phipps for helping a biologist to realize that rocks are actually really cool. Thanks to Dana Tobin, for taking such a keen interest in my writing, and providing me with a wealth of useful resources from unexpected places. A billion thanks to Joan and Arlene for making the logistics of everything run smoothly all the time, you guys are truly amazing.

There are many others across the country who have supported this dissertation by training me, graciously welcoming me into their labs, and providing feedback every step of the way as my work has evolved from soil into data into papers and understanding. I am especially grateful to Dr. Jinjun Kan, Laura Borecki and others at the Stroud Water Research Center. Jinjun allowed me unrestricted access to his microbiology lab for over two years, trained me and helped me through the myriad challenges that arise when one tries to study invisible organisms enmeshed in clay. He is an outstanding scientist and an incredibly generous person. Thanks to Dr. Jared DeForest at Ohio University, who also welcomed me into his lab like one of his own students. His interests in phospholipids, enzymes and microbial ecology have expanded my own knowledge and interests in many directions. And thanks to Dr. William Hockaday at Baylor University, who not only trained me and allowed to use his NMR machine, but brought me out to Baylor not once, but twice, to finish

my research.

Thanks to many fellow students in EES and beyond, both past and current, for making it a fun journey. Thanks to Vanessa Boschi and Liz Coward for all the breakfasts, coffees, and long days of companionship in the lab. Special thanks to Aurora MacRae-Crerar for sharing my love for both microbes and science outreach. Thanks to Xing Hao, Sebastian Rowland and Bei Wong for many, many long and challenging days of digging in the rainforest. Thanks to the members of the carbon collective, past and present: Wenting Feng, Anarmaa Sharkhu, John Clark, Emma Aaronson, Lee Deeitrich and Xu Bing. Thanks to Rachel Valetta, Tina Dura, Kim Litwin Miller, Brandon Hedrick, Liguo Li, Marcie Occhie, Dylan Lee, Colin Philips, Raleigh Martin and Nicole Kan for their friendship, help and advice. Thanks also to the enthusiastic undergrads who provided invaluable lab support: Catharine Haak, Lydia Ali, John Urban and David Lai.

Finally, thanks to my family for everything they have done to support me over the years. Thanks to my brother, Nicholas Stone, whose lifelong love for science and nature inspired my own, and who, against all odds, is never too busy to take an hour and discuss an off-the-wall science or science fictional idea. And to my sister, Jasmine Stone, one of the most adventurous and spirited people I know. Thanks to my parents, Eve and Peter Stone, two writers who may never have quite gotten the whole soil thing, but have nonetheless been completely supportive of all my career decisions. Thanks to my grandparents, June and Perry Ottenberg, lifelong Philadelphia residents who have welcomed me into their city and taken such an interest in my graduate education. Special thanks to a couple of lifelong friends who, near or far, have been with me every step of the way: Tracy Li, Eniko Horvath, Katie Graham and Ali Tenenbaum. Thanks to so many friends in Philadelphia–my extended family–who have made this city my home. And, finally, thanks to my partner Chris Davidson, who has been with me and believed in me every step of the way, whose own passion and talent never cease to inspire me, and without whose support I would never have made it this far.

Funding support for my graduate education was provided by an NSF Graduate Research Fellowship, the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory 1 NSF EAR 0722476 and the University of Pennsylvania Benjamin Franklin Fellowship. Travel grants were provided from the Graduate and Professional Student Assembly (GAPSA), the School of Arts and Sciences (SAS), the SAS Student Government (SASgov). Research costs were supported by the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory 1 NSF EAR 0722476, the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory 2 NSF EAR 1331841, and a grant front the A.W. Mellon Foundation to A.H. Johnson.

ABSTRACT

SOIL MICROBIAL COMMUNITIES AND SOIL ORGANIC MATTER: COMPOSITION AND ECOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS IN THE LUQUILLO CRITICAL ZONE

Madeleine M. Stone

Alain F. Plante

Tropical forest soils contain large pools of carbon, most of which is stored as soil organic matter. In spite of its significant role in the global carbon cycle, the dynamics of tropical soil organic matter, including the soil microbial communities that produce, maintain and decompose it, are poorly understood. This dissertation investigates controls on the structure and biogeochemical functions of soil microbial communities and soil organic matter, using a combination of laboratory experiments and natural gradients present at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory. First, we investigate linkages between soil enzyme activities, nutrient availability and plant roots in surface mineral soils through a greenhouse pot experiment. Three subsequent studies "dig deeper", by investigating microbial community structures and functions (carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus cycling capacity) along the upper 1.4 meters of soil profiles. Finally, we use ¹³C NMR spectroscopy to profile the chemical composition of soil organic matter across various depths, soil and forest types, coupled with additional thermal and chemical analyses to evaluate acid-treatment effects on soil organic matter composition. We find that dynamic microbial communities exist along the upper 1.4 meters of tropical soil profiles and that, on a per biomass basis, subsoil microbial communities have similar capacity to participate in carbon and nutrient mineralization as their surface counterparts. While microbial activity is strongly correlated to soil carbon concentrations and hence energy availability, soil organic matter chemistry appears to be driven by landscape scale factors as well as pit-scale factors. Because even small amounts of active soil carbon below the surface few centimeters of the soil profile could produce significant carbon fluxes over large spatial and temporal scales, models that aim to predict the future changes to the global carbon cycle should begin to consider the capacity for carbon cycling to occur throughout the deep critical zone.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
ABSTRACT
TABLE OF CONTENTS ix
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS
CHAPTER 1: Introduction
CHAPTER 2: Plant and nutrient controls on microbial functional characteristics in a trop-
ical Oxisol
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Methods
2.2.1 Site description and sample collection
2.2.2 Seedling selection and germination
2.2.3 Experimental design
2.2.4 Soil characteristics
2.2.5 Enzyme assays
2.2.6 Statistical Approaches
2.3 Results
2.3.1 Plant C, N and biomass
2.3.2 Soil Chemical Properties
2.3.3 Extracellular Enzyme Activities
2.4 Discussion
2.5 Conclusions

CHAPT	'ER 3 :	Changes in extracellular enzyme activity and microbial community struc-	
		ture with soil depth at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory	27
3.1	Introdu	action	29
3.2	Metho	ds	31
	3.2.1	Study site and sample collection	31
	3.2.2	Soil chemical analyses	32
	3.2.3	Phospholipid fatty acid analysis	33
	3.2.4	Enzyme Assays	34
	3.2.5	Statistical analyses	35
3.3	Result	S	37
	3.3.1	Effects of soil and forest types on soil C, N and P concentrations, microbial	
		biomass and enzyme activities	37
	3.3.2	Depth trends in soil C, N, P concentrations, microbial biomass and enzyme	
		activities	38
	3.3.3	Microbial community structure	39
3.4	Discus	sion	39
	3.4.1	Depth trends in enzyme activities	41
	3.4.2	Patterns in microbial community structure	44
3.5	Conclu	isions	47
СНАРТ	'ER 4 :	Parent material and vegetation influence bacterial community structure and	
		nitrogen functional genes along deep tropical soil profiles at the Luquillo	
		Critical Zone Observatory	60
4.1	Introdu	action	62
4.2	Metho	ds	64
	4.2.1	Sample set	64
	4.2.2	DNA extraction and PCR-DGGE	65
	4.2.3	Band excision and sequencing of DNA fragments	66
	4.2.4	Quantitative PCR	67

	4.2.5	Statistical analyses	67
4.3	Result	S	68
	4.3.1	Community structures with depth	68
	4.3.2	Community structures across soil and forest types	69
	4.3.3	Quantitative PCR	69
4.4	Discus	sion	70
	4.4.1	Community structure	70
	4.4.2	Nitrogen functional genes	74
4.5	Conclu	usions	77
CHAPT	ER 5 :	Changes in phosphatase kinetics with soil depth across a variable tropical	
		landscape	86
5.1	Introdu	action	88
5.2	Metho	ds	90
	5.2.1	Sample set	90
	5.2.2	Enzyme assays	90
	5.2.3	Statistical analyses	91
5.3	Result	S	92
	5.3.1	Phosphatase kinetics	92
5.4	Discus	sion	93
5.5	Conclu	usions	95
CHAPT	ER 6 :	Using ¹³ C NMR to evaluate the chemical nature of organic matter through-	
		out tropical soil profiles	101
6.1	Introdu	action	103
6.2	Metho	ds	107
	6.2.1	Sample set	107
	6.2.2	Sample pre-treatments	108
	6.2.3	Soil chemical analyses	109

	6.2.4	NMR spectroscopy	109
	6.2.5	Thermal analysis	110
	6.2.6	Statistical analyses	111
6.3	Result	S	112
	6.3.1	Mass loss, C, N, 13 C and 15 N pre and post-HF	112
	6.3.2	¹³ C NMR	113
	6.3.3	Thermal analysis	115
6.4	Discus	sion	117
	6.4.1	Acid Treatment Effects on Soil Organic Matter	117
	6.4.2	Patterns in SOM chemistry across the Luquillo Critical Zone	118
	6.4.3	Patterns in SOM chemistry with depth	121
	6.4.4	Thermal analysis of soils before and after HF	124
6.5	Conclu	isions	126
CHAPT	ER 7 :	Conclusions	140
7.1	Effects	s of plant roots and nutrients on microbial functional traits in surface soils	140
7.2	Pattern	as in soil microbial ecology and soil organic matter along depth profiles	140
7.3	Pattern	as in soil microbial ecology and soil organic matter across state factors	143
7.4	Metho	dologies	145
BIBLIO	GRAPH	ΗΥ	172
INDEX			174

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 2.1 :	Greenhouse experiment nutrient additions	19
TABLE 2.2 :	Total extractable C and N	20
TABLE 2.3 :	Extractable ammonia, nitrate and organic N	21
TABLE 3.1 :	Site descriptions	48
TABLE 3.2 :	Enzymes studied	49
TABLE 3.3 :	Soil characteristics	50
TABLE 3.4 :	Enzymes and biomass by soil depth	52
TABLE 4.1 :	Nitrogen functional genes	78
TABLE 4.2 :	Community structure and function relationships with soil variables	79
TABLE 5.1 :	Acid phosphatase kinetic parameters	97
TABLE 5.2 :	Acid phosphatase kinetic parameters regression	98
TABLE 6.1 :	Effects of HF treatment on soil C and N	127
TABLE 6.2 :	Effects of HF treatment on soil δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N	130
TABLE 6.3 :	Thermal analysis of soils before and after HF treatment	133
TABLE 6.4 :	Peak chemical shift areas for soils, plant and fungal tissues	134

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

FIGURE 2.1 :	Shoot and root biomass	22
FIGURE 2.2 :	Leaf and root C:N ratios	23
FIGURE 2.3 :	Enzyme activities by nutrient treatment	24
FIGURE 2.4 :	C and N cycle enzymes by nutrient treatment \times time	25
FIGURE 2.5 :	Ecoenzyme ratios by nutrient treatment	26
FIGURE 3.1 :	Soil nutrients with depth	54
FIGURE 3.2 :	Microbial biomass and fungal : bacterial ratios with depth	55
FIGURE 3.3 :	Total enzyme activity with depth	57
FIGURE 3.4 :	Specific enzyme activities with depth	58
FIGURE 3.5 :	Principal components analysis of PLFA biomarkers	59
FIGURE 4.1 :	DGGE fingerprinting pattern for Colorado Oxisol depth profile	80
FIGURE 4.2 :	NMDS ordination for Colorado Oxisol depth profile	81
FIGURE 4.3 :	DGGE fingerprinting pattern cross site	82
FIGURE 4.4 :	NMDS ordination cross site	83
FIGURE 4.5 :	Nitrogen functional gene relative abundances with depth	84
FIGURE 4.6 :	Nitrogen functional gene abundances with depth \times soil type	85
FIGURE 5.1 :	Acid phosphatase kinetic parameters with depth	99
FIGURE 5.2 :	Relationship between V_{max} and K_m for acid phosphatase	100
FIGURE 6.1 :	Representative 13 C NMR spectra from soil, plant and microbial tissues .	135
FIGURE 6.2 :	Principal components analysis of ¹³ C NMR data	136
FIGURE 6.3 :	$^{13}\mathrm{C}$ NMR depth profile sequence for a Colorado Inceptisol valley	137
FIGURE 6.4 :	^{13}C NMR depth profile sequence for a Colorado Oxisol slope $\ . \ . \ . \ .$	138
FIGURE 6.5 :	¹³ C NMR depth profile sequence for a Colorado Oxisol valley	139

CHAPTER 1 : Introduction

Soils are a dynamic component of the critical zone, representing an interface in which biological and geological processes drive Earth's cycles of carbon and nutrients. Soils are the largest reservoir of carbon on Earth's terrestrial surface (*Jobbagy and Jackson*, 2000), storing at least three times as much carbon as found in either the atmosphere or living plants (*Fischlin et al.*, 2007). Estimates of the amount of carbon stored in the top meter of soils worldwide range from 1,220 Petagrams (1 Pg = 1015 g, *Sombroek et al.* (1993)) to approximately 1,550 Pg (*Batjes*, 1996; *Jobbagy and Jackson*, 2000). Determining the mechanisms that govern the flow of carbon in and out of this massive reservoir is crucial not only for developing our conceptual understanding of ecosystems, but for predicting changes in ecosystem functions due to human activities, including land conversion and climate change.

Tropical forests, covering only 7-12% of Earth's land mass (*FAO*, 2001), represent a key player in terrestrial carbon biogeochemistry, containing between one third and half of the global soil carbon pool (*IPCC*, 2007; *Jobbagy and Jackson*, 2000). High temperatures and precipitation, coupled with a lack of interruption to their development during recent glacial cycles, place tropical forest soils among the deepest and most highly weathered on Earth. Unsurprisingly then, tropical forests are also large contributors to subsoil carbon stocks. Often present in minute concentrations, deep soil carbon is thought to have high potential for long-term stabilization and sequestration (*Rumpel and Kogel-Knabner*, 2011), as evidenced by radiocarbon ages on the order of thousands of years (*Rumpel et al.*, 2004; *Torn et al.*, 1997; *Trumbore*, 2000). However, tropical subsoils represent a knowledge gap in our understanding of the terrestrial carbon cycle. Compared with temperate and boreal ecosystems, a scant number of studies have investigated carbon cycling in tropical forest soils (*Balser et al.*, 2010), and most have been restricted to the upper 20-30 cm of the soil profile.

The majority of the carbon stored in soils is present as soil organic matter; a heterogeneous mixture of organic biomolecules derived from plant, microbial and animal residues. Soil organic matter influences soil structure and water-holding capacity, provides an energy source for soil biota, and

maintains a long-term nutrient pool for both soil biota and plants (*Brady and Weill*, 1996). Soil organic matter ranges in size and complexity from simple monomers or organic acids to mixtures of complex biopolymers aggregated together (*Baldock and Nelson*, 1999). In addition, the chemical structure of each component biomolecule can vary along a continuum of decomposition, ranging from unaltered structures identical to those found in precursor tissues, to highly decomposed residues bearing little resemblance to those from which they are derived (*Kelleher and Simpson*, 2006; *Piccolo*, 2001). The variable chemical nature of soil organic matter, coupled with numerous soil environmental factors that vary along a continuum (mineralogy, temperature, moisture, pH, microorganisms, etc.) makes it challenging to determine what governs the persistence of soil organic matter versus its decomposition (*Schmidt et al.*, 2011).

The complexity of soil organic matter is matched by the complexity of the microbial communities that produce, maintain and decompose it. The composition and diversity of soil microbial communities is controlled by their habitat, which consists of a matrix with pores and soil aggregates of different sizes (Balser et al., 2010; Sylvia et al., 2005). It is this environmental diversity that causes soils to be the most biologically diverse habitat on Earth, with current estimates suggesting there can be over ten thousand species of microorganisms in a single gram (Fierer and Lennon, 2011). The metabolic strategies these microorganisms employ to acquire energy and nutrients represent the biological drivers of biogeochemical processes (Plante et al., In Press). Soil microorganisms produce a suite of extracellular enzymes that decompose organic matter and mineralize nutrients (Wallenstein and Burns, 2011). They break organic matter down further within their cells using numerous oxidizing agents, including oxygen, nitrate, sulfate and carbon dioxide (Plante et al., In Press), and in doing so catalyze key soil redox transformations. A growing appreciation of the essential roles soil microorganisms play in biogeochemical cycles has led to rapid expansion of the field of soil microbial ecology, as well as the development of many new research methodologies aimed at characterizing the structures and functions of these communities (Nannipieri et al., 2003; Torsvik and Ovreas, 2002).

An emerging paradigm suggests the persistence of organic matter in soils is governed by complex

interactions between organic matter and its environment (*Schmidt et al.*, 2011). Soil organic matter cycling can best be understood as the result of a confluence of numerous factors including climate, microorganisms, mineralogy, water availability, soil acidity, redox state and compound chemistry. In other words, the persistence of soil organic matter is an emergent ecosystem property governed by a complex suite of variables operating across different spatial and temporal scales.

It is from this broad context that this dissertation was inspired to characterize soil microbial communities and soil organic matter in the El Yungue National Forest, located in the Luquillo Mountains of northeastern Puerto Rico. This region is a mosaic of wet tropical forests and rainforests growing on steep slopes across gradients in elevation, temperature and rainfall (McDowell et al., 2012; Scatena, 1989). It has been the site of extensive ecological and environmental research since the 1930's, with a large amount of infrastructure and accumulated knowledge that can facilitate the investigation of soil microbial ecology and biogeochemistry from an interdisciplinary perspective (Brown et al., 1983). Recently, the El Yunque National Forest has been included in the Critical Zone Observatory Network. Critical Zone Observatories are the subject of studies addressing the interactions of biological and geological processes at the Earth's surface (Banwart et al., 2013). The varied geology, climate, and vegetation across this landscape offer a unique opportunity to investigate state factor controls on what are often considered to be micro-scale phenomena associated with microorganisms and soil organic matter. While the primary goal of this dissertation was to provide new insights into tropical carbon cycling, recognition of the close linkage between soil carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus cycling through soil organic matter decomposition, as well as the stoichiometric constraints of soil microorganisms (Cleveland and Liptzin, 2007), resulted in the study of all three. Another major goal of this dissertation was to add to the small but growing body of knowledge on tropical subsoil organic matter and the microorganisms that inhabit this carbon and nutrient-poor environment. A recent survey of soil carbon stocks estimates an average carbon content of 22 kg m² to a depth of one meter in these forest soils, and an additional 4 kg m² of carbon stored from 100-140 cm (Johnson et al., Under Review). These are substantial carbon stocks compared with the IPCC global estimate of 12.3 kg m² C stored in the upper 1 meter of tropical forest soils (*IPCC*, 2007), and the stability of this carbon therefore warrants study. Greater characterization of the microbial ecology and carbon

chemistry of tropical subsoils and will allow scientists to better predict the vulnerability of subsoil carbon pools to de-stabilization. From this interest in subsoil processes came the recognition that many of the standard methods for studying soil microbial ecology and biogeochemistry were developed for carbon and nutrient-rich surface soils. The variety of techniques presented in this dissertation underscore an additional goal of understanding how best to measure the biogeochemical processes occurring in carbon-poor, clay-rich tropical subsoils.

Chapter 1 investigates linkages between soil enzyme activities, nutrient availability and plant roots in surface Oxisol soils through a greenhouse pot experiment. The hypothesis that root carbon could increase microbial investment in nutrient acquisition was experimentally tested. While microbial responses to nutrients support the notion that enzyme production is regulated by soil resource availability, we did not observe any additional effect of roots on extracellular enzyme activities.

Chapters 2-5 investigate microbial ecology and carbon chemistry across the natural gradients present at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory, which is composed of two dominant parent materials (sedimentary volcaniclastic and igneous quartz-diorite) and several distinct forest types that occupy different elevations and climate zones.

Chapters 2 studies changes in major carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus cycling enzymes, microbial biomass and microbial community structure along the upper 1.4 meters of soil profiles, with the goal of elucidating whether the carbon and nutrient cycling capacity of microbial communities changes with soil depth, and whether such changes are purely functional, or if they can be related to shifts in community structure. Although enzyme activities and microbial biomass decline exponentially with soil depth, high specific enzyme activities suggest subsoil microorganisms retain the metabolic capacity to participate in biogeochemical processes.

Chapter 3's primary aim was to evaluate microbial contributions to the soil nitrogen cycle with depth across the two dominant parent materials and two major forest types present in the Luquillo Critical Zone. This chapter used DNA-based molecular techniques to fingerprint community structures and examine the microbial community's capacity to conduct specific nitrogen cycle transfor-

mations throughout soil profiles. We found greater abundances and a stronger vertical stratification of nitrogen cycle functional genes in soils derived from the quartz-diorite parent material, suggesting a more dynamic N cycle in these comparably young, sandy soils.

Chapter 4 was inspired by the finding that acid-phosphatase, the primary organic phosphorusdegrading enzyme in acid soils, exhibited high activity throughout soil profiles. This chapter examined in more detail the kinetics of acid-phosphatase in soils and the scaling relationship between enzyme kinetic parameters and soil resource availability.

Chapter 5 examined soil organic matter chemistry along depth profiles and across soil and forest types at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory, with a focus on assessing whether ¹³C nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR) can be applied to low-carbon tropical subsoils to obtain an accurate representation of the chemical composition of soil organic matter. Broad differences in organic matter chemistry were observed between higher-elevation Colorado forest soils and lower-elevation Tabonuco forest soils, and patterns in organic matter chemistry with depth were evident at the level of individual soil profiles, underscoring the heterogeneity of the soil organic matter pool throughout this varied landscape.

CHAPTER 2 : Plant and nutrient controls on microbial functional characteristics in a tropical Oxisol

Previously published as:

Stone M. M., A.F. Plante, and B.B. Casper (2013), Plant and nutrient controls on microbial functional characteristics in a tropical Oxisol. *Plant and Soil, 373*, 893-905. doi:10.1007/s11104-013-1840-8

Abstract:

Extracellular enzymes mediate the decomposition of organic matter and the release of plant-available nutrients. Current theory predicts that enzyme production by soil microbes is regulated by the stoichiometric demands of microbial biomass and the complexity of environmental resources, but most experiments ignore the potential effect of alleviated carbon limitation in the rhizosphere. Our objective was to investigate linkages between enzyme activities, soil nutrient availability and plant roots in a tropical Oxisol. We conducted a greenhouse experiment using soils from the Luquillo Experimental Forest and seedlings of Tabebuia heterophylla. Planted and unplanted pots were fertilized with different combinations of phosphorus and either mineral nitrogen (ammonia chloride) or a nitrogen-rich organic compound (casein). We measured changes in plant and soil nutrients and five extracellular enzyme activities. Phosphatase activity declined by 28% in the P and 40% in the complex nitrogen treatment, while N-acetyl glucosaminidase increased 162% in the complex nitrogen treatment. Beta-glucosidase, beta-xylosidase, cellobiohydrolase and N-acetyl glucosaminidase all increased significantly over time in the simple nitrogen treatment (P<0.05). Enzymatic responses support microbial resource allocation theory, that is, the concept that soil microbes regulate enzyme production based on scarcity of resources. However, we did not observe any additional effect of roots on extracellular enzyme activities. Enzymatic C:N, C:P and N:P ratios further support the notion that shifts in microbial stoichiometric demand drive responses to nutrients.

2.1. Introduction

Soil microbial communities produce extracellular enzymes that mediate the decomposition of organic matter and the release of assimilable nutrients such as carbon (C), nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P, *Wallenstein and Burns* (2011)). Resource allocation theory, which predicts that enzyme synthesis increases in response to limiting nutrients and declines when nutrients are abundant (*Sinsabaugh and Moorhead*, 1994; *Allison et al.*, 2011) can be invoked to describe enzyme production. However, enzyme production itself can be constrained by nutrient availability, particularly C and N (*Schimel and Weintraub*, 2003). In accordance with resource allocation theory, *Allison and Vitousek* (2005) demonstrated that microbes increase production of N-acquiring enzymes in response to complex, organic N additions when labile C is also present. In contrast, simple mineral N additions led to declines in the activity of N-acquiring enzymes (*Allison and Vitousek*, 2005).

In surface soils, the resource allocation framework of enzyme production is complicated by plant roots exuding labile C compounds into their rhizospheres, thus potentially alleviating microbial C limitation (*Kuzyakov*, 2002). *Averill and Finzi* (2011) found that in a temperate forest, complex N additions enhance the production of N-degrading enzymatic activity only in the presence of roots. They proposed that C limitation is alleviated due to root exudates, thus allowing microbes to increase resource investment in N-acquiring enzymes. However, most studies of extracellular enzyme responses to nutrients have been conducted under laboratory conditions excluding roots, and the generality of these findings for ecosystems other than temperate forests remains to be tested. In low-nutrient status soils such as highly weathered, tropical Oxisols, nutrients cycle rapidly between plants and soils, suggesting that roots may exert a particularly strong influence on nutrient retention in such systems (*Anderson and Swift*, 1983; *Vitousek and Sanford*, 1986; *Templer et al.*, 2008). To date, few studies have examined the influence of roots on extracellular enzyme synthesis and microbial nutrient responses in tropical soils.

The first objective of this study was to test the resource allocation theory of microbial enzyme production in highly weathered, tropical Oxisol soils from the Luquillo Experimental Forest. We chose N as the focal nutrient for this study because of its relevance in a global change context. N

deposition is increasing rapidly in tropical regions (*Galloway et al.*, 2004), and its impact on soil microbial communities remains uncertain. We investigated how specific extracellular hydrolytic enzymes that target key reservoirs of C, N and P respond to simple and complex forms of N, with the hypothesis that simple N would repress N-acquiring enzyme activity and exacerbate microbial C-limitation, while complex N would lead to increased microbial production of N-acquiring enzymes (*Allison and Vitousek*, 2005). We predicted that we would observe microbial enzymatic responses to N in spite of the widespread notion that tropical forests are N rich or N saturated (*Brookshire et al.*, 2012) because previous long-term N addition studies in the Luquillo Forest have shown that microbial communities at this site are sensitive to added N (*Cusack et al.*, 2011).

The second objective was to evaluate whether plant roots mediate microbial enzymatic responses to simple or complex nutrients, with the hypothesis that plant root-derived labile C could alleviate microbial C limitation and, therefore, enhance enzymatic synthesis. Since plant C allocation is itself sensitive to nutrient availability (*Giardina et al.*, 2003), we predicted that simple N additions would decrease plant belowground production. By contrast, we predicted that plants would invest more C belowground (either in root biomass, exudates or both) in response to complex N that requires microbial degradation to become plant-available.

2.2. Methods

2.2.1. Site description and sample collection

This study was conducted using soils collected from the Bisley I and II watersheds in the Luquillo Experimental Forest of Puerto Rico ($18^{\circ}18'$ N, $65^{\circ}50'$ W). The Bisley watershed forests are characterized as in the subtropical wet forest life zone, receiving approximately 3500 mm of mean annual precipitation. Elevations within the watersheds range between 260 and 400 m above sea level, and the landscape is characterized by steep, highly dissected terrain covered by mature Tabonuco (*Dacroydes excesla*) forest (*Scatena and Lugo*, 1995). Soils in the Bisley watersheds are classified as fine textured, kaolinitic, Aquic and Inceptic Hapludoxes (Soil Survey staff, 2013). Eight 10×10 m plots were constructed at randomly selected locations across both watersheds to capture as

much edaphic variation as possible. A-horizon soil was collected from each plot to a depth of 10 cm using a 5-cm diameter soil corer. Forty soil cores from each plot were combined and sieved to 5 mm to homogenize. These homogeneous plots were considered replicate blocks in the subsequent greenhouse experiment. The composited soil from each block was mixed with sterile (autoclaved) sand in 2:1 (dry mass soil : dry sand) ratio to improve drainage in greenhouse pots.

2.2.2. Seedling selection and germination

Tabebuia heterophylla, a native Puerto Rican early-successional tree, was chosen for this experiment for several reasons: its fast growth rate, early development of a complex root system, and ability to grow on nutrient-poor or degraded soils (USDA Forest Service, 2012). Rapid growth rates permitted us to conduct a nutrient manipulation experiment in a timely manner, while the early development of a complex root system was desirable as we were aiming to detect effects of root carbon on microbial activity. Since nutrient-rich O-horizon soils were not sampled, we desired a species that could grow effectively on relatively nutrient-poor soils. Seeds were sterilized by soaking in 70% ethanol for ~10 minutes, then germinated in sterilized sand and watered regularly with distilled water. Seedlings were transplanted into pots after 2-3 weeks and left for an additional four weeks prior to the initiation of nutrient treatments to ensure that the root system had recuperated from transplanting.

2.2.3. Experimental design

Soil from each replicate block (i.e., soil taken from the same field plot) was partitioned into 24 polypropylene pots, which were placed in a greenhouse where temperature and humidity conditions were kept constant. Nutrient and planting treatments were randomized among pots within each soil block to minimize effects of spatial variation in temperature, light or moisture availability. Soil was watered regularly with distilled water to maintain field moisture conditions. For each soil block, half of the pots were planted with *T. heterophylla* and half were left unplanted. Within each of these groups, pots were split into four different nutrient treatments: control, P, simple N+P and complex N+P. Sodium phosphate (Na₂PO₄) was used as a source of P, and ammonia chloride (NH₄Cl) was

used as a source of simple N. Casein protein, the source of complex N, requires specific enzymes for its degradation and has a low C:N ratio, thus minimizing the effects of added C on microbial communities. Nutrients were applied in 30 ml solutions every other week. Control pots received 30 ml of deionized water. N and P were added at rates of 1.6 mg N g⁻¹ and 320 μ g P g⁻¹ dry soil (Table 2.1). The amount of N added was intended to increase soil N concentrations substantially (background N concentrations of 5-8 mg g⁻¹ dry soil determined prior to experiment), while the amount of P added was intended to match the stoichiometric demands of microbial biomass and prevent microbial P-limitation (*Allison and Vitousek*, 2005).

Pots were harvested at 3, 6 and 9 weeks following the start of nutrient applications to measure effects of nutrients and plants over time. Seedlings were carefully excavated and separated into roots and shoots. To obtain rhizosphere soil, roots were shaken gently to remove any non-adhering soil; any that remained attached to roots was considered rhizosphere soil. Rhizosphere soil and bulk soil were collected from each planted pot, and bulk soil was collected from each unplanted pot.

Aliquots of these soil samples were frozen at -20 °C for subsequent enzyme assays. Separate aliquots were air-dried for chemical analyses. Due to the limited amount of rhizosphere soil collected, only microbial enzyme assays were performed on rhizosphere soils, while chemical analyses were performed on bulk soil taken from the same planted pots. Enzyme assays and chemical analyses were also performed on bulk soil from unplanted pots. Roots and shoots (consisting of stems and leaves) were washed carefully, weighed, dried and ground for C & N analysis.

2.2.4. Soil characteristics

To determine how nutrient applications influenced soil C and N availability, extractable C and N were measured by shaking 5 g of field-moist soil with 40 ml of 0.5 M K₂SO₄ buffer for 4 hours. The soil slurries were then filtered through Whatman #1 filter paper and extracts were kept frozen at -20 $^{\circ}$ C until total C and N levels were measured on a Shimadzu TOC-Vcsh TOC analyzer. Ammonia (NH₄⁺) and nitrate (NO₃⁻) levels were also measured on a subset of the extracts using the Hach Ammonia and Nitrate low-range testing kits and a Hach spectrophotometer. Organic nitrogen was

determined as the difference between total extractable N and ammonia + nitrate.

2.2.5. Enzyme assays

Total potential activities of three C-degrading enzymes (beta-glucosidase, beta-xylosidase, cellobiohydrolase), one organic N-degrading enzyme (N-acetyl glucosaminidase) and one organic P-degrading enzyme (acid phosphatase) were measured according to the fluorimetric protocol of Saiya-Cork et al. (2002) with modifications by German et al. (2011). Briefly, 1 gram of field-moist soil was homogenized in 125 ml of pH 5 sodium acetate buffer using a hand blender. Then, 200 μ l of this homogenate was added to 8 replicate wells in a 96 well microplate. This was repeated 5 times per microplate for each of the enzyme assays performed. Next, 50 µl of fluorescent substrate proxies specific to each enzyme were added to the assay wells in optimal concentrations for measuring total potential activity (optimal concentrations determined prior to experiment). Assays were run with two standard columns containing soil homogenate and methylumbelliferone (MUB). Each assay microplate also contained substrate blank columns receiving 50 µl of substrate and 200 µl of sodium acetate buffer. Soil homogenate blanks were also measured simultaneously. Plates were incubated at 25 °C for 4 hours (optimal duration of assay determined prior to experiment). After incubation, 10 µl of 1 M NaOH was added to each well to terminate enzyme activity. Following reaction termination, fluorescence was measured using a fluorometer set at 365 nm excitation and 450 nm emission. From fluorescence values, enzyme activity was calculated as the rate of substrate converted in nmol g⁻¹ dry soil h⁻¹ (German et al., 2011). We also calculated ratios of C:N, C:P and N:P acquiring enzyme activity to evaluate relative changes in microbial allocation to C, N and P resources sensu Sinsabaugh et al. (2008). We operationally defined total C-acquiring enzyme activity as the sum of beta glucosidase, beta xylosidase and cellobiohydrolase activities. We used N-acetyl glucosaminidase and acid phosphatase to represent N and P acquiring enzyme activity, respectively. For statistical analyses, C:N and C:P ratios were square-root transformed and the N:P ratio was log-transformed to achieve a normal distribution.

2.2.6. Statistical Approaches

Statistical analyses were performed using JMP v.10 (SAS Institute, 2012). Three separate ANOVA models were used to analyze the soil enzyme data, soil nutrient data, and plant data. The effects of collection block, nutrient treatment, plant presence (referred to as "planting"), time of harvest, and their interactions on soil enzyme activities and enzyme activity ratios were examined using a mixed-effects ANOVA and employing the restricted maximum likelihood (REML) approach. In this analysis, samples were either from rhizosphere soil or bulk soil from an unplanted pot. Nutrient treatment, time and planting were treated as fixed effects, and block was treated as a random effect. A separate ANOVA of the same structure was performed on extractable C and N data, where the planting treatment referred to whether bulk soil was from a planted or an unplanted pot rather than bulk unplanted soil versus rhizosphere soil. Finally, an ANOVA was performed to examine the effects of site, nutrient treatment and time on biomass and C and N content of leaf and root tissue. Tukey's HSD post-hoc test was used to evaluate how variables responded to the different treatments.

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Plant C, N and biomass

By 9 weeks, most plants in the simple N+P treatment had died, likely as a result of stress induced by high ionic strength in the soil matrix from the repeated addition of mineral fertilizer. All pots with plants in this combination of nutrient treatment were, therefore, excluded from statistical analyses. Aboveground and belowground plant biomass otherwise increased significantly over time (P < 0.001). P-treated plants had significantly greater root biomass than controls (Figure 2.1b), particularly at 9 weeks (P < 0.02 for time × nutrient interaction), while simple N+P treated plants exhibited the lowest root biomass of any treatment, though this treatment was not statistically different from controls. Complex N+P additions significantly increased aboveground plant biomass (Figure 2.1a), particularly at 9 weeks, where mean shoot biomass in the complex N+P treatment was more than $4 \times$ greater than mean shoot biomass for either control or P-fertilized plants (P < 0.001 for time × treatment effect). Shoot and root C:N ratios declined significantly in both N-fertilized treatments

and in P-treated plants relative to controls (Figure 2.2a-b, P < 0.001).

2.3.2. Soil Chemical Properties

Total extractable soil C increased significantly over time (Table 2.2) and was significantly greater in unplanted compared to planted soils (P < 0.01 for both time and planting effects). Complex N+P additions roughly doubled extractable C compared with all other treatments. This effect was most pronounced in unplanted soils receiving complex N+P.

Total extractable soil N increased significantly over time, driven by the accumulation of extractable N in the simple N+P and complex N+P treatments (Table 2.2, P < 0.001 for time × treatment effect). Tukey's HSD test revealed that soils given simple N+P exhibited the largest levels of extractable N, while soils given complex N+P exhibited significantly greater levels of extractable N than controls or soils given P only (P < 0.001). Ammonium concentrations were significantly greater in N addition treatments relative to controls (P < 0.005) while nitrate concentrations increased in the complex N+P treatment, though the effect was not statistically significant (P = 0.09). Soil organic N increased significantly over time, driven primarily by a statistically significant increase in organic N in the simple N+P treatment relative to controls, particularly at 6 and 9 weeks (P < 0.05 for time and treatment effects).

2.3.3. Extracellular Enzyme Activities

There were no significant overall effects of planting (i.e., no significant differences between bulk and rhizosphere soils) for any enzyme activities. However, phosphatase activity declined in planted soils relative to unplanted soils at 3 weeks, though this effect was not apparent at 6 or 9 weeks (Tukey's HSD, P < 0.001). Cellobiohydrolase activity was significantly greater in planted soils at 6 weeks (Tukey's HSD, P < 0.001).

For all enzymes except beta-glucosidase, there was a significant main effect of nutrient addition on enzyme activity (P < 0.05 for all significant nutrient effects), mostly reflecting a reduction in enzyme activity with nutrient addition. Phosphatase activity was reduced by 28% in the P and 40% in the

complex N+P treatments compared to control soils (Figure 2.3a, Tukey's HSD, P < 0.001). Betaxylosidase activity was reduced in the complex N+P treatment compared with all other treatments (Figure 2.3c, Tukey's HSD, P < 0.001), and cellobiohydrolase activity was significantly reduced in the complex N+P treatment compared with the simple N+P treatment (Figure 2.3d, Tukey's HSD, P = 0.02). In contrast to the C-degrading enzymes, *N*-acetyl glucosaminidase activity increased 162% in in the complex N+P treatment (Figure 2.3e, P < 0.001).

Several enzyme activities displayed significant time \times nutrient interaction effects. Specifically, Tukey's HSD test revealed that for all three C-degrading enzymes and *N*-acetyl glucosaminidase, activity increased over time in simple N+P treatment relative to controls. At 9 weeks, simple N+P treated soils exhibited 52% greater beta glucosidase activity, 50% greater beta xylosidase activity, 82% greater cellobiohydrolase activity, and 86% greater *N*-acetyl glucosaminidase activity compared with control soils (Figure 2.4 a-d).

Enzyme C:N, C:P and N:P ratios were all significantly affected by nutrient treatment. The C:N enzyme ratio was significantly lower in the complex N+P treatment compared with all other soils (Tukey's HSD, P < 0.001) and highest in the P treatment, which differed significantly from both N treatments (Figure 2.5, Tukey's HSD, P = 0.03). By contrast, both the C:P and N:P enzyme activity ratios were highest in the complex N+P treatment, followed by the P and simple N+P treatments (Figure 2.5, Tukey's HSD, P < 0.01).

2.4. Discussion

For all enzymes measured, we found support for resource allocation theory as applied to soil microbes. The decline in phosphatase activity with P additions is consistent with previous studies that P additions suppressed phosphatase activity (*Clarholm*, 1993; *Olander and Vitousek*, 2000). In our experiment, the likely cause is an increase in P availability relative to N availability, which increased microbial N demand relative to P. The shift toward higher N:P enzyme ratios with added P speaks to a shift in microbial resource allocation. In the complex N+P treatment, one might expect that increased N availability would maintain high microbial P demand and phosphatase activity. However,

complex forms of N require enzymatic degradation, while the supplemented P was in a labile form. It is, therefore, likely that P availability increased faster than N availability in this treatment, thus increasing microbial N demand more than P. This increased N demand was potentially alleviated over time as N availability increased. In the simple N+P treatment, extractable N accumulated rapidly in the soil, and phosphatase activity remained high, indicating that additions of labile N maintained microbial P demand. That the simple N treatment also contained excess P may explain why phosphatase activity did not, in fact, increase relative to control soils; by providing soil microbes with these two nutrients in immediately assimilable forms, we may have avoided inducing P-limitation.

The three C-degrading enzymes measured in this study (beta glucosidase, beta xylosidase and cellobiohydrolase) all behaved similarly in response to nutrients, increasing over time in response to simple N+P. High N availability, as indicated by high extractable N in this treatment, may have led to greater incorporation of N into microbial biomass, thus leading to the observed increase in organic N. Greater microbial biomass production can exacerbate microbial C-limitation, leading to the production of more C-acquiring enzymes, as has been observed in deciduous forests (*Waldrop et al.*, 2004; *Sinsabaugh et al.*, 2005) and grasslands (*Henry et al.*, 2005). In the complex N treatment, reduced beta xylosidase and cellobiohydrolase activity coupled with decreased C:N enzyme ratios suggests microbial allocation towards increased N acquisition and decreased C acquisition. However, given that our complex N treatment also contained added C, it is possible that declines in beta xylosidase and cellobiohydrolase activity in this treatment represent a shift towards acquisition of the added protein substrate that is independent of changes in microbial stoichiometric demand.

The one N-acquiring enzyme measured in this study (*N*-acetyl glucosaminidase) also responded to nutrient additions in a manner consistent with microbial resource allocation theory. The large increase in *N*-acetyl glucosaminidase activity in the complex N+P treatment suggests this enzyme's production was strongly induced in response to complex N. The decline in C:N and increase in N:P enzyme ratios support the notion of a shift towards N-acetyl glucosamine residues from oligosaccharides (*German et al.*, 2011). While *N*-acetyl glucosaminidase is considered functionally

important in soils as a chitin or peptidoglycan-degrading enzyme, it is also involved in the deglycosylation of some proteins (*Stals et al.*, 2010). Our finding that this common soil enzyme appears inducible by intermediate degradation products that signal substrate availability is consistent with our understanding of microbial physiology (*Priest*, 1977) and with previous nutrient manipulation experiments in soils (*Allison and Vitousek*, 2005; *Averill and Finzi*, 2011). It should also be noted that the increase in *N*-acetyl glucosaminidase activity over time in the simple N+P treatment may speak to the dual role of this enzyme as a C and N-acquiring enzyme. All sources of organic N also contain C, and chitin, as the second most abundant biopolymer on earth (*Jolles and Muzzarelli*, 1999), is considered both an important C and N source for microorganisms.

The second objective of this study was to evaluate the role of roots in mediating enzymatic responses to nutrients. We hypothesized that in the complex N treatment, root-derived C in the form of increased root biomass or exudates would alleviate microbial C limitation and lead to greater enzyme activity, while additions of simple N would have the reverse effect. We found support for the first part of this hypothesis, in that mean root biomass in the complex N+P treatment was greater than controls and mean root biomass in the simple N+P treatment was less than controls. The fact that the largest increase in root biomass occurred in the P-only treatment may speak to the fact that P is a more limiting nutrient than N in these soils, as has been widely observed across tropical forests (Vitousek et al., 2010). Additionally, the large increase in shoot biomass in the complex N relative to all other treatments suggests that seedling growth was substantially enhanced by microbial degradation of organic N. However, these shifting allocation patterns in plants did not appear to influence microbial enzyme activity very strongly in most cases, and in no instances did we find the anticipated planting × nutrient effect in response to complex N. There are several potential explanations for the lack of a strong effect of roots on enzyme activities. Firstly, our hypothesis that enzyme activity would be enhanced in the presence of roots is premised on the assumption that microbial biomass is C-limited, however, microbial biomass is often found to be P limited (Cleveland and Liptzin, 2007), particularly in tropical soils (Cleveland and Townsend, 2006). If microbial biomass were N or P limited, microbial responses to root-derived C additions would be constrained by N or P availability, as demonstrated in recent modeling studies (Drake et al., 2013) and in studies testing

nutrient co-limitation of microbial activity (e.g., *Vance and Chapin* (2001); *Brown et al.* (2009); *Krashevska et al.* (2010)). In our simple N treatment, increases in C-acquiring enzyme activity over time indicate a shift towards microbial C-limitation, however, we were unable to determine whether roots had a positive effect on enzyme activities following repeated mineral N additions due to the death of most seedlings by the end of this treatment. Another possibility suggested by seedling death in the simple N treatment is that our N addition rate was high compared to *T. heterophylla* N requirements and that root priming effects were consequently reduced in N treatments. This is also consistent with the fact that we did not observe significant differences in extractable N between planted and unplanted soils, despite the increased incorporation of N into plant biomass as evidenced by the dramatically lower root and shoot C:N ratios in the N treatments compared with controls. Additionally, our sterilization of *T. heterophylla* seeds and subsequent germination under sterile conditions could have decreased mycorrhizal fungal colonization, which can substantially affect plant allocation patterns (*Rygiewicz and Andersen*, 1994). Finally, in the complex N treatment microbes may not have had to rely heavily on root exudates as a source of labile C due to the fact that casein also contains C that can be released through enzymatic degradation.

We recognize that a lack of microbial biomass measurements limits our interpretations with respect to microbial resource stoichiometry. Changes in enzyme activities can represent both shifts in total activity and shifts in activity per unit microbial biomass (specific activity), and differences in total enzyme activity can therefore be confounded with differences in the size of the microbial population. For instance, additions of mineral N fertilizer are often found to reduce microbial biomass (*Compton et al.*, 2004; *Treseder*, 2008; *Wallenstein et al.*, 2006), and reductions in enzyme activity in N-amended soils may therefore represent a decline in the size of the microbial biomass rather than a shift in resource allocation. Examining ratios of C:N, C:P and N:P acquiring enzyme activity provided us with an alterative method for evaluating nutrient demand in the absence of biomass data. However, enzymatic C:N:P ratios are generally found to converge on 1:1:1, suggesting that the plasticity of these ratios is relatively constrained (*Sinsabaugh et al.*, 2008, 2009). We also acknowledge limitations associated with extrapolating from laboratory enzyme assays, which can provide an index of potential enzyme activity, to activity *in situ*, which can be hindered by diffusion

limitation, enzyme-mineral interactions, variable substrate concentrations and other physical and chemical properties of the soil matrix (*Wallenstein and Weintraub*, 2008; *German et al.*, 2011).

Although the changes in enzyme activities we observed are consistent with resource allocation theory, there are alternative interpretations to our results that speak to the complexity of the interactions both within soil microbial communities and with their environment. Microbial community structure often shifts in response to nutrients (e.g., *Frey et al.* (2004); *Allison et al.* (2007); *Allison and Martiny* (2008); *Nemergut et al.* (2008)). Changes in community structure can occur due to changes in the relative fitness of various microorganisms under altered nutrient regimes (*Fierer and Jackson*, 2006; *Allison et al.*, 2007; *Fierer et al.*, 2007), leading to selection for organisms that can better exploit available resources. Such community shifts could alter the types of and abundances of enzyme producers. Shifts in bacterial:fungal ratios, which are often observed in N-addition studies, can alter the stoichiometry of the microbial biomass, which in turn can affect resource demand as well as the types of enzymes produced. N additions can also directly inhibit the production of some enzymes by soil fungi (*Fog*, 1988; *Carreiro et al.*, 2000; *Saiya-Cork et al.*, 2002).

2.5. Conclusions

In this study, we found that specific nutrient acquiring enzyme activities can be induced by the presence of a complex substrate, repressed in response to a labile degradation product, or induced in response to a shift in the availability of co-limiting nutrients. Although we observed shifts in plant C allocation (as measured by root biomass) and increased N-uptake by plants in both N addition treatments, we did not observe an effect of belowground C investment on soil enzyme activities in the complex N+P treatment. Increased aboveground plant biomass in the complex N+P treatment, decreased extractable soil C in planted soils, and the lack of a statistically significant increase in soil organic N in the complex N+P treatment suggest that in our experiment, plants may have been effective competitors for N released through microbial enzymatic degradation. Future studies using new methods of measuring soluble root exudates, microbial RNA transcripts and proteomics will shed more light on plant-soil interactions and the link between microbial community structure and function.

Table 2.1: Nutrients added, chemical forms and rates of nutrient addition. All nutrients were added bi-monthly for 9 weeks as 30 ml solutions.

Treatment	Chemical form	Rate of Addition
		(g ⁻¹ dry soil)
Control	none	none
Р	Na ₂ PO ₄	320 µg P
Simple N +P	$NH_4Cl + Na_2PO_4$	$1.6 \text{ mg N} + 320 \mu \text{g P}$
Complex N +P	Casein + Na_2PO_4	$1.6 \text{ mg N} + 320 \mu \text{g P}$

Table 2.2: Total extractable C and N by nutrient and planting treatments over time. Values are expressed in mg C or N g^{-1} dry soil. Values in bold are statistically different from unplanted control soils within their given time interval. n = 8 for all time × nutrient × planting combinations, except for 9 week unplanted controls (n = 4) and 9 week unplanted + P (n = 5).

Week	Treatment	C-extract.	C-extract.	N-extract.	N-extract.
		Planted	Unplanted	Planted	Unplanted
3	Control	0.81±0.10	0.87 ± 0.13	0.64 ± 0.33	0.34 ± 0.04
3	Р	0.88 ± 0.14	0.93 ± 0.15	0.67 ± 0.40	0.42 ± 0.13
3	Simple N+P	1.05 ± 0.27	0.94 ± 0.12	$\textbf{3.52} \pm \textbf{0.34}$	$\textbf{3.33} \pm \textbf{0.57}$
3	Complex N+P	$\textbf{1.93} \pm \textbf{0.37}$	$\textbf{2.90} \pm \textbf{0.50}$	$\textbf{2.19} \pm \textbf{0.34}$	$\textbf{2.73} \pm \textbf{0.57}$
6	Control	0.77 ± 0.06	0.85 ± 0.08	0.46 ± 0.03	0.45 ± 0.06
6	Р	0.93 ± 0.08	0.91 ± 0.08	0.46 ± 0.02	0.80 ± 0.30
6	Simple N+P	0.93 ± 0.07	0.72 ± 0.05	7.39 ± 0.67	5.95 ± 0.52
6	Complex N+P	1.22 ± 0.14	1.36 ± 0.14	$\textbf{2.92} \pm \textbf{0.29}$	$\textbf{3.60} \pm \textbf{0.43}$
9	Control	1.39 ± 0.25	1.95 ± 0.24	0.53 ± 0.06	0.69 ± 0.09
9	Р	1.62 ± 0.26	1.97 ± 0.25	1.47 ± 0.77	0.92 ± 0.21
9	Simple N+P	1.70 ± 0.24	1.53 ± 0.21	$\textbf{6.42} \pm \textbf{0.28}$	6.29 ± 0.24
9	Complex N+P	1.86 ± 0.20	$\textbf{3.42} \pm \textbf{0.43}$	4.00 ± 0.30	4.43 ± 0.32

	×	
ac'	nt	
Z	ITie	
gm	nu	
Ш.	×	
ed	me	
ess	l ti	
(pr	. al	
G	foi	
are	3	
les	n n	
/alı	al.	
	erv	
me	inte	
т Ц	ne	
ove	Ē	
nte	ven	
me	. <u>5</u>	
eat	leir	
Ť.	1 th	
ting	thir	
lant	WI	
l pl	ils	
anc	l so	
nt	trol	
trie	on	
nu	g	
by	inte	
su	pla	
utio	un	
ntra	om	
cer	fre	
con	ent	
ž	ffer	
ic.	dij	
gan	lly	
org	ica	
pu	tist	
ea	sta	
trat	are	
ni	ld	
iia,	bo	ons
nor	ш.	nati
nm	ues	ıbir
A	Valı	mo
2.3:		с 60
le	soi	ıtin
[ab]	l ry	olan
	0	4

Week	Treatment	Ammonia	Ammonia	Nitrate	Nitrate	Organic N	Organic N
		Planted	Unplanted	Planted	Unplanted	Planted	Unplanted
e	Control	0.73 ± 0.63	0.10 ± 0.00	0.04 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.03	0.30 ± 0.12	0.20 ± 0.06
ю	Р	0.80 ± 0.70	0.1 ± 0.00	0.03 ± 0.02	0.03 ± 0.01	0.37 ± 0.22	0.17 ± 0.07
б	Simple N+P	2.43 ± 0.55	1.77 ± 0.85	0.03 ± 0.00	0.04 ± 0.00	1.30 ± 0.15	0.93 ± 0.43
ю	Complex N+P	1.60 ± 0.38	1.77 ± 0.84	0.02 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01	0.93 ± 0.29	1.20 ± 0.55
9	Control	0.10 ± 0.00	0.07 ± 0.03	0.01 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.01	0.33 ± 0.03	0.20 ± 0.06
9	Р	0.01 ± 0.00	0.10 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.33 ± 0.03	0.37 ± 0.07
9	Simple N+P	1.87 ± 0.09	2.10 ± 0.26	0.02 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.00	4.40 ± 0.70	4.80 ± 0.87
9	Complex N+P	0.83 ± 0.22	1.07 ± 0.13	0.11 ± 0.08	0.01 ± 0.01	1.83 ± 0.43	2.77 ± 0.33
6	Control	0.07 ± 0.03	0.07 ± 0.03	0.03 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.00	1.87 ± 1.38	2.00 ± 1.31
6	Р	0.73 ± 0.63	0.07 ± 0.03	0.02 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.00	1.57 ± 1.12	1.60 ± 0.87
6	Simple N+P	1.43 ± 0.07	1.57 ± 0.03	0.02 ± 0.02	0.02 ± 0.01	5.10 ± 0.71	3.77 ± 1.73
6	Complex N+P	1.40 ± 0.00	1.30 ± 0.20	0.21 ± 0.12	0.02 ± 0.01	3.00 ± 0.30	3.33 ± 1.04



Figure 2.1: Mean a) shoot and b) root biomass across nutrient treatments. These values are averaged for all time intervals to highlight treatment effects. Bars that do not share a letter are statistically different (Tukey's HSD, P < 0.05).


Figure 2.2: Mean a) leaf and b) root C:N ratios across nutrient treatments. These values are averaged for all time intervals to highlight treatment effects. Bars that do not share a letter are statistically different (Tukey's HSD, P < 0.05).



Figure 2.3: Enzyme activities across nutrient treatments for five hydrolytic enzymes studied: a) acid phosphatase (AP), b) beta-glucosidase (BG), c) beta-xylosidase (BX), d) cellobiohydrolase (CBH), e) *N*-acetyl glucosaminidase (NAG). Activity values are expressed in nanomoles $h^{-1} g^{-1}$ dry soil. Values with different letters are statistically different (Tukey's HSD, P < 0.05). N values per treatment are as follows: control = 43, P = 44, simple N+P = 47, complex N+P = 47.



Figure 2.4: C and N-degrading enzyme activities by nutrient treatment over time. Stars indicate treatments that are significantly different from control soils at the given time interval (Tukey's HSD, P < 0.05).



Figure 2.5: Enzyme activity C:N, C:P and N:P ratios by nutrient treatment. Box ranges represent the upper and lower quartile bounds of the data, while whiskers extend to the most extreme data point that is no more than 1.5 times the interquartile range for the box. Groups that are not connected by the same letter are significantly different (Tukey's HSD, P < 0.05).

CHAPTER 3 : Changes in extracellular enzyme activity and microbial community structure with soil depth at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory

Modified from paper previously published as:

Stone M. M., J.L. DeForest, and A.F. Plante (2014), Changes in extracellular enzyme activity and microbial community structure with soil depth at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *75*, 237-247. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2014.04.017.

Abstract:

Extracellular enzymes in soils mediate the decomposition of organic matter and catalyze key transformations in carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus cycling. However, most studies of extracellular enzyme activity have focused exclusively on relatively carbon and nutrient-rich surface soils. In tropical forests, several centimeters of nutrient-rich surface soil can overlay meters of resourcepoor subsoil, of which the microbial ecology is poorly characterized. The goal of this study was to determine how extracellular enzyme activity changes as a function of depth across two soil orders (Oxisols and Inceptisols) and two forest types that occur at different elevations (Tabonuco, lower elevation; Colorado, higher elevation) at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory in northeast Puerto Rico. We excavated three soil pits to 140 cm at four different sites representing the four soil \times forest combinations, and measured potential activities of four carbon-acquiring enzymes (α -glucosidase, β -glucosidase, β -xylosidase, cellobiohydrolase), one nitrogen-acquiring enzyme (N-acetyl glucosaminidase) and one organic phosphorus-acquiring enzyme (acid phosphatase) at six discrete depth intervals. We used phospholipid fatty acid (PLFA) analysis to assess viable microbial biomass and community structure. Overall, microbial biomass, specific enzyme activities and community structure were similar across the two soil and forest types, in spite of higher carbon concentrations and C:N ratios in the Colorado forest soil. Soil nutrients, microbial biomass and potential enzyme activities all declined exponentially with depth. However, when normalized to

microbial biomass, specific enzyme activities either did not change with depth (β -glucosidase, β xylosidase, cellobiohydrolase and *N*-acetyl glucosaminidase) or increased significantly with depth (α -glucosidase and acid phosphatase, P < 0.05). Principal components analysis of PLFA biomarkers revealed shifts in community structure with depth (P < 0.01), driven largely by a decline in fungal:bacterial ratios, an increase in gram positive and actinobacteria biomarkers, and a decrease in gram negative biomarkers. Shifts in community structure, upregulation of enzyme production in response to resource scarcity and decreased enzyme turnover rates may all contribute to high specific enzyme activities in subsoils. Our study indicates that low-carbon tropical subsoils contain small but metabolically active microbial communities, and that specific enzyme activities can be used to examine changes in microbial physiology across orders of magnitude gradients in soil carbon concentrations.

3.1. Introduction

Microbial communities in soils produce extracellular enzymes to acquire energy and resources from complex biomolecules in the soil environment (*Burns*, 1982). These enzymes are of interest on an ecosystem scale because they catalyze important transformations in the carbon (C), nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) cycles (*Wallenstein and Burns*, 2011). However, most studies of microbial communities and their associated enzymes have been restricted to the upper 15 cm of the soil, despite the fact that soil microbes influence biogeochemical processes throughout soil profiles (*Blume et al.*, 2002; *Buss et al.*, 2005; *Fierer et al.*, 2003a). Tropical forest soils are often many meters deep and tropical subsoils store large amounts of C, contributing approximately 50% of the C stored at depths >1 meter (*Jobbagy and Jackson*, 2000). It is thus reasonable to predict microbial communities may contribute to nutrient cycling in deeper parts of tropical soil profiles than have historically been measured.

Numerous soil properties can influence microbial communities, including carbon availability and composition (*Bending et al.*, 2002; *Griffiths et al.*, 1999), pH (*Rousk et al.*, 2010), temperature (*Zogg et al.*, 1997), redox status (*DeAngelis et al.*, 2010), texture (*Sessitsch et al.*, 2001), and mineralogy (*Heckman et al.*, 2009). All of these properties can change with depth, some by orders of magnitude. The environmental gradient represented by depth profiles influences the abundance, composition and functions of soil microbial communities. For example, microbial biomass and substrate pools generally decline with soil depth (*Blume et al.*, 2002; *Fang and Moncrieff*, 2005; *Fierer et al.*, 2003a; *Kramer et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, microbial community structure often changes with depth (*Eilers et al.*, 2012; *Ekelund et al.*, 2001; *Hansel et al.*, 2008; *Hartmann et al.*, 2009), possibly reflecting an increasing dominance of organisms that can maintain basal metabolism under conditions of low energy availability (*Hoehler and Jorgensen*, 2013). Several studies have found that potential enzyme activities decrease with depth (*Gelsomino and Azzellino*, 2011; *Snajdr et al.*, 2008; *Steinweg et al.*, 2013; *Taylor et al.*, 2002; *Venkatesan and Senthurpandian*, 2006). However, specific enzyme activities (activity normalized to biomass or substrate availability) have not been measured in most cases, and it is therefore difficult to separate physiologically adaptive changes in

enzyme activities from changes due solely to differences in biomass and substrate quantities (*Trasar-Cepeda et al.*, 2008). The few studies that have normalized microbial assimilation or mineralization activities to the size of the microbial biomass show either similar values throughout the soil profile or an increase in specific activity with depth (*Blume et al.*, 2002; *Gelsomino and Azzellino*, 2011; *Kramer et al.*, 2013; *Tate*, 1979). Additionally, increased mineral association in subsoils can lead to greater stabilization of organic materials (*Eusterhues et al.*, 2003; *Rasse et al.*, 2005). Changes in the fraction of enzymes that are sorbed to clay minerals or organo-mineral complexes with depth can influence both potential enzyme activities and enzyme turnover rates (*Allison*, 2006; *Taylor et al.*, 2002).

The primary objective of this study was to assess changes in the potential and specific activity of hydrolytic enzymes involved in C, N and P acquisition with increasing soil depth across the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory (LCZO), a montane tropical forest in northeastern Puerto Rico. We hypothesized that energy (C) availability would be the major driver of the vertical distribution of enzyme activities. Specifically, we hypothesized that total enzyme activity would decline with depth; tracking declines in C availability and microbial biomass. We further hypothesized that enzyme activity per unit microbial biomass (i.e., specific activity) would increase with depth, reflecting greater microbial allocation to enzyme production in response to decreased resource (C and nutrient) availability (Allison et al., 2011; Sinsabaugh and Moorhead, 1994). Our second objective was to investigate changes in microbial community structure with depth at the LCZO. By doing so, we hoped to evaluate whether changes in enzyme activities were functional, or attributable to changes in community structure. Lastly, our experimental design allowed us to examine how landscape-scale gradients in geologic parent material and vegetation at the LCZO mediate changes in soil enzyme activities with depth. We predicted that in surface soils, enzyme activity would be principally driven by forest type, due to differences in leaf litter chemistry (and therefore substrate chemistry) among forest types (Cusack et al., 2011; Fonte and Schowalter, 2004). We predicted the influence of vegetation would decline with depth and that in subsoils, enzyme activity patterns would be influenced primarily by parent material.

3.2. Methods

3.2.1. Study site and sample collection

This study was conducted using soils from the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory (LCZO) in northeastern Puerto Rico (18°18' N, 65°50' W). The LCZO offers a natural experiment for studying changes in microbial community characteristics with depth in the context of landscape-scale gradients in geology, vegetation and climate. The LCZO is composed of two dominant parent materials of differing age and mineralogy: lower-Cretaceous volcaniclastic (VC) sediments of andesitic composition and an early-Tertiary age quartz-diorite (QD) pluton known as the Rio Blanco stock (*Seiders*, 1971a,b). The mountainous region is characterized by steep terrain and is highly dissected by slopes > 30°. The mean annual temperature decreases from approximately 24 °C at 300 masl to 21 °C at 800 masl and precipitation increases from 3000 mm y⁻¹ to 4000 mm y⁻¹ across the same elevation gradient (*Brown et al.*, 1983). Most of the vegetation falls into four climate-designated life zones *sensu Holdridge* (1967): subtropical wet forest, subtropical rainforest, lower montane wet forest, and lower montane rainforest. The LCZO is covered primarily by mature Tabonuco (*Dacroydes excesla* Vahl) forest at low elevations (<600 masl) and Palo Colorado (*Cyrilla racemiflora* L.) forest at intermediate elevations (600-800 masl). Sierra palm forest is found across all elevations and is dominant at the highest elevations (800-1000 masl, *Brown et al.* (1983); *Weaver* (1991)).

Soils in the LCZO are 0.5–1.5 m thick, underlain by saprolite that ranges in thickness from ~2 m on steep hillslopes to up to 23 m on ridgetops (*Buss et al.*, 2010; *Simon et al.*, 1990). The VC parent material weathers to produce Oxisols, which are classified as Humaquoxes on flat ridges, and Aquic and Inceptic Hapludoxes on slopes and in valleys (Table 3.1). The QD parent material weathers to produce Inceptisols, which are classified as Histic Humaquepts on ridges, and Aquic or Aquic Humic Dystrudepts on slopes and in valleys (Table 3.1, (Soil Survey staff, 2013)). All soils are moderately to strongly acidic and contain mostly kaolinitic minerals, with iron and aluminum oxyhydroxides in the clay fraction. The Oxisols are strongly weathered, fine-textured soils that are high in iron and aluminum and contain < 10% primary minerals, while the Inceptisols are coarsertextured and contain up to 40% primary minerals in surface soils (*Johnson and Hao*, 2013; *Scatena*,

1989; Silver, 1994).

To capture as much edaphic variability as possible in our study, we collected soils from four subwatersheds (5-20 ha in size) throughout the LCZO that spanned 360-780 masl in elevation and represented Tabonuco and Colorado forest on VC and QD parent material (Table 3.1). Previous work has shown there are significant differences in soil properties associated with topographic position at the sub-watershed scale (Johnson et al., 2011; Scatena and Lugo, 1995; Silver, 1994); we therefore deliberately incorporated topographic variation into our sampling design. Within each sub-watershed we sought pronounced local ridges (slope $< 10^{\circ}$) that do not receive significant deposition from above. From each ridge, we sampled along catenas that descended into local ephemeral streams. Five soil pits were excavated along each catena; three on slope terrain, one on a ridgetop and one in a valley. Soil profiles were excavated to 140 cm or bedrock using a bucket augur. Samples were collected from the wall of the pit at discrete 10 cm intervals beginning at the surface of the mineral soil. Samples were immediately refrigerated at 4 °C following collection, and shipped on ice to the University of Pennsylvania where they were field-fresh sieved to 5 mm to homogenize. Samples from one slope pit, the ridge pit and the valley pit were used for enzyme and PLFA analysis. Soil chemical analyses (see below) were performed on samples from all five pits. One subsample was frozen at -20 °C until enzyme analysis, a second subsample was freeze-dried for phospholipid fatty acid analysis (PLFA), and a third subsample was air-dried and subsequently sieved to 2 mm for chemical analyses. We acknowledge that freezing may have a negative effect on enzyme activities as has been observed in other studies (DeForest, 2009; German et al., 2011; Turner and Romero, 2010) but as it was not possible to assay this number of samples under field conditions in a timely manner, we focused on treating all samples identically so that sample storage did not bias our experimental outcome. Repeated measurements of the same samples indicated that activity within frozen samples varied < 10% over the duration of the experiment.

3.2.2. Soil chemical analyses

Prior to C and N analyses, a subsample of air-dried soil was ground (< 500μ m) with a mortar and pestle. Total C and total N concentrations of soils were determined by dry combustion analysis

using a Carlo-Erba NA 1500 elemental analyzer (Fisons Instruments, Beverly MA). In cases where carbon concentrations were < 0.1% as measured by combustion analysis, samples were re-run on a stable isotope mass-spectrometer (Delta Plus, Thermo-Finnigan MAT, Bremen, Germany) to improve the precision of our measurements. Given the low pH of the soils, total C concentrations can be equated to organic C concentrations. Available P was determined using a partial Hedley sequential fractionation based on the protocol of *Tiessen and Moir* (1993) with several modifications. First, 1–5 grams of sample were extracted by shaking soil in 30 ml of 0.25 M NaHCO₃ solution for 16 hours. Extracts were centrifuged and then filtered using a 0.45 μ m nitrocellulose filter. The soil was then extracted again with 0.1 M NaOH following the same procedure. Total P concentrations in the NaHCO₃ and NaOH extracts were determined using ICP-OES spectrometry (Genesis ICP-OES, Spectro Analytical Instruments Gmbh, Kleve, Germany). Total extractable P is reported as the sum of NaHCO₃- and NaOH- extractable P. Soil pH was determined in a 1: 10 soil : distilled water slurry.

3.2.3. Phospholipid fatty acid analysis

We investigated soil PLFA composition both to evaluate changes in microbial community structure with depth, soil type and forest type, and as an index of viable microbial biomass (*Federle et al.*, 1986). Total lipids were extracted using 10 ml of methanol, 5 ml of chloroform and 4 ml of phosphate buffer from 5 g of freeze-dried soil (*DeForest et al.*, 2012; *White et al.*, 1979). Analytical recovery for the procedure was determined by adding phospholipid 19:0 as an internal standard (1,2-dinonadecanoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphocholine, Avanit Polar Lipids, Inc.). Three blanks consisting of 5 g of combusted sterile sand were extracted along with the samples to identify potential contamination and validate low biomass samples. Polar lipids were separated from other lipids (e.g. neutral and glycolipids) using silicic acid solid-phase chromatography columns (Thermo Scientific). Separated polar lipids were then converted to fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) through methanolysis (*Guckert et al.*, 1985). FAMEs were separated using a HP GC-FID (HP6890 series, Agilent Technologies, Inc.) gas chromatograph. External FAME standards (K101 FAME mix, Grace) were used to determine concentrations.

A total of 87 biomarkers were identified across all samples using the Sherlock System (v. 6.1, MIDI, Inc.). Standard PLFA nomenclature was used where the first number refers to the number of carbon atoms, the second number refers to the number of carbon double bonds, and the third number (after the $\overline{\omega}$) is the location of the double bond on the fatty acid chain relative to the aliphatic end. We removed from analysis any PLFA biomarkers if they had low biomass (< 1% mol fraction) and only occurred in a single sample, reducing the number of biomarkers to 84. For several biomarkers (16:306c, 16:0, i17:109c, 17:0,18:0 and 21:0), a small amount of contamination was present in the blanks. We calculated the average blank value for each of these biomarkers and subtracted it from the measured value for each sample. Groups of microorganisms were assigned based on indicator PLFA, such as iso (i) and ante-iso (a) branched fatty acids (gram positive bacteria), methyl (Me) branched fatty acids (actinobacteria), monosaturated and cyclopropyl (cy) lipids (gram negative bacteria) and dimethyl acetyls (DMAs) (anaerobic bacteria, Zelles (1999)). Biomarker group abundance (% mol fraction) was calculated by dividing the sum of biomarker groups by total PLFA biomass. Fungal : bacterial ratios were calculated by dividing the sum of $16:1\varpi5c$ and $18:2\varpi6c$ by the sum of all biomarkers associated with bacteria (e.g., *i*15:0, *i*16:0, 17:0, cy17:0). Phospholipid fatty acid abundance is reported as $\mu g C g^{-1}$ dry soil.

3.2.4. Enzyme Assays

The activities of six hydrolytic enzymes that are involved in C (α -glucosidase, (AG); β -glucosidase, (BG); cellobiohydrolase, (CBH); β -xylosidase (BX)), nitrogen (*N*-acetyl glucosaminidase, (NAG)) and P (acid phosphatase, (AP)) acquisition were measured according to the protocol of *Saiya-Cork et al.* (2002) with modifications by *German et al.* (2011). The specific functions of the enzymes assayed are listed in Table 3.2. Briefly, 0.5 g of field-moist, frozen soil was homogenized in 62.5 ml of sodium acetate buffer using a hand blender. The pH of the sodium acetate buffer was experimentally varied to approximate the pH of the soil samples being assayed, with pH values ranging from 3.7-5.0 (Table 3.3). 50 µl of fluorescent substrate proxies specific to each enzyme were added to eight replicate assay wells in optimal concentrations for measuring total potential activity (optimal concentrations determined prior to experiment, Table 3.1). Assays were run with two standard

columns containing soil homogenate and methylumbelliferone (MUB). Each assay microplate also contained substrate blank columns receiving 50 μ l of substrate and 200 μ l of sodium acetate buffer. Soil homogenate blanks were also measured simultaneously. Plates were incubated at 25 °C for 4 hours (optimal duration of assay determined prior to experiment). After incubation, 10 μ l of 1M NaOH was added to each well to terminate enzyme activity. Within one minute of NaOH addition (*DeForest*, 2009), fluorescence was measured using a fluorometer set at 365 nm excitation and 450 nm emission. From fluorescence values, total enzyme activity (EA_{tot}) was calculated as the rate of substrate converted in nmol h⁻¹ g⁻¹ soil (*German et al.*, 2011), and total C-acquiring enzyme activity (C_{enz}) was operationally defined as the sum of AG, BG, BX and CBH activities.

Total enzyme activity was normalized to both soil C and microbial C concentrations to obtain two different specific enzyme activity indices. Enzyme activity per unit soil C (EA_{soc}) was calculated by dividing total potential activity (EA_{tot}) by the soil C concentration:

 EA_{soc} (nmol activity mg⁻¹ C h⁻¹) = EA_{tot} (nmol activity h⁻¹ g⁻¹ soil) / soil C (mg C g⁻¹ soil)

Enzyme activity normalized per unit microbial C (EA_{mbc}) was calculated by dividing EA_{tot} by microbial biomass C:

$$EA_{mbc}$$
 (nmol activity $\mu g^{-1} C_{mic} h^{-1}$) = EA_{tot} (nmol $h^{-1} g^{-1} soil) / C_{mic}$ ($\mu g C g^{-1} soil$)

Ratios of C, N and P acquiring enzyme activities were also calculated *sensu Sinsabaugh et al.* (2008). Enzyme ratios provide an index that is considered to be at the intersection of the metabolic theory of microbial ecology (based on energetic constrains and thermodynamics) and ecological stoichiometric theory (elemental resource availability, *Sinsabaugh et al.* (2009)). Thus, enzymatic ratios are a tool for examining relative allocation to energy versus nutrient acquisition. We refer to these ratios as the NAG : C_{enz} , NAG : AP and C_{enz} : AP ratio, respectively.

3.2.5. Statistical analyses

All statistics were performed using R (R CORE TEAM, 2012). Soil chemical, microbial biomass and enzyme activity data were log-transformed, and ecoenzymatic ratios were log-log transformed

prior to statistical analyses to meet assumptions of normality. We used type II standard major axis (SMA) regression to evaluate relationships among soil C concentration, microbial biomass and enzyme activity using the "Imodel2" package (Legendre, 2013). Type II regression is useful when the two variables of interest are random and have comparable standard errors because in this case least squares (Type I) regression will underestimate the slope of the linear relationship between the variables (Legendre, 2013). A linear mixed effects model was fit to the enzyme data using the lme4 package in R (*Bates et al.*, 2012), to determine the effects of depth, soil type, forest type and their interactions on soil nutrient concentrations, microbial biomass, fungal : bacterial ratios, enzyme activities and ecoenzymatic ratios. Depth, soil and forest type were treated as fixed effects and soil pit (representing the field replication) was treated as a random effect nested within soil \times forest type. Catena position (ridge, slope, or valley) was also included in the model as a random effect. For two soil pits used in this analysis, we did not have the deepest depth interval (140 cm) represented, and the design was therefore unbalanced. To overcome this, we determined Box's epsilon correction factors (GG values) for the model and residual degrees of freedom in order to calculate correct F ratios and P values for model terms including depth (Greenhouse and Geisser, 1959). Where significant effects were found, we ran post-hoc t-tests or Tukey's HSD test using the 'testInteractions' function in the "phia" package (Rosario-Martinez, 2012). Statistical significance was determined at the $\alpha = 0.05$ level. We corrected the P-value for significance associated with an α value of 0.05 using a Bonferroni correction.

Principal components analysis (PCA) was used to assess patterns in microbial community structure (i.e., PLFA biomarkers). Because we expected biomarker abundance to be strongly correlated with total biomass, biomass-normalized biomarker abundances (i.e., % mol fractions) were used for PCA. Biomarkers that were not indicative of a specific group of microorganism (e.g., gram positive, gram negative, etc.) were excluded from PCA to better investigate relationships among distinct microbial groups (*Zelles*, 1999). We performed PCA on the entire dataset and subsequently on a reduced version of the dataset that used average values for each soil × forest × depth class. Because the results of these two analyses match closely, we report the results of PCA on the reduced dataset, which provide a simpler visual representation. The first two principal components were extracted

for further analyses. A linear mixed-effects ANOVA model identical in structure to the model fit to enzyme data was used to explicitly test for effects of depth, soil type and forest type on community structure for the first two principal components. Lastly, we used type II regression to test for relationships between EA_{mbc} and community structure represented by principal components (discussed below).

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Effects of soil and forest types on soil C, N and P concentrations, microbial biomass and enzyme activities

Averaged across all depth intervals, soil C concentrations were 16% greater and soil N concentrations were 28% greater in the Oxisols compared with the Inceptisols (Table 3.3, P < 0.05). C concentrations were 96% greater in the Colorado forest compared with the Tabonuco forest across all soil depths (Table 3.3, P < 0.01). C : N ratios were also significantly greater in the Colorado forest (mean = 19.9) compared with the Tabonuco forest (mean = 11.4, P < 0.01) and particularly in Colorado forest Inceptisols (mean = 22.5, Table 3.3, P < 0.05 for soil × forest interaction). Extractable P did not differ among the four sites. Soil pH was less acidic in Inceptisols (mean = 5.1) compared with Oxisols (mean = 4.3) and in the Tabonuco forest (mean = 5.0) compared with the Colorado forest (mean = 4.4, Table 3.3, P < 0.05).

Soil type did not have a statistically significant effect on microbial biomass or any total or specific enzyme activities. Microbial biomass was also similar across the two forests. Several potential enzyme activities differed across the two forests (data not shown). AG_{tot} was 140% greater and CBH_{tot} was 44% greater in the Colorado forest than the Tabonuco forest (P < 0.05), driven by greater activity in Colorado forest Oxisols compared with all other sites. However, when normalized by microbial biomass, enzyme activities did not vary significantly with soil or forest type.

3.3.2. Depth trends in soil C, N, P concentrations, microbial biomass and enzyme activities

Soil C, microbial biomass C, and EA_{tot} were all highly correlated with each other across all soil and forest types and depth increments. The relationship between each of these variables was very strong (i.e., r > 0.8). In each case, approximately 80% of the variance in a given dependent variable (biomass or EA_{tot}) could be explained by its corresponding independent variable (biomass or soil C). Soil C, N and extractable P concentrations declined exponentially with depth (Figure 3.1, P < 0.01). The soil C : P ratio decreased by 47% and the soil N : P ratio decreased by 27% with depth (P < 0. 01 for each effect), while C : N ratios and pH were invariant with depth. Microbial biomass declined 98% from the surface to 140 cm (Figure 3.2a, P < 0.01), but only declined 20% with depth when normalized by soil C (Figure 3.2b, P < 0.01). EA_{tot} declined exponentially with depth (Figure 3.3a, P < 0.01). When normalized by soil C, EA_{soc} did not change significantly with depth (Figure 3.3b, P = 0.12) and when normalized by microbial biomass C, EA_{mbc} increased 19-fold with depth (Figure 3.3c, P < 0.01).

All potential enzyme activities declined exponentially with depth (Figure 3.4, top). However, trends were enzyme-specific when normalized by soil C (Table 3.5) or microbial biomass C (Figure 3.4, bottom). For each enzyme, the decline in activity with depth was diminished when normalized by soil C and specific activity either did not change or increased with depth when normalized by microbial biomass (Figure 3.4, Table 3.5). BG_{soc} and NAG_{soc} declined significantly with depth (P < 0.01) while BG_{mbc} and NAG_{mbc} did not change significantly with depth. BX_{soc}, CBH_{soc} and AP_{soc} did not change with depth, while BX_{mbc} and CBH_{mbc} both trended positively with depth (P = 0.08, 0.07 respectively) and AP_{mbc} increased 20-fold with depth (P = 0.01). AG_{soc} trended positively with depth (P = 0.09), while AG_{mbc} increased 48-fold with depth (P = 0.03). The NAG : C_{enz} ratio declined from 0.4 to 0.28 and the C_{enz} : AP ratio declined from 0.33 to 0.2 from the surface to 140 cm (P = 0.01, Table 3.5). The NAG : AP ratio declined approximately 5-fold with depth from 0.14 at the surface to 0.03 at 140 cm (P < 0.01, Table 3.5).

3.3.3. Microbial community structure

Community structure was assessed broadly on the basis of fungal : bacterial ratios and in more detail using PCA of all PLFA biomarker groups. Fungal : bacterial ratios declined 6-fold from the surface to 140 cm (Figure 3.2c, P < 0.01) and were 33% greater in Inceptisols (mean = 0.037) compared with Oxisols (mean = 0.028, P = 0.03). The first two principal components captured 67% of the variability in microbial community structure (Figure 3.5). PC1, which accounted for 49% of the variation in community structure, was significantly related to depth (P < 0.01), with deep soils shifted in positive x-space. PC1 was also negatively correlated with C, N and P concentrations, with correlation coefficients ranging from -0.43 to -0.62. Higher scores on PC1 were associated with greater relative abundance of gram positive bacteria and actinobacteria and smaller relative abundance of gram negative bacteria and fungi. PC2, which accounted for 18% of the variation in the data, represented a contrast between gram positive bacteria and fungi versus anaerobic bacteria and non-fungal eukaryotes. PC2 was not correlated with any soil variables. Soil and forest type did not have a significant effect on either principal component. No enzyme activities were significantly correlated with PC1. All EA_{mbc} values were weakly positively correlated with PC2, with AP being the most strongly correlated ($R^2 = 0.27$, P < 0.01). Correlation coefficients for C and N acquiring enzymes ranged from 0.08-0.15 (P < 0.01).

3.4. Discussion

We originally anticipated that forest type would be a primary driver of enzymes activities in surface soils due to differences in leaf litter chemistry (and therefore substrate availability or quality), while parent material would exert a stronger influence on enzyme activities in subsoils because of mineralogical differences that could influence physio-chemical processes such as sorption. However, in most cases we did not observe substantial differences in individual enzyme activities among soil or forest types. This is in spite of observed differences in bulk soil C concentrations and C : N ratios, as well as previously reported differences in the literature (*Harris et al.*, 2012). Moreover, the few differences we did observe were dwarfed by the dramatic change in microbial abundance and activity with soil depth that was consistent across all sites.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to examine both specific enzyme activities and ecoenzyme ratios as a function of depth in tropical soils. Our finding that specific enzyme activity increases with depth carries the implication that microbes may be expending more to acquire less in resourcepoor subsoils. However, in order to make inferences about shifting physiological strategies along soil depth profiles, we first had to account for the exponential decline in total microbial abundance and activity. Other studies have also found exponential declines in soil C and microbial activity with depth in both temperate forest and agricultural soils (Eilers et al., 2012; Fierer et al., 2003a,b; Taylor et al., 2002). Similar to these authors, we found that declining energy availability (soil C) is likely the principal driver of declines in microbial abundance and activity with depth. This is evidenced by the strong relationship between soil C, microbial biomass and enzyme activities. While correlations between biomass and soil C have been noted by many researchers, a meta-analysis showed the degree of correlation between these two variables is typically half (i.e., $r^2 = 0.39$) of what we observed in our soils (Cleveland and Liptzin, 2007). Compared with other tropical soils, the degree of correlation we observed between enzyme activities and biomass may be unique. A recent metaanalysis of tropical soil BG, NAG and AP activities found no significant correlations with microbial biomass C (Waring et al., 2013).

We found that normalizing by soil C or microbial biomass causes a dramatic shift in enzyme activity trends with depth. Specific activity measurements have been used by others to compare biochemical activity in soils with very different organic C contents (*Barriuso et al.*, 1988; *Trasar-Cepeda et al.*, 2008) and have been shown to provide a more robust indicator of shifting microbial allocation patterns in tropical forests (*Weintraub et al.*, 2013). Our findings affirm this observation. In general, we observed a larger positive change in specific activity with depth when reported per microbial biomass instead of per unit soil C. The fraction of soil C that represents viable microbial biomass (i.e., PLFA C) declines with depth, therefore, declines in enzyme activity per unit soil C may be driven by changes in biomass. Alternatively, shifts in community structure with depth may result in an increase in the relative abundance of enzyme producers, resulting in increased specific activity when reported per unit biomass instead of per unit soil C. Additionally, the higher sensitivity of the PLFA technique to low C concentrations compared with combustion analysis could improve our

detection of shifting specific enzyme activities in the case of EA_{mbc} compared with EA_{soc} . We focus the rest of our discussion of depth trends in enzyme activities on EA_{mbc} values, which we find to be a stronger indicator of changes in microbial allocation strategies than EA_{tot} or EA_{soc} .

3.4.1. Depth trends in enzyme activities

Our finding that four C-acquiring enzymes measured in our study either did not change with depth (BG, BX and CBH) or increased with depth (AG) when normalized by microbial biomass (Figure 3.4, bottom) was unexpected. Typically, concentrations of plant-derived cellulosic compounds decline with depth in relation to microbial compounds, due to a combination of microbial processing, selective transport to subsoils in dissolved form, and preferential stabilization of microbial C in association with the soil mineral phase (*Kramer and Gleixner*, 2008; *Rumpel and Kogel-Knabner*, 2011; *Spielvogel et al.*, 2008). Moreover at our sites, root biomass is mostly concentrated in the upper mineral soil (*Lawrence*, 1996); we therefore expected contributions of root C to subsoil C pools to be small. Given C-acquiring enzyme activities are often stimulated in the presence of degradable substrates (*Allison and Vitousek*, 2005; *Hernandez and Hobbie*, 2010; *Weintraub et al.*, 2013), we expected that a lack of plant-derived C in subsoils would lead to a reduction in cellulolytic enzyme activity on a per-biomass basis.

An obvious explanation for our results is our assumption that the relative contribution of plantderived C declines with depth is incorrect. In our sampling, we removed the organic rich O-horizon, which contains the least microbially processed C. It is possible that even in the surface A-horizon, organic matter is highly decomposed and compositionally more similar to subsoil organic matter than leaf litter. This explanation fits with our finding that the soil C : N ratio did not change with depth: we would expect to see higher C : N ratios in surface soils if they contained more plantderived C compared with subsoils. C : N ratios throughout our soil profiles (mean = 15.6) were much closer to expected C : N ratios for microbial biomass (8-12, *Cleveland and Liptzin* (2007)) than for leaf litter (66, *McGroddy et al.* (2004)). However, the dramatic increase in specific AG activity, particularly when compared with other C-acquiring enzymes, may signal a subtle shift in C substrate availability. The relative contribution of AG_{mbc} to total specific C-acquiring enzyme activity increased an order of magnitude with depth, from 3% in surface soils to 30% at 140 cm. This may reflect an increase in the relative abundance of starch, a labile polysaccharide that is both plant and microbially-derived (*Kogel-Knabner*, 2002), compared with cellulosic compounds. Additionally, many extracellular enzymes are produced constitutively at low levels unless environmental signals cause upregulation or repression to occur (*Allison et al.*, 2011; *Sinsabaugh and Shah*, 2012). It is possible that high specific activity of plant C-acquiring enzymes in subsoils reflects constitutive enzyme production. Finally, plant C-acquiring enzyme activity could persist in deep soils due to enhanced mineral stabilization of enzymes and reduced enzyme turnover rates. While turnover rates are not commonly measured in soils (*Wallenstein and Burns*, 2011), a large fraction of soil enzymes are immobilized as a result of adsorption or covalent bonding interactions with soil minerals or other colloids (*Burns*, 1982; *Gianfreda and Rao*, 2011; *Taylor et al.*, 2002). Immobilized enzymes often exhibit increased stability compared with free enzymes due to reduced accessibility to proteolytic degradation (*Allison*, 2006; *Ladd*, 1978; *Nannipieri and Gianfreda*, 1998).

Unlike the C-acquiring enzymes, we did not have an a priori expectation of how the N-acquiring enzyme NAG would trend with depth. NAG is considered primarily a chitin-degrading enzyme, but it is also involved in the degradation of peptidoglycan, an abundant component of bacterial cell walls. Constitutive NAG production and decreased turnover rates are potential explanations for our finding that specific NAG activity remains constant with depth. However, it is also possible that in deep soils bacterially-derived NAG enzymes play a role in recycling organic N from microbial biomass. Conversely, the NAG : C_{enz} and NAG : AP ratios declined with depth, indicating a downregulation of NAG production in relation to C and P-acquiring enzymes. It is unclear whether shifting enzyme ratios reflect a decline in microbial demand for organic N, a shift in fungal : bacterial ratios (fungal biomass being a major source of chitin in soils) or differences in turnover rates among enzymes. It is possible that other N-acquiring enzymes, such as proteases and ureases, may provide a better indicator of MAG as a C and N degrading enzyme. Clearly, more information on the size and composition of organic-N substrate pools is needed to fully assess the importance NAG throughout tropical soil profiles.

We found high AP activity and low NAG : AP and C_{enz} : AP ratios throughout the soil profiles, suggesting high microbial investment in P-acquiring enzymes. This finding is consistent with recent meta-analyses which have found ratios of BG : AP and NAG : AP are substantially lower in tropical soils compared with global averages (*Sinsabaugh et al.*, 2008; *Waring et al.*, 2013). Microbial investment in P-acquisition also appears to increase with depth, as evidenced by increased specific AP activity and decreases in NAG : AP and C_{enz} : AP ratios. Other studies have found increases in specific phosphatase activity with depth (*Taylor et al.*, 2002). However, to our knowledge our study is the first to examine changes in NAG : AP and C_{enz} : AP ratios with depth in tropical soils. A remarkable finding is that while in surface soils, our mean NAG : AP ratio (0.14) is similar to NAG : AP ratios found in other tropical systems (0.126 ± 0.045, *Waring et al.* (2013); *Weintraub et al.* (2013)), the NAG : AP ratio declines to an average of 0.03 with depth, far lower than literature NAG : AP ratios for even the most highly-weathered tropical soils.

From a resource allocation perspective, high microbial investment in P-acquiring enzymes is suggestive of microbial P-limitation, as has been proposed for other tropical soils (Cleveland and Liptzin, 2007; Waring et al., 2013). However, in our soils extractable P concentrations did not decline as rapidly with depth as total C or N, and the ratio of extractable P to biomass increased substantially with depth (data not shown). Although the two pools of extractable P that we measured cannot be definitively related to P bioavailability, these fractions are considered to represent labile to moderately labile P available to microorganisms over the short to intermediate term (Johnson et al., 2003). If soil P availability does increase with depth relative to C and N, the question arises of why microbes would invest resources in a P-acquiring enzyme. We propose an alternative explanation for high AP activity exists in our deep soils. Studies from other low-C environments such as deep ocean strata and marine sediments have demonstrated that microbes use phosphorylated organic compounds primarily as a C source (Hoppe and Ullrich, 1999; Nausch and Nausch, 2007; Steenbergh et al., 2011). A recent study from temperate forest soils in Germany also demonstrated that soil microbes use the organic moiety of phosphorylated compounds as a C source, while mineralizing P without uptaking it (Spohn and Kuzyakov, 2013). It is possible that in our soils, increased AP_{mbc} with depth may be driven by microbial C demand. This explanation fits with our

finding that AP activity was slightly better correlated with soil C concentrations ($R^2 = 0.71$) than with either NaHCO₃- ($R^2 = 0.67$) or NaOH- extractable P ($R^2 = 0.45$). More generally, in environments characterized by extreme energy and resource limitation, enzymes that are typically classified as C, N or P acquiring may be used to target multiple nutrient reservoirs. However, we caution that a better understanding of what constitutes "microbially available P" is needed to determine whether AP activity results from C or P limitation in subsoils. Additionally, differences in turnover rates among enzymes need to be investigated in order to link shifting ecoenzyme ratios to changes in microbial nutrient demand with confidence.

In addition to shifting energy and resource demands, changes in specific enzyme activities may reflect compositional changes in the microbial community, a possibility which we explored using PLFA biomarkers. Changes in community structure can occur due to changes in the relative fitness of various microorganisms under altered C or nutrient regimes (*Allison et al.*, 2007; *DeForest et al.*, 2012; *Fierer and Jackson*, 2006; *Rinkes et al.*, 2011), leading to selection for organisms that can better exploit available resources. Such community shifts could alter the types and abundances of enzyme producers. Additionally, greater spatial separation between microorganisms in deep soil may result in lower numbers of microbial "cheaters" that do not produce enzymes but use enzyme products (*Allison*, 2005). Given that we observed changes in community structure with depth (discussed below) and some small correlations between community structure and enzyme activities, we believe it possible that shifts in community structure contribute to shifts in specific enzyme activity with depth.

3.4.2. Patterns in microbial community structure

Similar to our enzyme findings, depth, rather than soil or forest type, appears to be the major driver of microbial community structure in our study system. Other studies have found that subsurface microbial communities are distinct from surface communities (*Blume et al.*, 2002; *Eilers et al.*, 2012; *Hansel et al.*, 2008; *Hartmann et al.*, 2009). Interestingly, the depth trends we observed parallel findings from other studies conducted across a range of ecosystems. For example, many other researchers have observed decreased fungal : bacterial ratios with depth (*Ekelund et al.*, 2001;

Fierer et al., 2003b; Taylor et al., 2002). Plant roots, which fungi are often associated with, are concentrated in the upper 30 cm of the soil in the LCZO and are nearly absent below 70 cm depth (Lawrence, 1996). Given that we excluded the shallow O-horizon soils, where we would expect the majority of fungal biomass to be concentrated, it is not surprising that we found low biomass of fungal biomarkers throughout soil profiles. The increase in actinobacterial abundance with depth across the upper ~80 cm of the soil also parallels results from other studies (Federle et al., 1986; Fierer et al., 2003b; Fritze et al., 2000; Hartmann et al., 2009). Often adapted to resource-limited conditions, actinobacteria are a metabolically versatile group of organisms that degrade high molecular weight components of SOM including lignin and cellulose (McCarthy and Williams, 1992). Shifts from large populations of gram negative bacteria in surface soils to gram positive bacteria in subsoils have also been observed by other researchers (Blume et al., 2002; Fierer et al., 2003b). Gram negative bacteria are most often associated with plant rhizospheres and high-organic matter environments (Griffiths et al., 1999), possibly due to their preference for plant-derived C over gram positive bacteria, which typically utilize older, SOM-derived C (Kramer and Gleixner, 2008). Gram positive bacteria are also known for their ability to sporulate and resist harsh environmental conditions, including long-term desiccation (Setlow, 2007). In the Oxisol sites, dense clays impede subsurface infiltration and dry conditions typically prevail below 60 cm depth (*McDowell et al.*, 1992).

Similarly to its role in governing enzyme activities, it is likely that C quantity and chemical composition are dominant drivers of the changes in community composition that we observe with depth. Other environmental variables that are often linked to shifts in microbial community structure, such as pH (Table 3.3) and moisture content (data not shown), are relatively invariant in our profiles beneath the surface ~20 cm. The extremely low biomass of anaerobic bacteria throughout our soil profiles suggests that oxygen availability is not a major control on community structure, though redox status is an important microbial driver in surface soils, particularly in topographically low and frequently inundated valleys of the Luquillo forest (*Hall and Silver*, 2013).

We were surprised that we did not observe stronger correlations between community structure and enzyme activities, particularly given that both aspects of the microbial community changed with depth. Several possible explanations exist. For one, PLFA may lack the resolution necessary for observing structure-function relationships, especially if biodiversity or biomass is very low and microbial communities exhibit fine-scale phylogenetic variation, or microdiversity, with respect to enzyme production. In such cases, examining community structure at a broad level can mask correlations between community structure and functions (*Zimmerman et al.*, 2013; *Frossard et al.*, 2012) due to a "convergence of function" among taxonomically diverse microorganisms. It is also possible that, while the microbial community as a whole shifted, the relative abundance of enzyme producers did not. In this case the primary driver of depth trends in enzyme activities may be physiological shifts among enzyme producers. Finally, the lack of relationship between enzyme immobilization and reduced turnover rates discussed above, are more important than community structure in accounting for the depth distribution of enzymes.

In spite of the community structure changes we observed with depth, it is important to note that a large fraction of the variance in community structure had no relationship with depth. Recent metagenomic studies have revealed enormous microbial diversity on the microscale (Gans et al., 2005; Torsvik and Ovreas, 2002), which is often linked to the spatial heterogeneity of the soil habitat (Ranjard and Richaume, 2001). It is possible that in our soils, microscale heterogeneity in soil resources, moisture and redox status accounts for a large fraction of the variability in community structure independent of broad gradients in C availability. Additionally, our ability to resolve differences in community structure among samples is limited by the PLFA technique, which provides only a coarse view of community structure (Frostegard et al., 2011). Assignment of PLFA biomarkers to classes such as gram positive or gram negative relies on assumptions about the broad applicability of relationships that have been developed based on a small subset of cultivable organisms (Bossio and Scow, 1998; Zelles, 1999). Another challenge with interpreting PLFA information is that changes in fatty acid biomarkers can indicate changes in community composition or physiological changes within the same community (Bossio and Scow, 1998). Nevertheless, we find that the high sensitivity of PLFA in detecting biomarkers in low biomass environments makes it a valuable technique for our study.

3.5. Conclusions

We observed strong and interrelated gradients in soil C, microbial biomass and enzyme activities with depth across two tropical forests underlain by two distinct geologic parent materials. Our study demonstrates that low-C tropical subsoils contain metabolically active microbial communities that contribute to biogeochemical cycles of C, N and P at rates similar to surface communities on a perbiomass basis. High phosphatase activity throughout soil profiles is consistent with other studies from the tropics, though in deep, low-C soils we suggest the possibility that phosphatase activity may be driven by microbial C demand, considering the relatively high P-availability. Shifts in community structure may also contribute to high specific enzyme activities suggest community changes are secondary to physiological adaptations or changes in enzyme turnover rates. From an ecosystem perspective, high specific hydrolytic enzyme activity suggests tropical subsoil organic matter is composed of recognizable biomolecules, similar to those in surface soils. Future studies directly characterizing the stability and chemical composition of organic matter in tropical subsoils will provide further insight into controls on C and nutrient cycling throughout tropical soil profiles.

	Oxisol	Oxisol	Inceptisol	Inceptisol
	Tabonuco	Colorado	Tabonuco	Colorado
Location	18°18'50.0"N	18°16'39.1"N	18°15'46.3"N	18°17'28.7"N
	65°44'25.0"W	65°50'54.0"W	65°47'35.5"W	65°47'44.2"W
Elevation (m)	360	790	360	780
MAT (°C) ¹	24	21	24	21
MAP $(mm yr^{-1})^1$	3500	4200	3500	4200
Aboveground biomass (t ha ⁻¹) ²	190	130	190	130
ANPP(t ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹) ²	10.5	7.6	10.8	4.05
Texture Class	Silty clay loam	Silty clay	Sandy loam	Sandy loam
Soil Taxonomy ³	Humaquox,	Humaquox,	Histic Humaquepts,	Histic Humaquepts,
	Aquic & Inceptic Hapludox	Aquic & Inceptic Hapludo	x Aquic & Histic Dystrudepts	Aquic & Histic Dystrudepts

Table 3.1: General site and soil characteristics for the four soil \times forest types. MAT = mean annual temperature, MAP = mean annual precipitation, ANPP = annual net primary productivity.

1. McDowell et al. (2012)

2. Weaver and Murphy (1990)

3. Classification of soils according to US Taxonomy.

Table 3.2: Summary of enzymes studied, their broad ecological functions, and substrate proxies used for laboratory assays. All substrate proxies used are methylumbelliferone (MUB)-linked. The appropriate concentration of substrate was determined in a preliminary experiment (*German et al.*, 2011).

Enzyme	Enzyme Function	Common substrates	Substrate Proxy	Substrate Concentration
Acid Phosphatase (AP)	Releases phosphate groups	Phospholipids,	4-MUB Phosphate	400 µM
		phosphosaccharides		
α -glucosidase (AG)	Releases glucose	Starch	4-MUB α -D-glucopyranoside	200 µM
	from starch			
β -glucosidase (BG)	Releases glucose	Cellulose	4-MUB β -D-glucopyranoside	200 µM
	from cellulose			
β -xylosidase (BX)	Releases xylose	Hemicellulose	4-MUB β -D-xylopyranoside	200 µM
	from hemicellulose			
Cellobiohydrolase (CBH)	Releases disaccharides	Cellulose	4-MUB- β -D-cellobioside	200 µM
	from cellulose			
N-acetyl glucosaminidase	Releases N-acetyl glucosamine	e Chitin & peptidoglycan	4-MUB N-acetyl-	200 µM
(NAG)	from oligosaccharides		β -D- glucosaminide	

Continued on next page

Soil Order	Forest Type Del	pth (cm) n	Total C	Total N	C:N	NaHCO ₃ - P	NaOH- P	Ηd
Inceptisol	Colorado	0 5	68.72 ± 24.07	2.64 ± 0.72 2	24.59 ± 1.96	19.19 ± 3	68.14 ± 6.96	4.4 ± 0.18
		20 5	36.46 ± 8.87	1.7 ± 0.34 2	0.78 ± 1.07	6.25 ± 1.59	29.3 ± 8.98	4.38 ± 0.24
		50 5	27.54 ± 7.48	1.22 ± 0.31 2	1.49 ± 5.78	2.58 ± 0.67	16.97 ± 3.97	4.56 ± 0.3
		80 5	19.02 ± 8.53	0.84 ± 0.29 2	0.05 ± 3.69	2.25 ± 0.71	14.3 ± 3.97	4.68 ± 0.4
		110 4	· 9.73 ± 6.44	0.51 ± 0.3 1	8.23 ± 2.89	1.48 ± 0.84	14.73 ± 8.84	4.73 ± 0.45
		140 3	10.7 ± 9.15	0.52 ± 0.44 2	0.173 ± 3.42	2.82 ± 2	13.68 ± 8.53	4.25 ± 0.69
Inceptisol	Tabonuco	0 5	57.52 ± 13.64	4.44 ± 1.01 1	2.91 ± 0.36	21.67 ± 5.76	131.32 ± 44.39	5.76 ± 0.27
		20 5	17.82 ± 2.84	1.58 ± 0.31 1	1.61 ± 0.61	8.75 ± 2.19	73.82 ± 19.46	5.46 ± 0.45
		50 5	11.08 ± 0.55	1.02 ± 0.05 1	0.87 ± 0.14	2.77 ± 0.28	42.8 ± 5.89	5.62 ± 0.43
		80 5	4.42 ± 1.25	0.44 ± 0.13 1	0.39 ± 0.42	1.42 ± 0.24	41.25 ± 15.87	5.54 ± 0.53
		110 5	1.05 ± 0.3	0.18 ± 0.08	10.15 ± 4.1	1.87 ± 0.9	48.06 ± 38.08	5.5 ± 0.64
		140 5	0.58 ± 0.12	0.14 ± 0.08	8.31 ± 2.37	1.46 ± 0.78	25.2 ± 22.16	5.79 ± 0.47
Oxisol	Colorado	0 5	101.82 ± 15.9	5.62 ± 0.49 1	7.86 ± 1.42	28.97 ± 1.44	117.77 ± 11.44	4.2 ± 0.21
		20 5	50.44 ± 6.47	3.38 ± 0.37 1	4.87 ± 0.69	9.03 ± 3.23	40.32 ± 12.15	4.04 ± 0.1

Total C and N, and extractable P concentrations and soil pH of samples assayed for acid phosphatase activity and kinetic parameters. C and N concentrations are reported in mg g^{-1} soil, while P concentrations are reported in mg k g^{-1} soil. Values are reported as means of each soil \times forest \times depth combination ± 1 standard error.

		Iau		cu from previou	and co			
Soil Order	Forest Type D	epth (cm) n	Total C	Total N	C:N	NaHCO ₃ - P	NaOH- P	Ηd
		50 5	24.7 ± 2.56	1.64 ± 0.19 1	5.22 ± 0.61	2.29 ± 0.48	15.12 ± 3.73	4.29 ± 0.31
		80 5	13.26 ± 1.54	0.78 ± 0.15 1	8.01 ± 1.38	1.32 ± 0.39	10.85 ± 0.94	4.19 ± 0.31
		110 5	7.62 ± 0.86	0.44 ± 0.08 1	8.22 ± 1.85	1.26 ± 0.19	10.05 ± 1.56	4.37 ± 0.3
		140 4	5.78 ± 0.96	0.3 ± 0.08 2	0.81 ± 2.49	1.52 ± 0.26	10.03 ± 2.32	4.42 ± 0.48
Oxisol	Tabonuco	0 5	55.43 ± 3.92	4.38 ± 0.14 1	2.71 ± 0.97	18.74 ± 1.83	149.47 ± 30.92	4.23 ± 0.19
		20 5	28.78 ± 2.05	2.36 ± 0.1 1	2.16 ± 0.56	6.13 ± 0.32	56.5 ± 14.44	4.39 ± 0.2
		50 5	10.62 ± 1.59	0.8 ± 0.11 1	3.31 ± 0.95	1.74 ± 0.26	24.5 ± 6.57	4.28 ± 0.26
		80 4	4.35 ± 1.17	0.4 ± 0.1 1	0.79 ± 0.65	0.68 ± 0.17	20.4 ± 8.95	4.08 ± 0.25
		110 4	2.88 ± 0.79	0.28 ± 0.06 1	0.91 ± 1.42	0.87 ± 0.28	22.83 ± 11.08	4.34 ± 0.18
		140 4	2.8 ± 0.94	0.23 ± 0.07 1	2.06 ± 0.98	0.67 ± 0.13	11.22 ± 2.38	4.3 ± 0.15

Table3.3 -Continued from previous page

as means of each depth combination ± 1	ol hr ⁻¹ g ⁻¹ soil, nmol hr ⁻¹ μ g ⁻¹ C _{mic} and	and $\mu g m g^{-1}$ soil C, respectively.
es and microbial biomass by depth. Values are reported	alized and carbon normalized enzyme activities are: nm	or total and carbon normalized biomasses are $\mu g \ g^{-1}$ so
Table 3.4: Total and specific enzyme activiti	standard error. Units for total, biomass norm	nmol hr ⁻¹ mg ⁻¹ soil C, respectively. Units fo

	0	20	50	80	110	140
AG	39.5 ± 8.1	24.5 ± 6.5	15.5 ± 4.0	16 ± 5.3	8.4 ± 3.3	6.3 ± 2.3
AG_{mbc}	0.4 ± 0.1	0.5 ± 0.1	1.6 ± 0.5	4.6 ± 1.9	14.7 ± 10.7	95.9 ± 49.9
AG_{soc}	5.7 ± 1.4	7.5 ± 2.2	9.1 ± 3.0	19.1 ± 9	53.9 ± 30.6	28.5 ± 18.3
BG	873 ± 169.3	281.4 ± 82.0	87.2 ± 15.3	41.8 ± 10.4	10.6 ± 2.7	12.3 ± 3.4
${ m BG}_{mbc}$	8.1 ± 1.9	5.3 ± 1.8	5.8 ± 1.7	7.6 ± 2.7	13.8 ± 9.2	75.2 ± 34.4
BG_{soc}	129.2 ± 31.4	92.1 ± 29.7	53.2 ± 14.6	47.2 ± 19.7	64.1 ± 30.7	44.0 ± 26.1
BX	256 ± 35.6	133.3 ± 39.0	50.7 ± 13.0	23.1 ± 6.1	7.9 ± 2.4	8.2 ± 2.5
BX_{mbc}	2.2 ± 0.4	2.5 ± 0.8	3.5 ± 1.2	5.4 ± 2	12.2 ± 8.3	80.2 ± 38.3
BX_{soc}	39.3 ± 7.9	43.8 ± 14.2	28.9 ± 9.6	28.6 ± 12.2	55.7 ± 28.2	30.8 ± 18.8
CBH	187 ± 48.3	46.5 ± 14.9	17.7 ± 4.0	10.6 ± 3.2	5.5 ± 2.1	4.6 ± 1.4
${ m CBH}_{mbc}$	1.6 ± 0.5	0.8 ± 0.3	2 ± 0.6	3.3 ± 1.3	8.9 ± 6.5	59.1 ± 28.5
CBH _{soc}	26.2 ± 7.8	14.7 ± 5.1	10.1 ± 3.1	12.8 ± 5.8	32.5 ± 18.2	19.9 ± 12.2
NAG	583.1 ± 180.2	136.6 ± 27.5	32.0 ± 7.4	22.1 ± 5	7.7 ± 2.3	5.4 ± 2.8
NAG_{mbc}	4.8 ± 1.6	2.9 ± 0.8	2.6 ± 0.8	5.1 ± 1.8	14.3 ± 9.7	27.1 ± 17.1
Continued on next pa	8e					

	Ta	able3.4 – <i>Conti</i>	nued from previ	ous page		
	0	20	50	80	110	140
NAG_{soc}	82.8 ± 28.3	47.1 ± 11.5	20.2 ± 6.3	25.6 ± 10.4	59.0 ± 29.6	16.9 ± 12.4
AP	5013 ± 930.1	2340 ± 596	805.3 ± 186.0	437 ± 78.8	240.8 ± 31.5	155.4 ± 25.8
AP_{mbc}	50.4 ± 11.4	52.5 ± 15.7	73.0 ± 23.5	162.1 ± 51.5	441.9 ± 277.3	1062.8 ± 426.6
${ m AP}\check{ m N}_{soc}$	769.7 ± 181.7	799.1 ± 227.3	479.2 ± 150.3	660.8 ± 252.1	1626.1 ± 695.7	886 ± 488.1
NAG : AP	0.1 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 0.0	0.04 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.02
NAG : C_{enz}	0.4 ± 0.1	0.4 ± 0.1	0.2 ± 0.1	0.4 ± 0.1	0.4 ± 0.2	0.3 ± 0.2
C_{enz} : AP	0.3 ± 0.1	0.2 ± 0.1	0.3 ± 0.1	0.2 ± 0.1	0.2 ± 0.1	0.2 ± 0.1
Biomass	106.4 ± 13.9	46.8 ± 7.8	16.8 ± 3.8	7.1 ± 1.9	3.0 ± 1.9	1.9 ± 0.7
Biomass : soil C	15.5 ± 3.0	15.4 ± 3.3	9.6 ± 3.0	7.4 ± 3.2	6.4 ± 4.7	12.5 ± 8
Bact biomass	74.8 ± 9.9	35.0 ± 6.0	12.3 ± 2.8	4.9 ± 1.3	2.2 ± 1.4	1.3 ± 0.5
Bact biomass : soil C	11.0 ± 2.2	11.5 ± 2.5	7.1 ± 2.2	5.3 ± 2.3	4.5 ± 3.4	8.7 ± 5.5
Fung biomass	4.8 ± 0.9	1.3 ± 0.2	0.4 ± 0.1	0.2 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.0	0.02 ± 0.01
Fung biomass : soil C	0.7 ± 0.2	0.4 ± 0.1	0.2 ± 0.09	0.2 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.1

., 1 E. Ċ Table3 4



Figure 3.1: Declines in soil C, N and extractable P as a function of soil depth. Data points represent means across all soil and forest type combinations at each depth interval (n = 12, except n = 10 at 140 cm). Error bars represent standard errors of the mean.



Figure 3.2: Declines in a) total microbial biomass, b) soil C normalized microbial biomass C and c) fungal : bacterial ratios as a function of soil depth. Data points represent means across all soil and forest type combinations at each depth interval (n = 12, except n = 10 at 140 cm). Error bars represent standard errors of the mean.



Data points represent means across all soil and forest type combinations at each depth interval (n = 12, except n = 10 at 140 cm). Error bars Figure 3.3: Declines in a) total, b) soil C normalized, and c) microbial biomass C normalized enzyme activity as a function of soil depth. represent standard errors of the mean.



cellobiohydrolase, N-acetyl glucosaminidase, acid phosphatase. Data points represent log-transformed means across all soil and forest type Figure 3.4: Changes in EA_{tot} (top) and EA_{mbc} (bottom) with depth for six enzymes. Left to right: α -glucosidase, β -glucosidase, β -xylosidase, combinations at each depth interval (n = 12, except n = 10 at 140 cm). Error bars represent standard errors of the mean. Units are nmol substrate converted h⁻¹ g soil⁻¹ for EA_{tot} (top) and nmol substrate converted h⁻¹ µg⁻¹ microbial C for EA_{mbc} (bottom).



Figure 3.5: Principal components analysis of PLFA biomarkers. Seven biomarker classes were included in the PCA: gram positive bacteria, gram negative bacteria, actinobacteria, anaerobic bacteria, arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, general fungi and non-fungal eukaryotes. All biomarker biomass data was normalized to total biomass for each sample and PCA was performed using the mol fraction of the various biomarkers as independent variables. Numbers on the plot refer to depth intervals and each represents an average of the three soil \times forest replicates for a given depth. Percent variance explained by the first two principal components is written on the axes.
CHAPTER 4 : Parent material and vegetation influence bacterial community structure and nitrogen functional genes along deep tropical soil profiles at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory

Modified from paper accepted for publication as:

Stone M. M., J. Kan, and A.F. Plante (2014), Parent material and vegetation influence bacterial community structure and nitrogen functional genes along deep tropical soil profiles at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*.

Abstract:

Microbial communities mediate every step of the soil nitrogen cycle, yet the structure and associated nitrogen cycle functions of soil microbial communities remain poorly studied in tropical forests. Moreover, tropical forest soils are often many meters deep, but most studies of microbial nitrogen cycling have focused exclusively on surface soils. The objective of our study was to evaluate changes in bacterial community structure and nitrogen functional genes with depth in soils developed on two contrasting geological parent materials and two forest types that occur at different elevations at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory in northeast Puerto Rico. We excavated three soil pits to 140 cm at four different sites representing the four soil × forest combinations (n = 12), and collected samples at ten-centimeter increments from the surface to 140 cm. We used bacterial 16S rRNA gene-DGGE (denaturant gradient gel electrophoresis) to fingerprint microbial community structures, and quantitative PCR to measure the abundance of five functional genes involved in various soil nitrogen transformations: *nif* H (nitrogen fixation), *chi*A (organic nitrogen decomposition), amoA (ammonia oxidation), nirS (nitrite reduction) and nosZ (nitrous oxide reduction). Multivariate analyses of DGGE fingerprinting patterns revealed differences in bacterial community structure across the four soil \times forest types that were strongly correlated with soil pH $(r^2 = 0.69, P < 0.01)$ and nutrient stoichiometry $(r^2 \ge 0.36, P < 0.05)$. Across all soil and forest types, nitrogen functional genes declined significantly with soil depth (P < 0.001). Denitrification

genes (*nir*S and *nos*Z) accounted for the largest proportion of measured nitrogen functional genes. Measured nitrogen functional genes were positively correlated with soil carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations (P < 0.001) and all genes except *amo*A were significantly more abundant in the Inceptisol soil type compared with the Oxisol soil type (P < 0.03). Greater abundances and a stronger vertical zonation of nitrogen functional genes in Inceptisols suggest more dynamic nitrogen transformation processes in this soil type. As the first study to examine bacterial nitrogen functional gene abundances below the surface 20 cm in tropical forest soils, our work provides insight into how pedogenically-driven vertical gradients control the nitrogen-cycling capacity of soil microbial communities. While previous studies have shown evidence for redox-driven hotspots in tropical nitrogen cycling on a watershed scale, our study corroborates this finding on a molecular scale.

4.1. Introduction

Microbial communities influence biogeochemical cycles throughout soil profiles, yet information on how community structure and functional characteristics change with soil depth is scarce (*Fierer et al.*, 2003b). Tropical forest soils are often many meters deep and subsoils store substantial quantities of soil organic carbon (C) in low concentrations, contributing approximately 50% of the estimated C pool below 1 meter (*Jobbagy and Jackson*, 2000). A large proportion of Bacteria and Archaea are able to live beneath the upper few meters of the Earth's surface in the so-called "deep biosphere" (*Hoehler and Jorgensen*, 2013; *Whitman et al.*, 1998), in environments that provide only marginal energy for cell growth and division. It is thus reasonable to predict that metabolically active microbial communities exist throughout the first several meters of tropical soil profiles. A more detailed characterization of these communities and their relationship to environmental variations is warranted to understand their roles in mediating biogeochemical cycles.

In surface soils, litter inputs principally define the energy resources and nutrients available to microbial communities (*Hobbie*, 1992; *Waldrop et al.*, 2006), and as such the amount and chemical quality of litter can have large impacts on microbial community structure and functions (*Chapman and Newman*, 2010; *Nemergut et al.*, 2010). Abiotic environmental properties such as redox potential (*DeAngelis et al.*, 2010), nutrient concentrations (*Cusack et al.*, 2011), soil texture (*Rousk et al.*, 2010; *Sessitsch et al.*, 2001), pH (*Rousk et al.*, 2010) and mineralogy (*Heckman et al.*, 2009) can also affect community structure. All of these properties can change dramatically with soil depth (*Hansel et al.*, 2008; *Holden and Fierer*, 2005). Microbial biomass generally declines exponentially with soil depth, following declines in soil C availability (*Blume et al.*, 2002; *Fierer et al.*, 2003b; *Stone et al.*, 2014). Molecular studies using both fingerprinting and metagenomic techniques have indicated that community composition also changes with depth (*Agnelli et al.*, 2004; *Eilers et al.*, 2012; *Hansel et al.*, 2008). Changes in both microbial community composition and the physiochemical environment with soil depth suggests that subsoil microbial communities are specialized for their environmental niches such that their metabolic functions cannot be easily inferred from their surface counterparts (*Ghiorse and Wilson*, 1988; *Zvyagintsev*, 1994).

A key ecological function of microbial communities is their participation in all steps of the soil nitrogen (N) cycle. For instance, nitrogen fixation, organic N decomposition, nitrification and denitrification are mediated largely by soil microbes (Robertson and Groffman, 2007). Tropical forests are often characterized by a dynamic microbial N cycle, with relatively high levels of N loss via denitrification (Livingston et al., 1988; Silver et al., 2000; Vitousek and Sanford, 1986) balanced by high levels of N fixation (Cusack et al., 2009; Reed et al., 2007). While tropical forests are often considered N-rich relative to temperate forests, N deposition is increasing rapidly in the tropics (Galloway et al., 2004) and the response of soil microbial communities remains uncertain. Future changes to the N cycle of tropical forests will depend on the response of microbial N transformations to global change drivers. The environmental gradients represented by soil depth profiles may improve our understanding of the major environmental drivers of microbial N cycling. Several studies have found that abundances of N-fixing, nitrifying and denitrifying bacteria decline with depth in temperate forest soils (Mergel et al., 2001), temperate grassland soils (Marhan et al., 2011; Regan et al., 2011), agricultural soils (Forbes et al., 2009) and artificial Technosols (Hafeez et al., 2012), but the depth distribution of N-cycling bacteria has not, to our knowledge, been investigated in tropical soils. Measurements of nitrogen functional genes (NFGs) using quantitative PCR (qPCR) provide a powerful tool for evaluating microbial contributions to different stages of the N cycle. The abundance of NFGs provides insight into the biological capacity for N-cycle processes to occur, including process rates, substrate availability and population density of functional groups of microorganisms (Wallenstein and Vilgalys, 2005).

The goal of this study was to evaluate how bacterial community structure and NFGs change with soil depth in the context of landscape-scale gradients. Our study site, the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory (LCZO) in northeast Puerto Rico, offers a unique natural experiment setting for examining the influence of landscape-scale drivers (contrasting geologic parent materials and climactically-driven forest types) on microbial communities along deep soil profiles. Previous studies have found rapid rates of N cycling in this ecosystem (*Cusack et al.*, 2009; *Silver et al.*, 2005; *Templer et al.*, 2008) but research has been restricted to surface soils and above-ground vegetation. Here we coupled a molecular fingerprinting approach (DGGE) with measurements of NFGs using qPCR to

simultaneously assess changes in bacterial community structure and functions. The five NFGs we measured encode enzymes responsible for major N transformations in soils, including N fixation (*nif*H), nitrite reduction (*nir*S), nitrous oxide reduction (*nos*Z), ammonia oxidation (*amo*A) and organic N decomposition (*chiA*, *Lindsay et al.* (2010); *Wallenstein and Vilgalys* (2005)). We hypothesized that forest type would be an important control on community structure and NFGs in surface soils, as different vegetation assemblages lead to organic matter inputs of varying chemical quality. In subsoils, we predicted that community structure and NFG abundances would be relatively decoupled from forest type but that soil parent material will be more important. Finally, we predicted that the distribution of NFGs would change with depth to reflect variations in the dominant microbial processes along environmental gradients. We predicted that organic N decomposition and N fixation would be more important processes in surface soils, where organic matter is more abundant and N may be more limiting due to high plant demand. In subsoils, we predicted the importance of anaerobic metabolism and non-C energy sources would increase, which would be reflected by increased microbial denitrification activity.

4.2. Methods

4.2.1. Sample set

The samples used in this study comprise part of a larger sample set collected in January 2012 from four sites at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory (LCZO) in northeastern Puerto Rico (18°18' N, 65°50' W). A detailed descriptions of the study site and characterizations of these soils samples can be found in *Stone et al.* (2014). Briefly, the sample sites were stratified across two dominant forest types, the lower-elevation (< 600 m) Tabonuco (*Dacroydes excesla* Vahl) forest, and the intermediate to high elevation (600-800 m) Palo Colorado (*Cyrilla racemiflora* L.) forest. Within each forest, samples were collected at sites representing the two dominant geologic parent materials in the region: lower-Cretaceous volcaniclastic (VC) sediments of andesitic composition that weather to produce Oxisols and an early-Tertiary age quartz-diorite (QD) pluton known as the Rio Blanco stock (*Seiders*, 1971a,b), that weathers to produce Inceptisols. Within each soil × forest combination, pits were excavated at each of three topographic positions (one ridge top, three slope and one

valley pit), and samples were collected at discrete depth intervals from the surface A-horizon (considered 0 cm depth) to 140 cm depth or bedrock. For the present study, subsamples from the three slope pits were immediately refrigerated at 4 °C following collection, and stored at -20 °C prior to DNA extraction.

4.2.2. DNA extraction and PCR-DGGE

Genomic DNA was extracted from 0.3-gram aliquots of each soil sample using the Power Soil DNA Extraction kit (MoBio Laboratories, Carlsbad, CA, USA). DNA was quantified by spectrophotometric absorption at 260 nm, and the purity was assessed from absorbance ratios at 260/280 and 260/230 nm using an ND-2000 Nanodrop spectrometer (Thermal Scientific, Wilmington, DE).

For our community fingerprinting analysis, DNA was pooled in equimolar from the three replicates at each soil \times forest \times depth combination to reduce the number of samples and reduce variation across replicates. Due to the low-DNA amount obtained from subsoils, a nested PCR strategy was used to improve PCR amplifications. We acknowledge that nested PCR can lead to amplification biases that distort the relative abundance of taxa in a sample. This can occur due to additional cycles introduced during nested PCR, and because different primer sets can result in different levels of amplification (*Tedersoo et al.*, 2010). For this reason, nested PCR was performed on all samples to avoid introducing additional bias to subsoil samples relative to surface samples, template DNA concentrations were normalized, and total number of amplification cycles was limited to 30 (Kanagawa, 2003). In subsequent discussion of DGGE patterns, we avoid quantitative statements about the relative abundance of different taxa and focus instead on the overall structure of the community fingerprint. For PCR amplification, we chose universal primers that gave us the highest rates of amplification success in preliminary trials. The Eubacteria-specific primer set 27F/1492r (Lane, 1991) was used for 20 cycles of the primary amplification. For the secondary PCR, an additional ten rounds of amplification were performed using 1 μ l of PCR product from the first round and the 1070f (ATGGCTGTCGTCAGCT) and GC-clamped 1392r (ACGGGCGGTGTGTAC) primers (Kan et al., 2006). The PCR reactions were performed using an automated Eppendorf Mastercycler Thermal Cycler (Perkin-Elmer, Norwalk, CT).

16S rRNA gene-denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) was performed using the Dcode system (Universal Mutation Detection System, Biorad) as previously described (*Kan et al.*, 2006; *Muyzer et al.*, 1993). First, we examined changes in community structure along a single depth profile, using samples at 10 cm increments from 0–140 cm to construct a detailed picture of how major bacterial populations change with depth. Based on our findings from this analysis, we selected five depth increments (0, 20, 50, 80 and 110 cm) as representatives that span the soil profiles and ran additional DGGE gels with samples from each soil × forest type combination at these five depths. This second analysis allows us to evaluate differences in community structure across soil and forest types, while capturing the variation in community structure that exists within individual depth profiles.

Equal amounts of PCR products were loaded onto an 8% vertical polyacrylamide gel containing a 50-70% denaturing gradient made of urea and formamide. Gels were electrophoresed at 60 °C and 70 V for 16 h and visualized with SYBR Gold staining (Life Technologies, NY). Digital photographs of gel images were analyzed using GelComparII v.5.10 (Applied Maths, Austin, TX, USA). A binary data matrix (presence or absence of bands) was used for all subsequent analysis to prevent patterns from being biased by variable band intensities.

4.2.3. Band excision and sequencing of DNA fragments

Dominant and unique bands were excised from DGGE gels, re-amplified using PCR, and sequenced with no-GC clamp primers 1070f using Bigdye-terminator chemistry by ABI PRISM3100 Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Sequences were compared to the GenBank database using BLAST, and then deposited to the database under accession numbers KF937825-KF937872, KF951497-KF951502 and KJ142756-KJ142765. Because these bands represent individual taxonomic groups that we were able to isolate and do not reflect the relative abundances of different taxa in our samples, the results of this analysis are not discussed in the paper. A table containing sequenced, identifiable bands can be accessed here: Supplementary Table.

4.2.4. Quantitative PCR

Quantitative PCR (qPCR) was performed on samples from 0, 20, 50, 80, 110 and 140 cm depth to evaluate changes in N-cycling functional genes with depth and across the four soil \times forest type combinations. Unlike our fingerprinting analysis, we did not pool samples across soil pits for qPCR, but measured gene copy numbers in each replicate depth interval separately. The five genes chosen for qPCR (*nif*H, *nir*S, *nos*Z, *chi*A and *amo*A) represent major transformations in the soil N cycle (Lindsay et al., 2010; Wallenstein and Vilgalys, 2005). We followed the protocol of Wallenstein and Vilgalys (2005), with several modifications. Standard curves were constructed for each assay using DNA extracted from an organism containing the gene of interest (Table 4.1). DNA from each standard organism was amplified using the corresponding gene-specific primers, then serially diluted to obtain at least 5 concentrations that encompass the range observed in the samples (Table 4.1). For *chi*A, the primer concentration was experimentally optimized to 0.4 μ M for both forward and reverse primers (Table 4.1). Amplification was performed using an ABI 7500 Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems) and in 10 µl reactions containing 5 µl of SYBR green (Applied Biosystems), primers, $1 \times BSA$, 1 µl template DNA and PCR-grade water. A melting curve analysis was performed following each assay to ensure specificity of amplification. Copy numbers of genes present in a sample are reported per ng of total soil DNA present in the original DNA extract, yielding units of copy # ng⁻¹ soil DNA.

4.2.5. Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using R v. 3.0.2 (R CORE TEAM, 2012). The relationship between soil variables and DGGE banding patterns was analyzed using nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS). NMDS allows the graphical representation of relationships between complex microbial community data and environmental variables. NMDS analysis was performed with the "metaMDS" function in the "vegan" package. The jaccard dissimilarity index was used because it produced the lowest stress compared with other indices and is considered most appropriate for binary datasets (*Oksanen*, 2013). The "envfit" function was used to overlay significant environmental vectors on a 2-D ordination of the samples. This tool is designed to fit environmental vectors onto

an NMDS ordination, with the magnitude of the vectors proportional to the correlation between ordination and environmental variable and their direction indicating the direction of the environmental gradient (*Oksanen*, 2013). Envfit also performs statistical significance tests on R^2 values by permutation.

All NFG measurements and environmental data (i.e., C, N, etc.) were log-transformed prior to regression analysis or analysis of variance to improve normality. Type II linear regression was used to evaluate relationships among absolute NFG abundances and environmental variables using the "Imodel2" package (*Legendre*, 2013). To better evaluate bacterial contributions to the N-cycle transformations investigated in this study, we examined the relative abundances of our NFGs by normalizing each NFG to the total NFG abundance in a given sample. We acknowledge that this approach provides an incomplete understanding of microbial contributions to the N-cycle since we did not measure all possible NFGs. Nevertheless, we believe it gives us valuable information about the relative biological capacity for specific N-cycle processes to occur.

We used analysis of variance (ANOVA) of linear mixed-effects models with the "lme4" package in R (*Bates et al.*, 2012) to determine the effects of soil type, forest type, depth and their interactions on NFGs. Soil and forest type were treated as fixed effects and soil pit (representing field replication) was treated as a random effect nested within soil × forest type. Where significant effects were found, we ran post-hoc t-tests or Tukey's HSD test using the 'testInteractions' function in the "phia" package (*Rosario-Martinez*, 2012). Statistical significance was determined at the $\alpha = 0.05$ level. We corrected the P value for significance associated with an α value of 0.05 using a Bonferroni correction.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Community structures with depth

Dynamic changes in bacterial population structures with soil depth were observed as demonstrated by distinct DGGE band patterns (Figure 4.1, only Colorado Oxisol shown). Unique and dominant band numbers increased from 30 cm below the surface and decrease after 110 cm, indicating distinct bacterial populations occurred at different soil layers. NMDS provided statistical validation for these visual observations (Figure 4.2): deeper samples were typically shifted to the right along axis 1, although there was a large amount of scatter among the samples. Bacterial community structure was highly correlated (i.e., $r^2 > 0.5$) with gradients in C and N concentrations, as well as with C:N ratios and pH.

4.3.2. Community structures across soil and forest types

Following our examination of a single depth profile, we selected five depth intervals (0, 20, 50, 80 and 110 cm) that provided good coverage of the soil profile and ran a gel containing samples from each soil × forest type at each of these five depth intervals (Figure 4.3). For this comparison, we found bacterial communities were moderately separated into four groups based on forest type (Colorado vs. Tabonuco) and soil type (Inceptisol vs. Oxisol, Figure 4.4). Colorado forest microbial communities formed tight clusters compared to Tabonuco forest communities, indicating forest type plays a significant role in shaping the major bacterial community structure. Within the Inceptisol soil type, bacterial communities formed particularly distinct groups based on forest types. Bacterial communities from different soil types (Inceptisol vs. Oxisol) were separated by axis 1, but overall the two soil types did not form distinct clusters. Further, no trends in community structure with depth were evident across the soil and forest types. Statistical analyses indicated that the NMDS ordination pattern was significantly correlated with soil pH, soil C:N, C:P and N:P ratios (Table 4.2), but not correlated with total C, N or P concentrations, or any of the NFGs.

4.3.3. Quantitative PCR

For all soil \times forest combinations and depths combined, the abundance of each NFG declined significantly with depth. The relative abundance of all measured NFGs also changed with depth (Figure 4.5). Averaged across all soil \times forest types, the denitrification genes accounted for the largest fractions of measured NFGs (average contributions of 49% for *nir*S and 31% for *nos*Z), and the relative abundance of these two genes also changed the most dramatically with depth. The relative abundance of *nir*S declined from 74% at 0 cm to 15% at 140 cm, while the relative abundance of

*nos*Z increased from 14% in surface soils to 54% at 140 cm (Figure 4.5). The relative abundance of the organic N decomposition gene *chi*A gene increased from 3% in surface soils to 17% at 140 cm, while the relative abundance of the nitrogen fixation gene *nif*H ranged from 9-20% from 0 to 80 cm but declined to 1% at 140 cm. The bacterial ammonia oxidation gene *amo*A was the least abundant NFG throughout our soil profiles, accounting for < 1% of total measured NFGs at each depth interval.

Across all soil depth intervals, forest type did not have an effect on the distribution of any NFGs. However, all NFGs except *amo*A were significantly more abundant in Inceptisols compared with Oxisols. Inceptisol subsoils contained markedly higher copy numbers of the denitrification genes *nir*S and *nos*Z compared with Oxisol subsoils (Figure 4.6, P < 0.01 for soil × depth interaction). At 110 cm, *nir*S copy numbers were $12.5 \times$ higher and nosZ copy numbers $36 \times$ higher in Inceptisols compared with Oxisols. This difference was even more exaggerated at 140 cm, where *nos*Z copy numbers were $200 \times$ higher in Inceptisols compared with Oxisols, and *nir*S was entirely absent from Oxisols.

All NFGs were positively correlated with soil C, N and P concentrations. We were surprised to find that in each case, the relationship with soil P content was the strongest, with correlation coefficients ranging from 0.32-0.50 (Table 4.2). Correlation coefficients of NFGs with C and N ranged from 0.28-0.45 (Table 4.2). There were no significant correlations between NFGs and pH. Most NFGs were not correlated with soil nutrient ratios, with the exception of chiA, which was weakly but significantly correlated with soil N:P and C:P ratios (Table 4.2).

4.4. Discussion

4.4.1. Community structure

We were surprised that across the four sites we investigated, we did not observe trends in major bacterial community structure with soil depth. We expected the dramatic declines in soil C with depth to be a key driver of community structure. Rather, the variation in community structure associated with differences in resource stoichiometry and soil physio-chemical properties across the two soil and forest types (discussed below) overwhelmed any depth-driven trends. However, within an individual Colorado Oxisol depth profile we did observe distinct changes in community structure with depth that related to gradients in C and N availability. It is likely that shifting resource availability and environmental conditions (e.g., moisture and oxygen availability) throughout this soil profile selects for different dominant taxa that fill different ecological niches. For example, other studies have found the abundance of gram-positive bacteria increases with depth (Stone et al., 2014; Blume et al., 2002; Fierer et al., 2003b). Gram-positive organisms, including members of the phyla Firmicutes and Actinobacteria, are known for their ability to form endospores and survive harsh environmental conditions including desiccation (Onyenwoke et al., 2004), that may prevail in subsoils. It is likely the depth-dependent changes in community structure we observed in the Colorado Oxisols are not unique to this site. Rather, we would expect dramatically shifting resource availability to result in community shifts at any of the sites in our study. Indeed, in several other preliminary DGGE gels that focused on single soil profiles, we also observed shifts in community structure with soil depth (data not shown). However, community shifts with depth are also likely to be site-dependent: each soil profile in our study represents a different combination of available resources and environmental parameters that relate to its unique combination of geology and vegetation. Therefore, that we did not observe one overarching depth trend across our four sites may simply indicate that the bacterial communities at each site are shifting with depth in different ways.

Alternatively, it is possible that, were we to include additional replicates at each depth interval for each soil \times forest type, depth trends in community structure might have emerged across the sites. However, given the limited number of samples that can be included in a single gel and hence analyzed together, we chose to pool depth replicates for each soil and forest type rather than analyze their community structures separately. Other limitations of the DGGE technique may mask depth-dependent changes in community structure across our four sites. All PCR-based molecular approaches focus on the major components of microbial communities, possibly due to several biases introduced during amplifications, such as G+C content (*Dutton et al.*, 1993), copy number of the 16S rRNA gene (*Farrelly et al.*, 1995), primer selection and cycle numbers (*Suzuki and Giovannoni*, 1996; *Tedersoo et al.*, 2010), and chimera formation (*Kopczynski et al.*, 1994). "Universal" primers

are supposed to be able to amplify most of the phylogroups of bacteria from natural environments, however, none of these primers are able to cover all bacterial groups (*Hong et al.*, 2009). Minor groups may be beyond the detection limit and thus the richness of bacterial communities is likely underestimated (*Kisand and Wikner*, 2003). Indeed, we have only just begun to understand the diversity and distribution of bacterial communities in tropical soils and subsoils.

In addition to our single depth profile analysis, we observed clear differences in major bacterial community structure across the two soil types and two forest types investigated in this study. These effects are not necessarily separate. Rather, communities from each soil × forest combination could be visually separated by NMDS analysis. Differences in community structure across the four sites are proximally driven by differences in soil pH and resource stoichiometry. Overall, the Inceptisols were less acidic (pH = 5.6 ± 0.15) than the Oxisols (pH = 4.32 ± 0.1), and in particular, the Tabonuco Inceptisols (pH = 6.1 ± 0.21) were significantly less acidic than the Colorado Inceptisols $(pH = 4.97 \pm 0.1)$ or Oxisols. By correlating our NMDS analysis with environmental variables, we were able to verify that bacterial community structure within the Tabonuco Inceptisols was unique, and that this uniqueness was strongly related to the higher pH of these soils. pH differences across the two soil types are likely related to differences in pedogenic history across the two parent materials. The longer weathering history of the VC parent material has led to the development of Oxisol soils depleted in base cations that decrease acidity and rich in Fe and Al secondary minerals (Scatena, 1989). By contrast, the Inceptisols are primary-mineral rich soils, representing the product of rapid chemical weathering on the geologically younger QD parent material (Boccheciamp et al., 1977; Buss et al., 2005; White et al., 1998). Numerous other studies have found pH to be a key driver of bacterial community structure (Baath and Anderson, 2003; Rousk et al., 2010) or diversity (Fierer and Jackson, 2006). One reason for this may be pH-dependent differences in organo-mineral interactions. With increasing acidity below pH 6-7, Fe and Al- oxyhydroxide solubility increases and complexation of Fe³⁺ or Al³⁺ with organic matter increases (*Lindsay*, 1979; *Wagai and Mayer*, 2007). This can reduce the bioavailability of soil C, resulting in indirect effects on microbial community structure (*Heckman et al.*, 2009). Additionally, Fe³⁺ and Al³⁺ bind and occlude inorganic P (Chacon et al., 2006), leading to pH-dependent differences in P-availability, which can also drive

changes in community structure (*DeForest and Scott*, 2010; *DeForest et al.*, 2012). Although we did not observe a direct effect of P concentration on community structure, we found that total community structure was influenced by nutrient stoichiometry, including soil N:P and C:P ratios, both of which were higher in Oxisols. Overall, our results suggest differences in mineralogy and pedogenic history across the two soil types have resulted in different physio-chemical environments, including differences in acidity and P availability, with feedbacks on bacterial community structure (*Gelsomino and Azzellino*, 2011; *Heckman et al.*, 2009).

In addition to pH, separation of bacterial communities across the Tabonuco and Colorado forest types was related to differences in nutrient stoichiometry, with higher C:N, C:P and N:P ratios in the Colorado forest compared with the Tabonuco forest. The higher-elevation Colorado forest is characterized by a cooler, wetter climate than the Tabonuco forest and exhibits lower soil nutrient concentrations and higher foliar and soil C: nutrient ratios (Cusack et al., 2011; McGroddy and Silver, 2000). A previous study using ¹³C NMR found Colorado forest litter to be more highly processed and of poorer quality, as indicated by greater alkyl: O-alkyl C ratios and greater aromatic C content. Moreover, these authors found C quality differences can be related to differences in microbial community structure in surface soils (Cusack et al., 2011). Our study is thus in agreement with previous work showing an effect of soil resource quality on community structure. We were surprised to find that both surface and subsoil bacterial communities could be differentiated according forest type. In subsoils, organic carbon is expected to be highly microbially processed and to compositionally reflect microbial biomass rather than fresh plant material (Kramer and Gleixner, 2008; Rumpel and Kogel-Knabner, 2011), therefore we did not expect differences in litter quality or nutrient stoichiometry across the two forests to influence subsoil communities. However, recent research has shown root C inputs exert a dramatic effect on subsoil C cycling through stimulation of microbial activity (Fontaine et al., 2007). Differences in rooting depth and belowground C allocation patterns among the forests could have a profound impact on the structure of subsoil bacterial communities.

4.4.2. Nitrogen functional genes

The decline in all functional genes with depth indicates that N transformations are occurring primarily in the surface layers of the soil profile. While the vertical distribution of N-cycle processes is rarely reported in the literature, this result is not surprising given the orders of magnitude greater microbial biomass (Stone et al., 2014) and soil C and N concentrations in surface soils. Nevertheless, our finding that NFG abundance declines sharply with depth may have important physiological implications. Our absolute NFG measurements, which are reported per ng of soil DNA, are analogous to specific metabolic activity measurements (i.e., activity per unit microbial biomass) that are commonly used when reporting CO₂ respiration or enzyme activities (Barriuso et al., 1988; Trasar-Cepeda et al., 2008). The decline in the "specific" abundance of NFGs with depth may speak to a general decrease in metabolic activity as energy becomes increasingly scarce (Fierer et al., 2003a,b; Hoehler and Jorgensen, 2013). The metabolic processes reflected in the functional genes we measured included anaerobic respiration (nosZ and nirS), resource acquisition (nifH and chiA) and energy acquisition via substrate oxidation (amoA). If investment in any of these processes were too resource-costly in a low-C subsoil environment, we would expect microbes to decrease their energetic investment. For some genes, it is also possible that we reached the detection limit of qPCR due to the low DNA concentrations present in the reaction; a consequence of low concentrations of extractable DNA in deep soils. For instance, in surface soils the *amoA* gene only represented 0.07% of total measured NFGs. Bacterial ammonia oxidation genes may still be present in subsoils, but the concentrations in our deep soil DNA samples may have been too low to overcome the detection limit of qPCR. We also acknowledge that our exclusive focus on bacterial NFGs does not reflect the total biological potential for N cycling. Chitin degradation is commonly associated with fungi as well as bacteria (Hodge et al., 1995; Talbot and Treseder, 2010) and in addition to ammonia oxidizing Bacteria (AOB), ammonia oxidizing Archaea (AOA) can contribute significantly to nitrification (Chen et al., 2008; Leininger et al., 2006) in many soils. Recent studies have shown that AOA have a broader range of habitats and may be the predominant ammonia-oxidizing populations in most natural environments (Stahl and de la Torre, 2012). In addition, there may be N transformation pathways we did not investigate that are important for tropical soils. For example,

dissimilatory nitrate (NO₃⁻) or nitrite (NO₂⁻) reduction to ammonium (NH₄⁺), or DNRA, can be an important process for retaining N in humid tropical forest soils (*Silver et al.*, 2001; *Templer et al.*, 2008), as fluctuating redox conditions can lead to high rates of DNRA during periods of low oxygen availability (*Silver et al.*, 2001, 2005).

By examining the relative abundance of NFGs we were able to investigate trends in bacterial community investment in major N cycle processes that would otherwise be masked by the large declines in all NFGs with depth. The low relative abundance of *nif* H and its declining relative abundance with depth is consistent with previous studies which have reported N₂-fixing bacteria occur primarily in the upper soil layer and constitute 5% of the total bacterial population (Mergel et al., 2001). N_2 fixation is likely to be more prevalent in surface soils due to the abundance of heterotrophic decomposers whose N requirements are high relative to the plant tissues being decomposed (Roper and Ladha, 1995; Torres et al., 2005). The trend toward increased chiA with depth may speak to an increasing importance of organic N sources in deep soils. This pattern fits with recent work on a related set of soils by Stone et al. (2014). These authors found that N-acetyl glucosaminidase, an enzyme involved in chitin degradation, exhibited high specific activity in subsoils. Given that soil P concentrations increased with depth relative to C and N, increased chitinase production in subsoils may be the result of alleviated P limitation, as has been demonstrated in other studies (Olander and Vitousek, 2000; Stone et al., 2013). The most dramatic shift was the decline in nirS relative abundance from 74% in surface soils to 15% in subsoils and concurrent increase in nosZ relative abundance, from 15% in surface soils to 54% in subsoils. This shift may speak to a vertical stratification of the denitrification process along an "oxidation gradient" within soil profiles. Each step in the denitrification pathway is inducible in response to O_2 partial pressure, C and substrate availability. Because enzyme production is sequential, there is usually a lag of hours to days between the production of an intermediate substrate and its consumption by the next enzyme in the pathway (Robertson and Groffman, 2007). Higher relative abundances of nirS (representing reduction of nitrite to nitric oxide) in shallower soils and increasing abundance of nosZ (representing the final reduction of nitrous oxide to N₂) with depth may reflect the increased reduction of mineral N substrates as they are mobilized down the soil profile.

Greater abundance of all NFGs in Inceptisols compared with Oxisols suggests a more dynamic soil N cycle in Inceptisols, with potentially greater N losses in subsoils balanced by greater rates of N fixation. Nitrogen fixation is an energetically expensive process, requiring large C inputs per mole of N fixed. The 150% greater abundance of the *nif* H gene in Inceptisols compared with Oxisols is strong evidence of greater microbial N demand on the younger soils. We propose two potential explanations for this pattern. Firstly, high N fixation rates could balance greater N losses from denitrification and export. The coarse texture and high conductivity of Inceptisol soils results in greater subsurface water penetration, fluctuating subsurface redox conditions and frequent inputs of dissolved N to subsoils (McDowell et al., 1992; McSwiney et al., 2001). By contrast, dense clays in the Oxisols impede subsurface infiltration and relatively dry, oxic conditions prevail beneath the rooting zone (McDowell et al., 1992). With distinct redox zones (McSwiney et al., 2001), Inceptisol subsoils may provide a more favorable environment for denitrification compared with their Oxisol counterparts. Previous research has shown greater stream NO_3^- export in the QD watershed (Mc-Dowell et al., 1992; McSwiney et al., 2001), which has been attributed to high nitrification activity in the stream banks. Higher N loss rates due to leaching and stream export in Inceptisol subsoils could produce a feedback on surface N-cycle processes, increasing microbial N demand and ultimately stimulating N-fixation. Secondly, given that we found strong correlations between each NFG and extractable P concentrations, high N demand in Inceptisols could be reflective of higher P availability resulting from differences in mineralogy, texture and weathering rates between the two soils. Although we did not detect differences in total extractable P between the two soil types, it is difficult to draw direct linkages between chemically-extractable and microbially-available P (Johnson et al., 2003). However, we did observe lower soil C:P and N:P ratios, indicating relatively higher P availability in Inceptisols. Other studies in Amazonian forest soils have found increasing total P and strong-acid extractable P with increasing clay content, but larger labile P pools in sandier soils (Silver et al., 2000; Tiessen et al., 1994). These two explanations for greater bacterial N-cycling potential in Inceptisols are not mutually exclusive; rather, the same physiochemical features of Inceptisols that result in increased N export may also ameliorate P limitation, setting the stage for a more active N-cycling microbial community.

4.5. Conclusions

We found differences in dominant bacterial community structure across two soil and two forest types within the upper 1.4 meters of tropical soil profiles. Contrary to our initial hypothesis that forest type would be the primary driver of community structure in surface soils and soil type would be a more important driver in subsoils, bacterial communities could be differentiated according to soil and forest type across all depth intervals. These differences in community structure were related to differences in soil pH and resource stoichiometry across the four sites. We also found evidence for shifts in community structure with depth that relate to gradients in bulk soil resource availability (i.e., C & N). While concentrations of all NFGs declined with depth, corresponding with declines in C and nutrient concentrations, shifting relative abundances indicate that N-fixation occurs largely in surface soils, while denitrification and organic N decomposition are more important processes in subsoils. The greater overall abundance of NFGs in Inceptisols and their vertical distribution suggest that greater N inputs are balanced by greater N losses in the sandier soil that sits on a younger, more rapidly weathering parent material. Overall, both bacterial community structure and functional attributes are influenced by soil type and depth, underscoring the importance of pedogenically-driven vertical gradients in controlling microbial processes. Our study shows that in tropical forests, bacterial communities exhibit the capacity to perform N-cycle transformations in deeper parts of the soil profile than have previously been measured, and variable subsurface redox conditions may mediate these transformations.

amplicon lengths, anneali	ng temperatures and standa	ırd curve ranges.			
Gene	nifH	amoA	nirS	nosZ	chiA
Function	nitrogen fixation	ammonia oxidation	nitrite reduction	nitrous oxide reduction	organic N decomposition
Organism (ATCC (1)	Bradyrhizobium	Nitrosomonas	Paracoccus	Paracoccus	Serratia
or NRLL (2) number)	japonicum (B-4361)	europea (19,718*)	denitrificans (B-3785)	denitrificans (B-3785)	marcescens (B-2544)
Forward primer (µM)	AAAGGYGGWATCG	GGGGTTTCTACTG	CCTAYTGGCCGCC	CGYTGTTCMTCGA	CGTCGACATCGAC
	GYAARTCCACCAC (0.5)	GTGGT (0.4)	RCART (0.5)	CAGCCAG (0.5)	TGGGARTDBCC (0.4)
Reverse primer (µM)	TTGTTSGCSGCRT	CCCCTCKGSAAAG	CGTTGAACTTRCC	CATGTGCAGNGCR	ACGCCGGTCCAGC
	ACATSGCCATCAT (0.5)	CCTTCTTC (0.4)	GGT (0.5)	TGGCAGAA (0.5)	CNCKNCCRTA (0.4)
Amplicon length (bp)	432	592	1127	706	400
Annealing temperature (°C) 53	54	51.5	52	57
Standard curve range	10^{6} -10 ⁰	10^{5} - 10^{0}	10 ⁷ -10 ¹	10^{5} -10 ⁰	10^{5} - 10^{0}
(copy no.)					
Citation	Wallenstein and	Wallenstein and	Wallenstein and	Wallenstein and	Lindsay et al.
	Vilgalys (2005)	Vilgalys (2005)	Vilgalys (2005)	Vilgalys (2005)	(2010)

Table 4.1: Nitrogen cycle genes investigated in this study, their functions, cultures used for positive controls, forward and reverse primers,

Table 4.2: R^2 values and P values for permutation analysis (NMDS ordination) or type II regressions between NFGs and environmental variables. Environmental correlations with the NMDS ordination including both soil types and forest types across five depth intervals (Figure 3) are displayed here. Values in bold represent statistically significant correlations (P < 0.05).

Variable	NMDS	chiA	nirS	nosZ	amoA	nifH
Carbon	0.21, 0.13	0.42, < 0.001	0.35, < 0.001	0.36, < 0.001	0.28, < 0.001	0.29, < 0.001
Nitrogen	0.13, 0.29	0.45, < 0.001	0.33, < 0.001	0.39, < 0.001	0.30, < 0.001	0.32, < 0.001
Phosphorus	0.01, 0.89	0.47, < 0.001	0.50, < 0.001	0.48, < 0.001	0.32, < 0.001	0.39, < 0.001
pH	0.69, 0.001	0.01, 0.47	0.03, 0.17	0.04, 0.12	0.0, 0.58	0.08, 0.09
C:N	0.36, 0.02	0.02, 0.26	0.004, 0.61	0.002, 0.70	0.006, 0.53	<0.001, 0.97
N:P	0.46, 0.004	0.06, 0.05	0.04, 0.11	0.03, 0.18	0.04, 0.11	0.03, 0.18
C:P	0.59, 0.001	0.07, 0.03	0.02, 0.22	0.03, 0.17	0.05, 0.06	0.02, 0.24



Figure 4.1: DGGE fingerprinting patterns for a Colorado Oxisol depth profile. Soil depth is written above each sample lane. Each sample lane contains PCR product from DNA pooled from three site replicates.



Figure 4.2: Nonmetric multidimensional scaling ordination plot of the DGGE fingerprinting patterns represented in 4.1. Circles represent individual community fingerprints, which are labeled on the plot by their corresponding depth interval. The length and position of the arrows on the plots indicates correlation strengths and directions of significant environmental variables (P < 0.05) with the microbial community. Solution NMDS stress = 0.14.



Figure 4.3: DGGE fingerprinting patterns for a Colorado Oxisol depth profile. Soil depth is written above each sample lane. Each sample lane contains PCR product from DNA pooled from three site replicates.



Figure 4.4: Nonmetric multidimensional scaling ordination plot of the DGGE fingerprinting pattern represented in 4.3, across two soil and two forest types for five depth increments (0, 20, 50, 80 and 110 cm). Symbols represent individual community fingerprints. C-Dys = Colorado Inceptisol, C-Ox = Colorado Oxisol, T-Dys = Tabonuco Inceptisol, T-Ox = Tabonuco Oxisol. 75% confidence ellipses are drawn around the four soil × forest types using the "dataEllipse" function in the calibrate package in R (*Graffelman*, 2013). The length and position of the arrows on the plot indicates correlation strength and direction of significant environmental variables (P < 0.05) with the microbial community. Solution NMDS stress = 0.16.



Figure 4.5: Changes in relative abundance of the five measured NFGs as a function of soil depth. NFG name is written above the x-axis and soil depth is written on the y-axis. Data points represent means across both soil types and both forest types at each depth interval (n = 12) and error bars represent standard errors of the mean.



Figure 4.6: Changes in absolute abundance of NFGs as a function of soil depth, separated according to soil type. NFG name is written above the x-axis and soil depth is written on the y-axis. Solid lines indicate Inceptisols and dashed lines indicate Oxisols. Data points represent log-transformed means across both forest types at each depth interval (n = 6) and error bars represent standard errors of the mean. Units are copy # gene ng⁻¹ soil DNA.

CHAPTER 5 : Changes in phosphatase kinetics with soil depth across a variable tropical landscape

Modified from paper previously published as:

Stone M. M., A.F. Plante (2014), Changes in phosphatase kinetics with soil depth across a variable tropical landscape. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *71*, 61-67. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2014.01.006

Abstract:

Phosphatase enzymes play a key role cycling phosphorus from organic to plant-available pools, particularly in tropical soils where inorganic phosphorus is often limited. However, most studies of phosphatase activity have focused only on surface soils, despite the large quantities of carbon and nutrients stored in tropical subsoils. The goal of this study was to determine how acid phosphatase kinetic parameters change with depth across two parent materials (represented by Oxisols and an Inceptisols) and two distinct forests (lower and upper montane) at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory in northeast Puerto Rico. We collected samples from five soil pits at each of four soil × forest types, and measured apparent phosphatase kinetic parameters $({}^{App}V_{max}$ and ${}^{App}K_m$) and soil nutrients at 0, 20, 50, 80, 110 and 140 cm depths. Across all sites, App V_{max} declined 97% and $^{App}K_m$ declined 85% from the surface to 140 cm depth. The ratio of $^{App}V_{max}$ to $^{App}K_m$ (i.e., K_a) did not change through the first meter of soil profiles but was significantly reduced by 50% at 140 cm. Total carbon, nitrogen and extractable phosphorus all declined exponentially with depth. carbon concentrations and App Vmax were both significantly greater in Oxisols compared with Inceptisols, and in the higher elevation montane forest compared to the lower elevation forest. The scaling relationship we observe between $^{App}V_{max}$ and $^{App}K_m$ is common for environmental systems, although the degree of correlation in our study ($R^2 = 0.48$) is unusually high, suggesting these parameters are both driven by changes in energy and nutrient availability along depth profiles. However, the consistency of K_a with depth indicates that overall catalytic capacity of phosphatase is

maintained across a range of substrate concentrations. The larger variability in $^{App}V_{max}$ compared with $^{App}K_m$ suggests microorganisms exert more control over phosphatase production than substrate availability. Our findings indicate that subsoil microbial communities are not metabolically dormant, but rather contribute to P-cycling at rates comparable to their surface counterparts. Further research on ecology of microorganisms in resource-limited tropical subsoils is warranted to better understand microbial contributions to biogeochemical cycles throughout tropical soil profiles.

5.1. Introduction

Phosphorus (P) availability can limit net primary production (NPP) in tropical forests where rockderived inorganic phosphate is depleted or geochemically bound (*Cleveland et al.*, 2011; *Davidson et al.*, 2007; *Vitousek et al.*, 2010). In such ecosystems, plant-available P may be largely controlled by microbial mineralization of organic P (*Harrison*, 1987; *Johnson et al.*, 2003; *Turner and Engelbrecht*, 2011). Recent research indicates that organic P in tropical soils occurs mainly as phosphate monoesters and phosphate diesters (*Turner and Engelbrecht*, 2011), which can be mineralized by extracellular phosphatase enzymes (*Acosta-Martinez and Tabatabai*, 2011). The activity of these phosphatases therefore plays a key role in regulating plant and microbial P availability in tropical soils.

Numerous researchers have measured soil phosphatase activity (*Hui et al.*, 2013), and an inverse relationship with inorganic P availability is well established (*Clarholm*, 1993; *Olander and Vitousek*, 2000; *Sinsabaugh et al.*, 2008; *Treseder and Vitousek*, 2001). However, most studies have focused exclusively on surface soils where organic P, carbon (C) and other nutrients are relatively abundant. A wide range of biotic and abiotic factors can influence the activity and kinetic behavior of extracellular enzymes, including soil resource (C and nutrient) availability (*Allison and Vitousek*, 2005; *DeForest et al.*, 2012; *Sinsabaugh et al.*, 2008), microbial biomass (*Trasar-Cepeda et al.*, 2008), soil texture (*Allison and Jastrow*, 2006; *Marx et al.*, 2005), mineral association (*Allison*, 2006), moisture (*Baldrian et al.*, 2010; *Steinweg et al.*, 2012), pH (*Rao et al.*, 2000) and O₂ availability (*Hall and Silver*, 2013). All of these soil properties can change with soil depth (*Fierer et al.*, 2003b; *Rumpel and Kogel-Knabner*, 2011; *Spielvogel et al.*, 2008). Thus, microbial contributions to P cycling may also vary widely with depth in tropical soil profiles.

Kinetic parameters provide a more complete description of an enzyme's behavior than potential activities, which are typically measured at a single saturating substrate concentration (*German et al.*, 2011). These kinetic parameters can be used to improve uncertainty analysis and integrate microbial processes into biogeochemical models (*Allison et al.*, 2010; *Wieder et al.*, 2013). The kinetics of simple enzymes consisting of a single active site and substrate are described as a hyperbolic function

by the Michaelis-Menten equation:

$$V = [V_{max} \times S] / [K_m + S]$$

where V is the reaction rate, S is the substrate concentration, V_{max} is the maximum rate of substrate conversion, and K_m , the half-saturation constant, is defined as the substrate concentration at which the rate of substrate conversion is $1/2 V_{max}$ (*Michaelis and Menten*, 1913; *Tabatabai and Bremner*, 1971). K_m is also an indicator of enzyme-substrate binding affinity. In soils, these parameters are estimated for a pool of enzymes produced by many different organisms (*Glazer and Nikaido*, 1995; *Zimmerman et al.*, 2013), which may vary considerably in their individual kinetic properties (*Marx et al.*, 2005). Parameters estimated in soils are thus considered apparent V_{max} ($^{App}V_{max}$) and apparent K_m ($^{App}K_m$), with $^{App}V_{max}$ being a measure of enzyme abundance and $^{App}K_m$ being a measure of environmental substrate concentration (*Chrost*, 1991; *Sinsabaugh and Shah*, 2010). Ratios of $^{App}V_{max}$ to $^{App}K_m$ combine enzyme pool size and substrate concentration into a single metric. This metric has been defined as either the specificity constant K_a (*Esti et al.*, 2011; *Moscatelli et al.*, 2012) or the substrate turnover rate S_t (*Crottereau and Delmas*, 1998; *Sinsabaugh and Shah*, 2010). Larger values of K_a or S_t indicate superior catalytic performance.

Tropical subsoils store substantial quantities of C and nutrients (*Jobbagy and Jackson*, 2000). Extracellular phosphatases in tropical subsoils may therefore make an important contribution to P cycling, but we lack a basic understanding of their activity and kinetic behavior. The objective of this study was to evaluate how the kinetic parameters ($^{App}V_{max}$ and $^{App}K_m$) of acid phosphatase change with depth in the context of landscape-scale gradients in parent material and forest type present at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory. We predicted that $^{App}V_{max}$ and $^{App}K_m$ would decline with depth in accordance with declines in resource (C and nutrients) availability. Finally, we sought to determine whether the specificity constant (K_a) would shift (indicating an increase or decrease in overall catalytic performance) or remain constant with depth.

5.2. Methods

5.2.1. Sample set

The samples used in this study comprise part of a larger sample set collected in January 2012 from four sites at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory (LCZO) in northeastern Puerto Rico (18°18' N, $65^{\circ}50'$ W). A detailed descriptions of the study site and characterizations of these soils samples can be found in Stone et al. (2014). Briefly, the sample sites were stratified across two dominant forest types, the lower-elevation (< 600 m) Tabonuco (Dacroydes excesla Vahl) forest, and the intermediate to high elevation (600-800 m) Palo Colorado (Cyrilla racemiflora L.) forest. Within each forest, samples were collected at sites representing the two dominant geologic parent materials in the region: lower-Cretaceous volcaniclastic (VC) sediments of andesitic composition that weather to produce Oxisols and an early-Tertiary age quartz-diorite (QD) pluton known as the Rio Blanco stock (Seiders, 1971a,b), that weathers to produce Inceptisols. Within each soil × forest combination, pits were excavated at each of three topographic positions (one ridge top, three slope and one valley pit), and samples were collected at discrete depth intervals from the surface A-horizon (considered 0 cm depth) to 140 cm depth or bedrock. For the present study, these five pits were considered field replicates for each soil × forest type. We chose six depth intervals for enzyme assays: 0, 20, 50, 80, 110 and 140 cm, resulting in a total of 30 samples per soil × forest combination. Samples were field-fresh sieved to 5 mm to homogenize, and kept frozen at -20 °C until enzyme analysis.

5.2.2. Enzyme assays

Acid phosphatase activity was measured according to the protocol of (*Saiya-Cork et al.*, 2002) with modifications by *German et al.* (2011). Briefly, 0.5 grams of field-moist soil was homogenized in 62.5 ml of sodium acetate buffer using a hand blender. The pH of the sodium acetate buffer was experimentally varied to approximate the pH of the soil samples being assayed, with pH values ranging from 3.7 to 5.0. For each sample, we measured enzyme activity in a 96-well microplate. In each microplate, we performed six replicate assays at each of eight substrate concentrations to construct

Michaelis-Menten curves. The substrate concentration gradient was varied by depth because acid phosphatase activity declined exponentially with depth and preliminary tests indicated that activity was inhibited in many deep soils if assayed using the same concentration gradients as surface soils. Typically, we used a concentration gradient of 4 - 400 µM for surface soils (0 - 20 cm), 1-100 µM for shallow subsoils (50 - 80 cm) and 0.5 - 50 μ M for deep subsoils (110 - 140 cm). Each assay well contained 200 µl of soil homogenate and 50 µl of substrate solution (diluted with deionized water to achieve the appropriate concentration). Each microplate also contained substrate blank columns receiving 50 μ l of substrate diluted to the same eight concentrations and 200 μ l of sodium acetate buffer. Soil homogenate blanks were also measured simultaneously. Plates were incubated at 25 °C for 4 hours (optimal duration of assay determined prior to experiment). After incubation, we added 10 µl of 1M NaOH to each well to terminate enzyme activity and immediately measured fluorescence values at 365 nm excitation and 450 nm emission using a fluorescence microplate reader (Synergy 2 Multi-Mode Microplate Reader, BioTek, Winooski, VT). From fluorescence values, we calculated enzyme activity as the rate of substrate converted in nmol g^{-1} soil hr^{-1} (German et al., 2011). We estimated $^{App}V_{max}$ and $^{App}K_m$ values for each sample by fitting the Michaelis-Menten equation to the activity values using non-linear regression in R (R CORE TEAM, 2012). We also calculated the specificity constant (K_a) as the ratio of $^{App}V_{max}$ and $^{App}K_m$.

5.2.3. Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using R (R CORE TEAM, 2012). Phosphatase kinetic parameters and soil variables were log-transformed prior to statistical analyses to meet the assumptions of normality. Type II standard major axis (SMA) regression was used to evaluate relationships among log-transformed kinetic parameters and soil properties using the "Imodel2" package (*Legendre*, 2013). Type II regression is necessary when the two variables of interest are random because in this case least squares (Type I) regression will underestimate the slope of the linear relationship between the variables. To determine the effects of soil type, forest type, depth and their interactions on phosphatase kinetics parameters, we used analysis of variance (ANOVA) of linear mixed effects models using the lme4 package in R (*Bates et al.*, 2012). Soil and forest type were treated as fixed effects, soil pit (representing field replication) was treated as a random effect nested within soil × forest type, and depth was treated as a repeated measure within each pit. For several soil pits used in this analysis, we did not have the deepest depth interval (140 cm) represented; the design was therefore unbalanced. We determined Greenhouse-Geisser epsilon correction factors for the model and residual degrees of freedom to correct F ratios and P values for model terms including depth (*Greenhouse and Geisser*, 1959). Where significant effects were found, we ran post-hoc t-tests or Tukey's HSD test using the 'testInteractions' function in the "phia" package (*Rosario-Martinez*, 2012). An alpha value of 0.05 was used as the cutoff for significant effects. We corrected the P value for significance associated with an alpha level of 0.05 using a Bonferroni correction.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Phosphatase kinetics

Both ${}^{App}V_{max}$ and ${}^{App}K_m$ declined exponentially with depth (Figure 5.1, P < 0.001). ${}^{App}V_{max}$ declined 97% from the surface to 140 cm. There were significant main effects of soil and forest type on ${}^{App}V_{max}$ (Table 5.1). Averaged across all depths, ${}^{App}V_{max}$ was 65% higher in Oxisols (mean = 2155 nmol g⁻¹ h⁻¹) compared with Inceptisols (mean = 1308 nmol g⁻¹ h⁻¹), and 34% higher in the Colorado forest (mean = 1982 nmol g⁻¹ h⁻¹) compared with the Tabonuco forest (mean = 1478 nmol h⁻¹ g⁻¹). ${}^{App}K_m$ declined 85% from the surface to 140 cm (P <0.001), but there were no significant effects of soil type, forest type or their interactions (Table 5.1).

There was a statistically significant reduction in K_a with depth (Table 5.1, P = 0.01), but post-hoc pairwise comparisons indicated that differences were only significant between the surface and the deepest samples (140 cm). Further investigation with linear regression suggested that K_a did not decline substantially with depth across the entire dataset (slope = -0.006, P = 0.002, R² = 0.07). When examined separately for each soil × forest type, K_a declined with depth in Tabonuco Oxisols (slope = -0.02, P < 0.001, R² = 0.38), but not in Colorado Oxisols (slope = -0.004, P = 0.19, R² = 0.03) or Inceptisols (slope = -0.001, P = 0.56, R² = 0). K_a differed significantly between soil types, but not forest types. Averaged across all depths, K_a was twice as high in Oxisols (205 h⁻¹) compared with Inceptisols (106 h^{-1}).

 $^{App}V_{max}$ and $^{App}K_m$ were significantly correlated with each other (Figure 5.2, $R^2 = 0.48$, P < 0.001) and with soil nutrients (i.e., C, N and P, Table 5.2). In general, $^{App}V_{max}$ was more strongly correlated with soil C, N and P concentrations than $^{App}K_m$. Both $^{App}V_{max}$ and $^{App}K_m$ exhibited a stronger correlation with the NaHCO₃- extractable P pool than either NaOH-extractable P or total extractable P. K_a was weakly but significantly correlated with C and N concentrations and NaHCO₃- extractable P, but not with total extractable P or NaOH-extractable P (Table 5.2).

5.4. Discussion

One of the most striking results of this study is the strong positive relationship between $^{App}V_{max}$, $^{App}K_m$, and soil nutrient concentrations. The scaling of $^{App}V_{max}$ and $^{App}K_m$ has been noted by other researchers (Chrost, 1991; Sinsabaugh and Shah, 2012; Williams, 1973). Although the original Michaelis-Menten model as applied to simple enzymes assumes V_{max} and K_m are independent, there are both ecological and methodological reasons why this assumption may not apply to $^{App}V_{max}$ and $^{App}K_m$ measured in soils. In ecological systems, apparent kinetic parameters represent a pool of enzymes produced by many different organisms that vary in their individual kinetic behavior (Williams, 1973). As such, $^{App}K_m$ is found to best describe environmental substrate availability rather than enzyme-substrate binding affinity (Sinsabaugh and Shah, 2010). Higher concentrations of substrate in the environment will stimulate microorganisms to produce more enzymes, thus increasing $^{App}V_{max}$ (Sinsabaugh and Shah, 2010, 2012). That $^{App}V_{max}$ and $^{App}K_m$ are both related to substrate concentration is evidenced by the strong correlations we observed between both parameters and soil C, N and NaHCO₃-extractable P (a measure of labile, microbially available P, (Johnson et al., 2003)) concentrations. Additionally, $^{App}V_{max}$ and $^{App}K_m$ may scale due to shifts in community structure along the environmental gradient represented by our depth profiles. Different communities of microorganisms can produce isoenzymes that vary in their kinetic properties (Farrell et al., 1994; Khalili et al., 2011; Knight and Dick, 2004; Tabatabai et al., 2002). In subsoils, where energy and nutrients are expected to strongly constrain microbial growth, natural selection may lead to a more efficient microbial community that produces enzymes with higher substrate affinities (lower K_m values) so that fewer enzymes need to be produced overall (lowering V_{max}). Finally, as substrate concentrations in soil decrease, less competitive interactions occur between natural and artificial substrates used in assays, resulting in less artificial substrate required to achieve 1/2 V_{max} (*Chrost*, 1991). Nevertheless, a recent review of phosphatase kinetic parameters found only a weak correlation between V_{max} and K_m (*Hui et al.*, 2013). It is likely that we observed a strong correlation between $^{App}V_{max}$ and $^{App}K_m$ because our depth profiles represent a gradient of substrate concentrations that spans several orders of magnitude.

A question raised by this study is why $^{App}V_{max}$ declines more rapidly with depth than $^{App}K_m$, resulting in apparent declines in K_a with depth. Similar to the relationship between $A^{pp}V_{max}$ and $^{App}K_m$ discussed above, there are both ecological and methodological reasons for a slower decline in $^{App}K_m$ with decreasing substrate concentrations. Using a mathematical model, Williams (1973) demonstrated in a multispecies system where V_{max} and K_m were able to vary across species, the level of variability in $^{App}K_m$ values increased as ambient substrate concentration decreased. Therefore, it is possible that $^{App}K_m$ overestimates true K_m values in subsoils due to increasing measurement uncertainty. Additionally, the fraction of mineral associated organic materials, including enzymes, may increase with soil depth (Eusterhues et al., 2003; Taylor et al., 2002). Researchers have reported both positive and negative effects of mineral association on $^{App}K_m$ (Gianfreda et al., 1992; Kelleher et al., 2004; Marx et al., 2005; Rao et al., 2000; Sarkar et al., 1989), probably because of the numerous ways in which mineral interactions can alter enzyme behavior. Mineral association can distort an enzyme's polymeric configuration, partially mask the enzyme's active site, or alter electrostatic interactions, all leading to increased or decreased substrate affinity (Gianfreda et al., 1991; Kelleher et al., 2004; Quiquampoix, 2000). Lastly, declines in App V_{max} relative to $^{App}K_m$ may reflect downregulation of enzyme production in response to changing stoichiometric requirements (Sinsabaugh and Shah, 2012). In our sites, the soil C:P ratio declines 49% with depth. Relatively greater available P in subsoils could cause microbes to shift resources away from P acquisition. Overall, the ecological ramifications of $^{App}V_{max}$ declining more rapidly than $^{App}K_m$ may be better expressed by the K_a parameter. We observed evidence for an apparent decrease of phosphatase catalytic performance in some subsoils (i.e., a decline in K_a ,). Declines in K_a with depth suggest that subsoil microbes receive less benefit from investment in phosphatase production than their surface counterparts. However, in three of the four soil × forest types, K_a was invariant with depth and in the one treatment where K_a declined (Tabonuco Oxisols) the decline was driven by several of the deepest soil samples. We conclude that catalytic performance remains constant across a wide range of substrate concentrations represented in our depth profiles but may be reduced at extremely low substrate concentrations.

Although we focused this study largely on depth trends, our sampling design was intended to capture as much edaphic variation as possible. We did so by sampling across two soil types underlain by distinct parent materials and two forest types that occur at different elevations corresponding with climactic differences. Larger App Vmax values in the Colorado forest and in Oxisols compared with Inceptisols are consistent with greater C concentrations in these soils. Furthermore, the correspondingly higher K_a values in Oxisols compared with Inceptisols suggest increased catalytic capacity. In Oxisols, larger enzyme pools reflected in App Vmax and higher substrate turnover rates reflected in K_a indicate increased microbial cycling of organic P when compared with Inceptisols. Although our P-extraction procedure did not separate organic and inorganic P pools, it is likely that mineral P is unavailable to microorganisms in Oxisols due to high concentrations of Fe-oxides that bind and occlude P under acid conditions (Chacon et al., 2006). The Inceptisols occur on a geologically younger parent material experiencing rapid chemical weathering (Buss et al., 2010; White et al., 1998) and generally lack the secondary clay minerals responsible for adsorbing inorganic P. The various mechanisms and environmental conditions leading to P-occlusion underscore the challenge associated with defining microbially-available P pools and making inferences about ecosystem level nutrient limitation (Johnson et al., 2003).

5.5. Conclusions

Phosphatase activity plays a key role in delivering P to both plants and microorganisms in tropical soils, but most studies have only characterized phosphatase kinetic properties in relatively nutrientrich surface soils. To our knowledge, this is the first study that systematically investigates changes in phosphatase kinetic parameters as a function of depth in a tropical forest. We found a decline in
both ${}^{App}V_{max}$ and ${}^{App}K_m$ with depth that is consistent with vertical gradients in substrate availability. The correlation we observed between ${}^{App}V_{max}$ and ${}^{App}K_m$ is unusually strong but fits with the current understanding of the meaning of these ecological parameters. The larger variation in ${}^{App}V_{max}$ across soil, forest and depth gradients suggests greater plasticity in this parameter compared with ${}^{App}K_m$. Finally, although subsoil enzymes may perform less efficiently than surface enzymes at very low substrate concentrations, phosphatase catalytic capacity as measured by K_a is generally consistent across orders of magnitude changes in energy and resource availability. While on a per-gram soil basis subsoil microbial communities cycle small quantities of P compared with surface communities, P cycling on a per-unit microorganism basis may be equally dynamic.

Soil Order	Forest Type	Depth (cm)	n	$^{App}V_{max}$ (nmol h ⁻¹	$g^{-1} g^{-1}) A^{pp} K_m (\mu \text{mol } L^{-1})$	Ka (hr ⁻¹)
Inceptisol	Colorado	0	5	5730 ±2200	38.7 ±6.6	131 ±35.2
		20	5	1220 ± 230	19.4 ± 2.3	72.6 ± 20.4
		50	5	1140 ± 467	12.1 ± 3.8	91.6 ±19.8
		80	5	654 ±276	6.6 ±3.3	160 ± 54.7
		110	4	354 ± 70	5.3 ± 2.2	133 ±66.6
		140	3	167 ±73	4.1 ± 1.8	40.2 ± 10.3
Inceptisol	Tabonuco	0	5	3430 ± 381	41.7 ± 5.0	85.4 ± 10.8
		20	5	1210 ± 316	14.9 ± 2.4	89.3 ±26.0
		50	5	456 ± 58	7.6 ±2.1	95.7 ±45.9
		80	5	350 ± 84	6.3 ± 3.8	137 ±45.2
		110	5	188 ± 36	1.8 ± 0.5	128 ±32.3
		140	5	150 ± 24	3.3 ±1.5	82.1 ±23.1
Oxisol	Colorado	0	5	6570 ± 1770	24.2 ± 6.9	286 ±41.5
		20	5	3750 ± 1260	26.0 ± 9.0	210. ±72.2
		50	5	1460 ± 264	9.2 ± 2.6	185 ±27.7
		80	5	713 ±196	3.9 ± 1.0	208 ± 60.1
		110	5	336 ±73	3.2 ± 1.5	222 ± 65.6
		140	4	302 ± 108	5.6 ±3.1	213 ±119
Oxisol	Tabonuco	0	5	6240 ± 1830	21.1 ±2.7	290. ±73.7
		20	5	3280 ± 1010	12.1 ± 1.2	313 ±121.
		50	5	995 ± 241	8.7 ± 3.7	247 ± 105
		80	4	276 ±28	4.7 ± 1.8	98.2 ±42.8
		110	4	225 ±47	6.4 ± 1.8	52.6 ±21.0
		140	4	193 ±68	5.8 ±2.1	56.8 ±36.0

Table 5.1: Acid phosphatase kinetic parameters ${}^{App}V_{max}$, ${}^{App}K_m$ and K_a . Parameters were estimated using non-linear regression and are reported as mean ± 1 standard error for each soil \times forest \times depth.

Table 5.2: Summary of type II standard major axis regression of phosphatase kinetic parameters and soil nutrients. All variables were log-transformed prior to regression. Pearson correlation coefficients R^2 and P values are listed on the first line and 95% confidence intervals for slopes are listed on the second line. P values that are significant at the $\alpha = 0.05$ level and their corresponding R^2 values are in bold.

	Carbon	Nitrogen	P-total	NaHCO ₃ -P	NaOH-P
App V _{max}	0.69, < 0.001	0.71, < 0.001	0.44, < 0.001	0.62, < 0.001	0.41, < 0.001
	0.83-1.04	0.93–1.14	1.07–1.41	1.25–1.58	1.07–1.4
$A^{pp}K_m$	0.48, < 0.001	0.47, < 0.001	0.42, < 0.001	0.49, < 0.001	0.34, < 0.001
	0.71-0.94	0.78-1.03	0.94–1.26	1.08–1.41	0.93–1.26
Ka	0.09, 0.001	0.11, < 0.001	0.01, 0.2	0.05, 0.01	0.03, 0.07
	0.58-0.83	0.64–0.92	0.74-1.08	0.87-1.45	0.76-1.10



Figure 5.1: Changes in apparent kinetic parameters $({}^{App}V_{max}$ and ${}^{App}K_m)$ and the specificity constant K_a $({}^{App}V_{max} / {}^{App}K_m)$ with depth. ${}^{App}V_{max}$ is a measure of enzyme abundance and ${}^{App}K_m$ is a measure of environmental substrate concentration. K_a is a measure of overall catalytic capacity. a) ${}^{App}V_{max}$, b) ${}^{App}K_m$ and c) K_a with depth. Values of kinetic parameters are reported as means across all soil × forest types at each depth interval with error bars representing ± 1 standard error.



Figure 5.2: Relationship between apparent V_{max} ($^{App}V_{max}$) and apparent K_m ($^{App}K_m$) using Type II standard major axis regression. Regression line is plotted in red and 95% confidence interval is plotted in grey. Regression equation, R^2 value and P value are written on the plot.

CHAPTER 6 : Using ¹³C NMR to evaluate the chemical nature of organic matter throughout tropical soil profiles

Chapter to be submitted for publication as:

Stone M. M., Hockaday, W.C., A.F. Plante. Using ¹³C NMR to evaluate the chemical nature of organic matter throughout tropical soil. *Organic Geochemistry*

Abstract:

Tropical forest soils store large quantities of carbon (C) as soil organic matter (SOM), but the composition of tropical SOM remains poorly characterized, in part due to the analytical challenges associated high iron and low C concentrations. In this study, we used ¹³C NMR to explore patterns in SOM chemistry across two soil and forest types and with depth at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory (LCZO) in northeast Puerto Rico. We used soils from pits excavated to 140 cm depth that were stratified across the two major soil types (Oxisols and Inceptisols) and two forest types (Tabonuco and Colorado) at LCZO. Thirty-four samples with an initial C concentration < 1% were chosen from discrete depth intervals (0, 30, 60, 90 & 140 cm) for ¹³C NMR analysis. We compared soil ¹³C NMR spectra to the ¹³C NMR spectra of leaf litter, roots and fungal biomass from the same sites. Prior to ¹³C NMR, soils were demineralized with hydrofluoric acid (HF) to remove paramagnetic compounds and concentrate organic matter. Given the scant information on tropical subsoil OM, a secondary goal of our study was to evaluate the effect of HF acid treatments on tropical subsoils. We measured C and nitrogen (N) concentrations, as well as ¹³C and ¹⁵N stable isotope abundances, before and after HF treatment to quantify C losses and assess whether C was fractionated during treatment. Finally, we used differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) to evaluate changes to the organomineral matrix before and after HF treatment.

HF treatments effectively enriched sample C and removed paramagnetic compounds, allowing us to obtain high-quality NMR spectra for low-C subsoils. C:N ratios before and after HF treatment

were nearly identical (mean = 16.6 ± 0.8), suggesting that the SOM pool was not substantially fractionated. However, large changes in the abundance of the ¹⁵N stable isotope in several samples suggest acid treatment may lead to loss of some microbially-derived, N-rich compounds. Thermal analysis confirmed loss of a substantial fraction of the soil mineral matrix, however, retention of several endothermic regions in post-HF Inceptisol soils indicated that not all minerals were completely solubilized in this soil type. ¹³C NMR spectra for soils were typically dominated by *O*-alkyl and alkyl C, representing labile polysaccharides (cellulose, aminosugars) and aliphatic compounds (fatty acids, cutin, suberin). SOM contained more alkyl C (mean = $32.2 \pm 2.2\%$) than plant or microbial tissues (mean = $16.1 \pm 1.4\%$), indicating preferential retention or stabilization of aliphatic C during microbial decomposition. The alkyl : O-alkyl C ratio was three times greater in soils from the higher-elevation Colorado forest (2.1 ± 0.3) compared with the lower-elevation Tabonuco forest (0.7 ± 0.1) despite similar alkyl : *O*-alkyl ratios in plant tissues from the two forests. Differences in SOM chemistry across the two forest types may relate differences in the soil decomposer community and its and substrate preferences, with microorganisms in the cooler, wetter Colorado forest soils preferentially decomposing labile polysaccharides (i.e., O-alkyl C). Changes in SOM chemistry with depth varied from pit to pit, and no major patterns were observed across all samples. This finding suggests the depth distribution of organic biomolecules is site-specific, with localized differences in C inputs, topography and transport acting as dominant controls. Overall, our findings suggest that aliphatic hydrocarbons may be particularly important for C storage in tropical soils, and that patterns in SOM composition with depth are likely mediated by a multitude of factors from the landscape scale to the pit scale.

6.1. Introduction

While our understanding of the chemical composition of soil organic matter (SOM) has advanced considerably in recent decades, the large carbon (C) reservoirs contained in tropical forest soils represent a knowledge gap. Moreover, only a handful of studies have examined subsoil OM chemistry in tropical forests, in part due to a historical lack of interest in quantifying and characterizing this pool (*Rumpel and Kogel-Knabner*, 2011; *Schmidt et al.*, 2011), but also because of the analytical challenges posed by Fe and Al-rich, C-poor soils (*Goncalves et al.*, 2003). However, recent forest carbon inventories show that substantial amounts of C can be stored to depths of 1 meter and beyond in tropical subsoils (*Johnson et al.*, Under Review). To better predict the vulnerability of tropical soil C to decomposition, the chemical composition of SOM, and particularly subsoil OM with high mean residence times (*Trumbore*, 2009), requires further study. While the emerging paradigm of soil C cycling suggests SOM chemistry is a secondary control on C stability (*Schmidt et al.*, 2011), chemistry can nonetheless influence vulnerability to microbial degradation (*Fontaine et al.*, 2007) and organomineral interactions, and allow us to make inferences about dominant transport processes and stabilization mechanisms (*Kaiser and Kalbitz*, 2012; *Wattel-Koekkoek et al.*, 2001).

There is a growing body of knowledge that describes how SOM chemistry changes with depth (*Rumpel and Kogel-Knabner*, 2011). In general, the proportion of plant-derived biomolecules (lignin, cellulose, hemicellulose) declines with depth in relation to microbial metabolites (carbo-hydrates and nitrogen-rich compounds, (*Kaiser et al.*, 2004; *Kleber et al.*, 2011; *Rumpel et al.*, 2004; *Spielvogel et al.*, 2008; *Torn et al.*, 2002)). This observation is attributed to a combination of the following: 1) Strong retention of plant-derived compounds in surface compartments, 2) Continual microbial processing of organic matter as it cycles downwards, and 3) Preferential sorption of microbial metabolites, particularly N-rich proteins, on mineral surfaces (*Kaiser and Kalbitz*, 2012; *Kleber et al.*, 2007; *Mertz et al.*, 2005). However, it should be noted that changes in SOM chemistry with depth are modulated by soil type and climate, which influence dominant transport processes, stabilization mechanisms and overall rates of decomposition (*Baldock and Skjemstad*, 2000; *Kaiser and Kalbitz*, 2012; *Wattel-Koekkoek et al.*, 2001). Indeed, the few studies that have characterized

tropical SOM along depth profiles highlight the importance of transport processes and preservation mechanisms, which vary with soil type and environmental conditions, in determining SOM chemistry. *Marin-Spiotta et al.* (2011) used ¹³C NMR to characterize the chemical composition of SOM to 125 cm depth in volcanic Andisols on the Hawaiin archipelago. In this soil type, subsurface transport is dominated by macropores that bring fresh C to depth, where it is stabilized by allophane minerals, resulting in a mixture of modern and much older SOM in subsoils. By contrast, C transport along dense, clay-rich tropical Oxisols may be dominated by the slow percolation of dissolved organic matter (DOM), with changes in SOM chemistry throughout the soil profile dictated by a combination of selective sorption and microbial processing (*Kaiser and Kalbitz*, 2012). Tropical Oxisols are often dominated by kaolinite and Fe-oxides (hematite and goethite), which represent excellent sorbants for organic materials (*Kaiser and Guggenberger*, 2000; *Kaiser and Zech*, 2000; *Oades*, 1989), and may selectively preserve specific compounds (*Eusterhues et al.*, 2003; *Kleber et al.*, 2005).

In recent studies by *Stone et al.* (2014) and *Stone and Plante* (2014), changes in soil microbial biomass, community structure and extracellular enzyme activities with depth were investigated at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory, a montane, wet tropical forest in northeastern Puerto Rico. While these authors found exponential declines in microbial abundance and activity with depth, specific metabolic activities, normalized to microbial biomass or soil C, remain high in subsoils. In addition, shifts in the composition of the microbial community, the ratios of C : nutrient acquiring enzymes (*Stone et al.*, 2014) and the energy density of SOM as measured by thermal analysis (*Stone,* unpublished data) all suggest the presence of different organic substrates in subsoils compared with surface soils. If SOM stability is defined as resistance to microbial decomposition (*Plante et al.*, 2011), the discovery of metabolically active, and perhaps uniquely adapted microorganisms in low-C tropical subsoils suggests that some fraction of the SOM pool at depth is actively cycling. Understanding how SOM chemistry changes with depth and across this variable landscape can inform our understanding of the ecology of soil microorganisms and the inherent stability of the OM they consume.

In this study we used 13 C nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy, a technique that provides information on the relative abundance of organic C functional groups (Baldock et al., 1992; *Kogel-Knabner*, 1997), and has gained popularity in the characterization of a diverse range of organic materials found in natural environments (Preston, 1996; Kogel-Knabner, 2000), to assess how carbon chemistry changes with depth, and across landscape-scale gradients in geology and vegetation at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory. We predicted that we would observe distinct shifts in SOM chemistry with depth, from more plant derived chemical signatures in surface soils to microbial chemical signatures in subsoils (Rumpel and Kogel-Knabner, 2011). In surface soils we expected SOM chemistry to be strongly influenced by forest type, reflecting different compositions of the litter inputs (Quideau et al., 2001). This hypothesis fits with prior research showing differences in bulk soil nutrient ratios and C chemistry across the two dominant forest types, particularly in surface soils (Cusack et al., 2011; Stone and Plante, 2014). We predicted the influence of forest type on SOM chemistry would decline rapidly with depth. In subsoils, we predicted SOM chemistry would be more strongly influenced by parent material, reflecting differences in pedological processes (transport, mineral stabilization, etc.) across the two soil types (Kaiser and Kalbitz, 2012; Rumpel and Kogel-Knabner, 2011; Wattel-Koekkoek et al., 2001; Kaiser et al., 2002).

Obtaining high-quality NMR spectra often requires samples to be pre-treated with hydrofluoric acid (HF) to remove paramagnetic compounds and concentrate organic matter (*Schmidt et al.*, 1997). Given the scant information on tropical subsoil OM, a secondary goal of our study was to elucidate the impacts of soil pre-treatment with HF on the composition of OM determined by ¹³C NMR. Acid treatments may be particularly important for tropical subsoils, which often contain high concentrations of Fe- associated organic matter (*Zech et al.*, 1997). However, there is concern over HF fractionating or otherwise altering the chemical composition of SOM and thus biasing NMR results (*Rumpel et al.*, 2006). Impacts of HF treatment on SOM composition vary in the literature, with some authors finding preferential losses of the stable organic matter pool (*Eusterhues et al.*, 2003), others observing a loss of labile polysaccharides (*Dai and Johnson*, 1999), and still others finding no substantial fractionation (*Goncalves et al.*, 2003; *Rumpel et al.*, 2002; *Schmidt et al.*, 1997). Previous researchers have evaluated SOM fractionation following acid treatment by examining C:N

ratios and spectral intensity distributions before and after HF (*Goncalves et al.*, 2003; *Schmidt et al.*, 1997) and in some cases abundances of ¹³C and ¹⁵N stable isotopes (*Schmidt and Gleixner*, 2005). We used C and N concentrations and ¹³C and ¹⁵N abundances to explore the possibility of SOM fractionation following HF. We also used thermal analysis to more closely examine alterations to the organomineral matrix following acid treatment. Thermal analysis integrates chemical composition and molecular structure of SOM as well as stabilization of SOM through interactions with soil minerals by measuring the energy inputs and outputs that occur as a bulk soil sample is heated (*Peltre et al.*, 2013). For our purposes, thermal analysis provides a rapid and inexpensive way to evaluate changes in both the organic and mineral fractions of a soil sample before and after demineralization. Performing these analysis using two soil types of contrasting mineralogy allows us to broaden our conclusions about the effects of pre-treatment on SOM composition.

6.2. Methods

6.2.1. Sample set

The samples used in this study comprise part of a larger sample set collected in January 2012 from four sites at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory (LCZO) in northeastern Puerto Rico (18°18'-N, 65°50'-W). Detailed descriptions of the study site and characterizations of these soils samples can be found in *Stone et al.* (2014). Briefly, the sample sites were stratified across two dominant forest types, the lower-elevation (< 600 m) Tabonuco (*Dacroydes excesla* Vahl) forest, and the intermediate to high elevation (600-800 m) Palo Colorado (*Cyrilla racemiflora* L.) forest. Within each forest, samples were collected at sites representing the two dominant geologic parent materials in the region: lower-Cretaceous volcaniclastic (VC) sediments of andesitic composition that weather to produce Oxisols and an early-Tertiary age quartz-diorite (QD) pluton known as the Rio Blanco stock (*Seiders*, 1971a,b), that weathers to produce Inceptisols. Within each soil × forest combination, pits were excavated at each of three topographic positions (one ridge top, three slope and one valley pit), and samples were collected at discrete depth intervals from the surface A-horizon (considered 0 cm depth) to 140 cm depth or bedrock. Samples were air-dried and sieved to 2 mm to homogenize prior to storage.

For the present study, samples from each of three soil pits (one ridge, slope and valley) at each of the four soil × forest types (12 pits total) were chosen from discrete depth intervals (0, 30, 60, 90 & 140 cm) for ¹³C NMR analysis. We performed ¹³C NMR at the 0 and 30 cm depth interval for each soil pit, with additional soil samples taken from deeper layers for pits where the initial soil C concentration as determined by combustion analysis was > 1%. Of the twelve pits, six were only sampled to 30 cm depth. Three were sampled to 60 cm depth, two pits were sampled to 80-90 cm depth, and one to 140 cm depth, for a total of 34 soil samples.

We also obtained samples of leaf litter, roots and fungal biomass from the study region, to compare the composition of SOM with the major source materials that contribute to its formation (*Kogel-Knabner*, 2002). Mixed leaf litter and fine root samples from each soil × forest type were obtained

from a related sample set collected in July 2010 (*Johnson et al.*, Under Review). Three different fungal specimens were obtained from Dr. Jean Lodge of the Sabana Research Station located near the Bisley Experimental Forests in Luquillo, Puerto Rico. The fungal specimens were: *Glomus* sp. (arbuscular mycorrhizae), *Psilocybe guilartensis* (soil basidiomycete) and *Psathyrella candolleana* (humus-decomposer).

6.2.2. Sample pre-treatments

Air-dried leaf litter, roots and fungal samples were ground with a mortar and pestle in liquid N prior to ¹³C NMR analysis. Each soil sample was first pulverized to a fine powder using a ball mill, then 5 grams of sample was weighed into a 50 ml centrifuge tube. We acidified soil samples using 10 ml of 10% HCl acid to volatilize inorganic carbon (i.e., carbonates) and waited until the effervescence ceased. HCl-treated soil suspensions were centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 10 min followed by aspiration of the supernatant. We further treated the soil samples a mixture of 10% HF (w/w) and 10% HCl (w/w), a procedure which is intended to dissolve silicates and paramagnetic elements (Fe and Mn) while leaving acid-insoluble organic matter intact (Schmidt et al., 1997; Yao et al., 2014). We added 20 ml of the 10% HF/HCl solution to each centrifuge tube and placed tubes horizontally on an oscillating table shaker for 12 h. Samples were then centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 10 minutes, following which the acid supernatants were aspirated. We repeated the HF/HCl acid treatment at least twice for all samples, with additional treatments applied when the presence of iron-containing minerals could still be visually detected as a reddish color (Table 6.5). Following these acid treatments, the pellet was rinsed three times with deionized water and dried in a gravity convection oven at 50 °C for 48 h. The dried pellet was weighed and ground by mortar and pestle prior to NMR analysis.

The Inceptisol samples required additional pre-treatment prior to 13 C NMR. This soil type contained a substantial sand fraction consisting mostly of primary mineral quartz (Table 6.5). This fraction was removed by additional sieving (< 500 μ m) so that the sample could be packed evenly into zirconia rotors. In addition, preliminary NMR runs spectra from this soil type were very noisy, indicating the presence of paramagnetic compounds that were not dissolved during the acid treatment. Running a magnet over these soil samples to remove visible, iron-bearing mineral particles substantially improved the NMR spectra; this procedure was therefore applied to all Inceptisol samples.

6.2.3. Soil chemical analyses

Total C and total N concentrations, ¹³C and ¹⁵N stable isotope abundances of soil samples both pre and post-acid treatment were determined using a stable isotope mass spectrometer (Delta Plus, Thermo-Finnigan MAT, Bremen, Germany). The enrichment in C and in N content after HF treatment (C_E and N_E , respectively) was calculated by dividing the element content in the treated sample by its content in the untreated sample. The recovery of C and of N after HF treatment (C_R and N_R , respectively) was calculated as:

$\mathbf{C}_R = (\theta \times \mathbf{C}_{HF}) / \mathbf{C}_i$

Where θ is the percent soil mass remaining following HF treatment, C_{HF} is the percent organic C weight in the HF treated soil and C_i is the organic C weight percent in the untreated soil (*Dai and Johnson*, 1999). In order to elucidate possible selective losses in organic matter, the ratio (R) between the C/N ratio before and after the treatment was calculated (Dick et al., 2005). From the ¹³C and ¹⁵N stable isotope abundance data we calculated the difference before and after HF treatment, Δ :

$\Delta = \delta$ after treatment - δ before treatment

6.2.4. NMR spectroscopy

Solid state ¹³C NMR spectra of HF-treated soil samples were obtained using magic angle spinning techniques on a Bruker Avance III 300 MHz spectrometer operating at a ¹³C resonance frequency of 75 MHz and using a Bruker double resonance probe. Approximately 250-450 mg of soil was packed into a 7-mm diameter cylindrical zirconia rotor, sealed with a Kel-F end-cap and spun at 5 k HZ. The CP NMR spectra were acquired following a 90°1H excitation pulse, a 1 ms 1H–¹³C contact pulse, and with a 5 s delay between acquisitions for 3000 scans. The chemical shift frequency was referenced to glycine as an external standard. Line broadenings of 30 Hz were applied prior to

Fourier transformation. Each spectra was phase and baseline corrected prior to integration. The spin count observability (C_{obs}) was assessed as described by (*Yao et al.*, 2014).

Peak areas were integrated under the following seven chemical shift regions: 0-45 ppm (alkyl), 45-60 ppm (*N*-alkyl), 60-95ppm (*O*-alkyl), 95-110 ppm (di-*O*-alkyl), 110-145 ppm (aromatic), 145-165 (phenolic) and 165-215 ppm (carbonyl/amide C, *Knicker and Ludemann* (1995)). The area of each spectral region was divided by the sum of all spectral areas to obtain a relative proportion. The relative proportions of C attributed to the various spectral areas were used as variables for multivariate analysis. The ratio of alkyl : *O*-alkyl C was also calculated. This ratio is considered an index of decomposition, with higher ratios indicating greater levels of microbial processing and a loss of more labile C (*Baldock et al.*, 1992; *Baldock and Skjemstad*, 2000).

Samples with < 2 % C following acid treatment or a spectral signal : noise ratio < 10 were excluded from subsequent analysis. This resulted in the exclusion of 6 soil samples, reducing the total number of soil samples analyzed to 28.

6.2.5. Thermal analysis

To evaluate changing organomineral interactions and explore shifts in SOM energy content following acid treatment, we performed coupled thermal analyses (differential scanning calorimetry, DSC) and evolved gas analysis (CO₂-EGA) on untreated and acid-treated soils. Thermal analyses were performed as described by (*Peltre et al.*, 2013), using a Netzsch simultaneous TG and heat flux DSC thermal analyzer (STA 409PC Luxx) equipped with a type-S (Pt/PtRh) TG-DSC sample carrier supporting a PtRh10-Pt thermocouple (Netzsch-Gertebau GmbH). Briefly, samples were weighed to obtain approximately 1 mg C, with a maximum of 50 mg soil to avoid excess thermal disequilibrium. The heating program was as follows: a first step from ambient (~25 °C) to 105 °C at 10 °C min⁻¹, a second step at 105 °C for 15 min to drive off sample moisture, and a third heating step to 850 °C at 10 °C min⁻¹. The furnace atmosphere consisted of CO₂-free air flowing at 30 ml min⁻¹ and N₂ protective gas flowing at 10 ml min⁻¹. The CO₂–EGA was performed by coupling a LI- 840 CO₂ /H2 O infrared gas analyzer (IRGA, LI-COR Biosciences) to the outlet of the STA instrument. DSC thermograms were baseline corrected for the region between 120 and 850 °C using the non-parametric baseline fitting function of Peakfit (Systat Software). Qualitative differences in the thermograms of soils before and after acid treatment were used to infer changes to the soil mineral phase. In addition, several thermal indices were calculated, including the total energy released during combustion (mJ mg⁻¹ soil), the energy density of SOM (energy release normalized to sample C, mJ mg⁻¹ C), the temperature of peak energy release (DSC_{*max*}), the temperature of peak CO₂ evolution (CO_{2*max*}), and the proportion of total sample C evolved as CO₂ (% yield). Figures displaying thermal analysis results can be accessed here: Supplementary Figures.

6.2.6. Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using R v. 3.0.2 (R CORE TEAM, 2012). We evaluated differences in thermal indices (i.e., CO_{2max} , DSC_{max} , etc.) and stable isotope abundances between untreated and acid-treated soils with 2-tailed, paired T-tests using the base stats package in R. In addition, we used principal components analysis (PCA) to visually separate samples based on the overall similarity of their CO_2 evolution curves over the temperature range 150-650 °C. For the NMR dataset, we applied PCA to the relative proportions of C in the various spectral regions *sensu* (*Smejkalova et al.*, 2008), to search for patterns in soil C chemistry across soil type, forest type, depth and soil pit. PCA was performed separately for thermal data and NMR data using the "calibrate" package in R (*Graffelman*, 2013).

6.3. Results

6.3.1. Mass loss, C, N, ¹³C and ¹⁵N pre and post-HF

The amount of sample mass lost due to demineralization by HF varied widely, ranging from 36– 99%. Samples that received additional HF treatments invariably lost a greater amount of mass (Table 6.5). Typically, HF treatment concentrated soil C and N, with the exception of five Colorado Inceptisol samples that were relatively enriched in C and N (i.e., > 2%) prior to treatment, and another sample that was later excluded. Of the samples that were enriched, C and N enrichment factors (C_{*E*} and N_{*E*}) ranged from 1.05 to 18.3 (Table 6.5). As expected, deeper soil samples that received additional HF treatments typically became more enriched in HF. Carbon and nitrogen recovery values (C_{*R*} and N_{*R*}) varied widely, ranging from 14.5 to nearly 100%, however, the proportion of C and N recovered was typically similar within samples (Table 6.5). Proportionally more C and N were generally recovered from samples with higher initial C and N concentrations that received fewer HF treatments.

Across all samples, the C:N ratio of pre-treated soils (16.7 ± 1.2) and HF treated soils (16.5 ± 1.0) were statistically indistinguishable. The R value ranged from 0.76–1.50, with a mean of 1.0 (indicating no change in C:N ratios pre and post treatment). Typically, an R value of 1.0 ± 0.2 is accepted as an indication of no major alteration to the composition of organic matter following HF treatment (*Schmidt et al.*, 1997). Six samples had an R value outside this range (2 samples < 0.8 and 4 samples > 1.2), two of which were among those excluded from subsequent interpretation, resulting in four samples whose C:N ratios differed substantially following HF treatment.

The samples were also analyzed for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N isotope abundances before and after HF (Table 6.5). The C isotope content for all samples before treatment varied between -26.5% and -29.4%, which are typical values from organic C found in soils (*Schmidt and Gleixner*, 2005). In all but two surface soil samples, ¹³C abundances were slightly less negative before HF (-27% ± 0.15) than following HF (-28.4% ± 0.13). Changes in the ¹⁵N abundances following HF were more variable. Before HF treatment, soil ¹⁵N abundances varied an order of magnitude (0.8 - to 8.0%).

Variations in ¹⁵N abundance following HF were also large (mean $\Delta = -0.29\%_o$, min = -3.22‰, max = 4.03‰). All Inceptisol samples were more depleted in ¹⁵N following HF, with an average reduction of 0.75‰, while most Oxisol samples were either enriched in ¹⁵N or their ¹⁵N content was not substantially altered (Table 6.5). Within individual pits, ¹⁵N values tended to increase with depth, both before and after HF, although there was a large degree of variability among depth profiles.

6.3.2. ¹³C NMR

Across all soil samples, the largest resonances occurred in the alkyl C region between 0 and 45 ppm, representing long-chain aliphatic compounds (fatty acids, waxes or resins Figure 6.1a, (*Bal-dock et al.*, 1992; *Kogel-Knabner*, 2002)), and in the *O*-alkyl C region between 60 and 95 ppm, representing ring carbon carbohydrates (72 ppm resonance) and secondary alcohols (~62 ppm resonance, (*Skjemstad et al.*, 1998)). Soil NMR spectra often exhibited a shoulder feature at 55 ppm, which is generally ascribed to carbon-nitrogen bonds in lignin or proteins (*Kogel-Knabner*, 2002). A small but prominent peak was often observed at 105 ppm, representing di-oxygenated polysaccharides, and a higher, distinct peak at 172 ppm, representing carboxyl groups in organic acids or amide groups in peptides (*Quideau et al.*, 2001; *Skjemstad et al.*, 1998). Other common resonances included at 130, 145 and 155 ppm (Figure 6.1a).

O-alkyl C peaks were the dominant feature in roots and leaf litter, indicating an abundance of polysaccharides in these plant tissues. Prominent peaks also occurred at 105, 155 and 170 ppm (Figure 6.1 b-c). Fungal tissue was more variable than roots or litter. All three fungal samples had large *O*-alkyl peaks between 70 and 90 ppm and another prominent peak in the carbonyl/amide C region near 172 ppm. Two of the fungal tissue samples, *Psilocybe* and *Psathoysella*, also displayed a prominent peak at 105 ppm. *Psathoysella* contained a substantial amount of alkyl C whereas the other two fungi contained very little alkyl C (data not shown).

We observed broad differences in the chemistry of SOM compared with litter, roots or fungal biomass (Table 6.4, Figure 6.2). The most prominent difference was the enrichment of alkyl C in soils compared with plant or microbial tissues, resulting in higher alkyl : *O*-alkyl ratios. Soils

contained nearly twice as much alkyl C as fungi and litter and $2.5 \times$ more alkyl C than roots. Litter contained more aromatic and phenolic C than any other material, while roots were high in *O*-alkyl C and contained the smallest amounts of alkyl C. Fungi were high in *O*-alkyl and *N*-alkyl C, low in aromatic and phenolic C, and had the highest levels of amide/carboxylic C of any material. These differences in the chemical composition of different materials were validated by principal components analysis, with roots, litter and fungi each forming distinct and separate clusters (Figure 6.2). Root samples formed a tight cluster in negative space along PC1, which had large and negative loadings for *N*-alkyl (45-60 ppm), *O*-alkyl (60-95 ppm) and di-*O*-alkyl (95-110 ppm) C. Litter similarly formed a tight cluster in positive space along PC2, which had large and positive loadings for phenolic and aromatic C. The three fungal samples were more spatially separated along PC1, but still formed a distinct group in the lower left quadrant of the biplot, with large loadings for *N*-alkyl and carboxyl/amide C.

Across the two soil types, C chemistry could not be distinguished by PCA, although alkyl : *O*-alkyl C ratios were slightly greater, on average, in Inceptisols (mean = 1.89 ± 0.37) compared with Oxisols (mean = 1.33 ± 0.2). In addition, surface Inceptisol samples typically exhibited larger resonances in the aromatic C region than surface Oxisols (data not shown). By contrast, C chemistry was distinct across the two forest types (Figure 2). Due to larger amounts of alkyl C, Colorado forest soils had higher alkyl : *O*-alkyl ratios (mean = 2.04 ± 0.26) compared with the Tabonuco forest soils (mean = 0.70 ± 0.06).

We observed modest differences in the chemical composition of surface soil (0 cm) and subsoils (30 cm or deeper) organic matter. Averaged across all soil samples, the aromatic C chemical shift region was 26% smaller in subsoils (11.88 \pm 0.46) compared with surface soils (16.13 \pm 1.22) and the phenolic C region was 40% smaller in subsoils (5.0 \pm 0.29%) compared with surface soils (8.3 \pm 0.7%). PC2, which accounted for 32% of the variation in the dataset, indicated some separation of surface and subsoils. More notable than this overall depth effect was the fact that samples from the same pit tended to exhibit similar chemistries and cluster together in the biplot (trend not shown).

Because sample C chemistry appeared to be mediated by pit of origin, we examined our four most

complete depth profiles in more detail, to see if depth trends in C chemistry within profiles could be observed. These four profiles include two Oxisol (on slope and valley terrain) and two Inceptisol (on ridge and valley terrain) profiles, all located within the Colorado forest (Figure ??-6.5). ¹³C NMR spectra within the same profile were typically very similar. In each case, however, several distinct changes were observed with depth. All four profiles contained a large alkyl C peak, comprising anywhere from 27-55% of the total spectra. While this peak persisted with depth in all cases, for the Inceptisol profiles, the peak maxima shifted right, from ~30 ppm to ~40-45 ppm (Figure ??). The Inceptisol valley profile was highly alkyl and homogenous with depth (Figure 6.3). In the Oxisol slope profile, the relative contribution of *O*-alkyl C increased 57% from the surface to subsoils (Figure 6.4), while in the Oxisol valley profile, the contribution of *O*-alkyl C decreased slightly from the surface (22.5%) to 30 cm (17.4%), but thereafter began increasing with depth to 29% at 90 cm (Figure 6.5). The two Oxisol profiles also featured an increasingly prominent amide peak at depth, centered at ~170 ppm.

6.3.3. Thermal analysis

In most cases, acid treatment dramatically changed the shape of a sample thermogram (e.g., Figure S1). With the exception of several high-C surface soils, most untreated samples showed a distinct endothermic region between 400 and 600 °C, which can be ascribed to the dehydroxylation of kaolinite (*Fernandez et al.*, 2012). Following acid treatment, this endotherm was significantly reduced or absent entirely, indicating that HF acid successfully removed a large fraction of the mineral matrix. One endothermic region remained a prominent feature of Inceptisol thermograms following acid treatment: a sharp peak at 573 °C, indicative of quartz minerals undergoing an α - β transition (*Fernandez et al.*, 2012). Several of the Tabonuco Inceptisol samples also retained endothermic regions, between 700-800 °C following acid treatment (Figure S3). The loss of most endothermic regions, coupled with increased C concentrations, resulted in nearly three times as much energy release per gram acid-treated soil compared with untreated soils (Table 6.3, P < 0.01). This is in spite of the fact that CO₂ yields decreased from 80 ± 3% for untreated soils to 69 ± 2% for acid-treated soils (Table 6.3, P < 0.01) When normalized to soil C concentration, the energy density of SOM was

40% greater in acid-treated soils compared with untreated soils (Table 6.3).

The temperature region over which energy was released differed substantially between untreated and acid-treated soils. For untreated soil samples, the exothermic region was typically right-skewed, spanning a temperature range of 150-400 °C and with DSC_{*max*} occurring at 255 \pm 4 °C. By contrast acid treated samples often exhibited narrower, left-skewed exothermic regions (e.g Figure S1), with DSC_{*max*} occurring at 324 \pm 12 °C (Table 6.3, P < 0.01). Similar patterns were observed in the CO₂ evolution curves (e.g. Figure S2), although peak temperatures were shifted approximately 100 °C higher (Table 6.3, P < 0.01). In addition, rather than being unimodal, acid treated samples sometimes exhibited several distinct exothermic peaks (Figure S1). Principal components analysis of CO₂ evolution curves validated these observations (Figure S3), with acid-treated samples shifted in positive space along PC1, indicating greater amounts of CO₂ evolution at higher temperatures compared with untreated samples (Figure S5, P < 0.01).

6.4. Discussion

6.4.1. Acid Treatment Effects on Soil Organic Matter

HF acid effectively concentrated organic matter and allowed us to obtain high-quality spectra for most soil samples. Acid treatment was also necessary for removing paramagnetic compounds such as iron oxides. Paramagnetic compounds contain unpaired electrons, which reduce the efficiency of cross polarization such that ¹³C nuclei in proximity to paramagnetics can be rendered "invisible" (Baldock et al., 1992; Schmidt et al., 1997). Moreover, because of selective interactions between paramagnetics and specific organic functional groups, the presence of paramagnetics can result in ¹³C NMR spectra that do not accurately reflect the distribution of different chemical structures within a sample (Baldock et al., 1992). However, HF acid was not effective in removing all ironbearing minerals from the Inceptisols. While both soil types contain Fe-oxide secondary minerals (McDowell et al., 2012), the Inceptisols also contain iron-bearing primary minerals, including Fesilicates and hematite, particularly in subsoils and saprolite (Buss et al., 2010). It is possible that our inability to remove all paramagnetic species in Inceptisols was due to differences in the dissolution rates of various iron-bearing minerals, which can vary widely (Sidhu et al., 1981). For the Inceptsiols, we were able to physically separate some iron-bearing minerals using a magnet, resulting in substantially improved NMR spectra. This finding underscores the influence of mineralogy on the efficacy of acid treatments, as has been noted by other authors (Goncalves et al., 2003).

While acid treatment allowed us to generate high quality NMR spectra for low-C, iron-rich soils, a caveat to the use of HF is the potential fractionation of the SOM pool (*Rumpel et al.*, 2006). We were particularly concerned about SOM fractionation in subsoils, where our carbon recovery values were typically low, increasing the potential for selective C loss. Other authors have also noted decreasing C recoveries with depth following HF (*Dick et al.*, 2005; *Goncalves et al.*, 2003; *Rumpel et al.*, 2006), with carbon losses greater than 90% observed for some subsoils (*Rumpel et al.*, 2002). Greater C losses from subsoils can be attributed largely to the additional acid treatments required to concentrate organic matter. In addition, larger proportions of SOM are often associated with Fe-oxides and clay minerals in subsoils (*Eusterhues et al.*, 2003; *Goncalves et al.*, 2003). We

explored the possibility that HF treatment altered the composition of SOM by examining C and N concentrations, stable isotope abundances, and the energy content of soil C before and after HF.

Our finding that R (representing the change in bulk soil C:N ratio following acid treatment) was typically close to 1 suggests that, overall, HF acid treatment did not substantially alter SOM quality (Schmidt et al., 1997). We measured ¹³C and ¹⁵N stable isotope abundances to gain additional insight into possible SOM fractionation. Overall, ¹³C abundances were similar before and after acid treatment. However, the small, consistent decline in ¹³C may indicate some selective losses. Typically, higher soil ¹³C contents are taken as an indication of greater microbial processing of organic matter, due to preferential decomposition of ¹³C-depleted compounds, such as lipids and lignin, during decomposition (Rumpel and Kogel-Knabner, 2011; Sollins et al., 2009). Hence, a slight decrease in ¹³C abundances following acid treatment may indicate loss of microbially- derived compounds, such as proteins and amino acids. This may also help explain the large changes we observed in ¹⁵N abundances following acid treatment. Schmidt and Gleixner (2005) also found larger and more variable changes in soil ¹⁵N abundances following HF acid treatment compared with ¹³C abundances. They attributed reductions in ¹⁵N to selective loss of proteins, amino acids, and microbially-altered polysaccharides. Overall, while bulk SOM composition does not appear substantially altered following acid treatment, selective loss of certain components of the SOM pool may have occurred on a sample-by-sample basis. More generally, our findings demonstrate that C:N ratios alone are not enough to fully evaluate C fractionation following HF. However, given that there were no consistent trends in R values, Δ^{13} C or Δ^{15} N with soil type, forest type, or depth, we find it unlikely that HF procedures consistently altered the SOM pool in a manner that would bias the interpretation of our results.

6.4.2. Patterns in SOM chemistry across the Luquillo Critical Zone

SOM chemistry was distinct from plant and microbial tissues, indicating its mixed origin and suggesting the selective enrichment of various components. The most striking difference between the chemical composition of SOM compared with plant and microbial tissues is the greater contribution of alkyl C and correspondingly higher alkyl: *O*-alkyl ratios of SOM. The alkyl : *O*-alkyl ratio is widely considered an index of SOM decomposition (*Baldock and Skjemstad*, 2000). The chemical composition of plant tissues in this study are similar to those found in other tropical forests, with relatively low levels of aromatic carbon and high levels of *O*-alkyl C in both litter and roots (*Cusack et al.*, 2011; *Marin-Spiotta et al.*, 2011; *Zech et al.*, 1997), indicating that polysaccharides (cellulose and hemicellulose) dominate these tissues. Likewise, the dominant chemical signatures in our fungal samples, *O*-alkyl and carboxyl/amide C, support the findings of previous researchers that fungal biomass is rich in carbohydrates and protein (*Baldock et al.*, 1990; *Kogel-Knabner*, 2002; *Martinez et al.*, 1991). The strong *O*-alkyl signature in most soils is likely the result of high levels of *O*-alkyl C in plant and microbial inputs. Roots and microbial biomass are concentrated in upper soils layers (*Lawrence*, 1996; *Stone et al.*, 2014), which may explain the particularly high *O*-alkyl C signatures observed in our surface soils.

Overall, SOM was dominated by alkyl and O-alkyl C, suggesting that lipids and carbohydrates comprise the majority of biomolecules present in these soils. Other researchers have noted the dominance of alkyl and O-alkyl C in tropical Oxisols (Baldock et al., 1992; Dick et al., 2005; Krull and Skjemstad, 2003). High levels of O-alkyl C in Oxisols have been attributed to preferential stabilization of polysaccharides on the Fe oxides found abundantly in this soil type (Dick et al., 2005; Neufeldt et al., 2002; Wattel-Koekkoek et al., 2001). In addition, Baldock et al. (1992) suggests that rapid decomposition in the tropics leads to an accumulation of poorer-quality alkyl C in SOM. Aliphatic hydrocarbons, such as cutin, suberin and microbial lipids are considered relatively resistant to decomposition and tend to persist in soils (Gleixner et al., 2001), accumulating in soil organic matter and at depth (Kogel-Knabner et al., 1992a,b; Zech et al., 1989). Across a forest successional gradient in SE Puerto Rico, Ostertag et al. (2008) found bulk soil C concentrations to be strongly correlated with hydrophobic leaf compounds. These authors concluded that aliphatic compounds might be particularly important for C storage in wet tropical forests. Hence, the SOM chemical signatures reported here are in accordance with previously published literature on tropical SOM chemistry and may be ascribed to preferential stabilization (O-alkyl C) and decomposition resistance (alkyl C).

Contrary to our expectation, we observed no major differences in SOM chemistry across the two soil types. While some studies have found soil type and mineral composition to be major drivers of SOM chemistry (*Baldock et al.*, 1992; *Wattel-Koekkoek et al.*, 2001), others have found little effect of mineralogy on SOM composition (*Dick et al.*, 2005). We predicted that soil type would be an important driver of SOM chemistry in subsoils, due to differences in DOM transport (*McDowell et al.*, 1992; *McSwiney et al.*, 2001), and organomineral interactions (*Baldock and Skjemstad*, 2000; *Kaiser and Kalbitz*, 2012). A previous study examining microbial biomass, community composition and enzyme activities found few differences across the two soil types (*Stone et al.*, 2014). This study concluded that soil resource availability, a major driver of microbial abundance and activity (*Allison et al.*, 2011; *Balser et al.*, 2010) is similar across the two mineralogically-distinct soil types, a conclusion which our ¹³C NMR findings would seem to support. It is possible that similarities in climate, which co-varies with forest type but not soil type at the study site, drives similar decomposition patterns across the two soils, resulting in convergent SOM chemistries despite contrasting mineralogies.

In contrast to the similarity in SOM chemistry across the two soil types, we observed clear differences in SOM chemistry across the Tabonuco and Colorado forest types, with greater quantities of alkyl C in Colorado forest soils, supporting previous studies of C chemistry across the two forests (*Cusack et al.*, 2011). These two forest types occupy different elevation zones, with the higher elevation Colorado forest experiencing a slightly cooler and wetter climate than the lower-elevation Tabonuco forest (MAT = 24 °C, MAP = 3500 mm yr⁻¹, *McDowell et al.* (2012)). One explanation for differences in C chemistry across the two forests could be differences in the chemical composition of plant tissues between the two forest types. It is well-established that that the composition of plant litter influences the composition SOM (*Kogel-Knabner*, 2002; *Swift et al.*, 1979) and other studies have found direct links between forest vegetation composition and soil organic matter composition using ¹³C NMR (*Quideau et al.*, 2001). However, our ¹³C NMR results show litter and root tissues from the two forest types to be chemically similar. The alkyl : *O*-alkyl C ratio of Colorado forest litter was slightly greater (0.62) than Tabonuco forest litter (0.54), corresponding almost identically with previously reported alkyl : *O*-alkyl C ratios for these two forest litters (*Cusack et al.*, 2001). 2011), but we observed no difference in alkyl and *O*-alkyl C contents for roots. The slightly higher alkyl C content of Colorado forest litter cannot not fully account for the nearly three fold higher alkyl : *O*-alkyl C ratio in Colorado forest soils compared with Tabonuco forest soils. Moreover, this difference in alkyl: *O*-alkyl C ratios persists in subsoils, suggesting differences in pedogenic processes are altering the chemical nature of SOM across the two forest types.

Rather than initial plant inputs *per se* driving differences in SOM chemistry across the two forests, it seems likely the combination of differences in vegetation and climate drive broad differences in decomposition between the two forests. Previous researchers have demonstrated the substantial influence of climate factors on SOM chemistry (Preston, 1996). In particular, the accumulation of aliphatic C in soils with cooler and wetter climates has been observed (Zech et al., 1989). Such changes might be ascribed to the effects of climate on soil decomposer community in terms of structure, activity and substrate preferences. Indeed, previous molecular fingerprinting work by Stone et al. (In Press) suggests differences in dominant bacterial community structure across the two forest types. In addition, Stone et al. (2014) found 140% greater potential activity of two labile C degrading enzymes in the Colorado forest compared with the Tabonuco forest : the starchdegrading enzyme alpha glucosidase and the cellulose degrading enzyme cellobiohydrolase, and particularly high specific activities for these enzymes in several Colorado forest subsoils. Different substrate utilization patterns can be driven by differences in community structure (Fierer et al., 2007). Higher levels of starch and cellulose degrading enzyme activity suggest preferential use of labile polysaccharides as substrates in Colorado forest soils, which may account for diminished Oalkyl C contributions and relative enrichment in alkyl C. While enrichment in aliphatic compounds may be a result of differences in microbial substrate preferences across the two forests, loss of these labile substrates may produce a further negative feedback on decomposition, leading to the greater amounts of C stored in Colorado forest soils (Johnson et al., Under Review).

6.4.3. Patterns in SOM chemistry with depth

We found weak evidence for an overall distinction between surface soil and subsoil C chemistry (slightly greater aromatic + phenolic signature in surface soils). Greater amounts of aromatic C in

surface soils suggest greater amounts of lignin arising from plant-residues in early stages of decomposition. However, we were surprised to find no consistent pattern in the dominant C compounds, alkyl C and *O*-alkyl C, or the alkyl : *O*-alkyl ratio with depth. This ratio increased in some pits and decreased in others, and no correlation with the soil characteristics could be established. *Dick et al.* (2005) examined the ¹³C NMR spectra of Brazilian Ferrasols under native grassland and forest vegetation, and likewise found no consistent pattern in the alkyl: *O*-alkyl C ratio with depth. It is possible that in tropical forests, climactic conditions favoring rapid decomposition and transport of OM to depth result in may result in a high degree of OM decomposition throughout soil profiles. This hypothesis would fit with prior characterization of the soils in this study, which found C: N ratios to be low and invariant with depth (*Stone and Plante*, 2014). The notion that deeper soil C is substantially "more decomposed" than surface C has arisen largely from studies of temperate and boreal soils and may be less useful in describing the depth distribution of C in the tropics.

Patterns in SOM chemistry with depth could be observed at the level of individual soil pits. Samples from the same pit tended to have highly similar C chemistry, and different patterns in SOM chemistry with depth emerged for different pits. These observations suggest that local heterogeneity of soil conditions must be taken into account to understand changes in SOM chemistry along soil profiles. For instance, topographic position is known to play an important role in dictating stocks of C and nutrients across the LCZO (*Johnson et al.*, 2011; *Silver et al.*, 1994). Likewise, topography may play an important role in dictating the chemical composition of SOM, through its effects on transport processes, moisture levels and redox conditions. Overall, different mechanisms of transport and selective preservation may prevail in individual pits, due to each pit's unique combination of topographic position, soil type, vegetation, and other environmental factors. We focus the rest of the discussion of depth trends on patterns that emerged within soil profiles and how they may relate to environmental drivers.

Our two most complete Oxisol profiles contained high levels of alkyl C and increasing amounts of *O*-alkyl C with depth. This was initially surprising, because it seems contradictory to the notion of *O*-alkyl C as a labile, rapidly-degraded polysaccharide. A likely explanation is that the *O*-alkyl

C in deep soils represents newly synthesized microbial saccharides rather than the plant-derived polysaccharides that are expected to prevail in surface soils. Several studies have suggested that Fe-oxides and kaolinite in tropical Oxisols may selectively preserve non-cellulosic polysaccharides of microbial origin (Neufeldt et al., 2002; Wattel-Koekkoek et al., 2001). Microbial polysaccharides consist of both intracellular polysaccharides and a larger pool of extracellular polysaccharides (ECP), which have been shown to interact with primary clay minerals by gluing them together to form stable microaggregates (Dorioz et al., 1993; Kogel-Knabner, 2002). Examining changes in SOM composition with depth along an Australian Oxisol profile, Krull and Skjemstad (2003) found increased ¹³C, ¹⁵N and O-alkyl concentrations, which the authors attributed to complexion of labile, microbial sugars with Fe oxide minerals. Dick et al. (2005) examined changes in organic matter with depth in Brazilian Ferrasols, finding relatively large amounts of O-alkyl and alkyl C in subsoils. The authors attributed this to stabilization of decomposed organic materials through interactions with Fe oxides and kaolinite. Both Oxisol profiles also showed a prominent amide peak at depth, possibly indicating greater amounts of protein-enriched microbial C. These findings are thus in accordance with previous literature and fit with our hypothesis that subsoil carbon is composed of microbial biomolecules (Rumpel and Kogel-Knabner, 2011). It is also interesting to note a topographic difference: while the valley profile showed a large *O*-alkyl C peak in surface soils, a decline in shallow subsoils, and a subsequent increase in deeper subsoils, the slope profile showed a continual increase in O-alkyl C from the surface to 80 cm depth. This difference may be due to a loss of plant-derived OM on slopes, either through downslope transport of surface organic matter, more rapid decomposition in well-oxygenated slope soils, or a combination of factors.

A very different picture of SOM chemistry emerged in our most extensively sampled profile, a valley profile from the Colorado Inceptisol site (Figure 6.3b). This profile was unique in that it was a highly saturated, topographic low with unusually high C concentrations all the way to bedrock, which occurred near 1.5 meters depth. SOM was strikingly alkyl and N-alkyl in composition throughout the profile, with the smaller *O*-alkyl peak at the surface entirely lost by 30 cm depth. In this particular soil profile, poor drainage due to shallow bedrock, combined with the soil profile's topographic position, might help explain this unusual chemical composition. This particular part of the landscape

may act as a trap for organic matter transported from upslope and deposited *in situ*. It is possible that fluctuating redox conditions in valley soils lead to the liberation and selective decomposition of more labile biomolecules, while aliphatic hydrocarbons and proteins may be selectively retained by the soil mineral phase (*Kleber et al.*, 2007; *Lichtfouse et al.*, 1998).

6.4.4. Thermal analysis of soils before and after HF

A final goal of our study was to explore whether thermal analysis could provide any additional information regarding the effect of acid treatment on organomineral associations and SOM composition. Thermograms of acid treated soils lend strong evidence to the near-complete loss of the soil mineral phase, as indicated by the disappearance of most energy-absorbing (endothermic) regions. However, thermal analysis also validated our observation that acid treatment did not entirely remove the soil mineral phase in the Inceptisols. All acid-treated Inceptisol samples retained a sharp endothermthic peak at 573 °C associated with a quartz α - β phase transition (*Fernandez et al.*, 2012), supporting the notion that quartz does not solubilize rapidly in acid (*Dick et al.*, 2005; *Goncalves et al.*, 2003). While quartz does not interfere with the acquisition of ¹³C NMR spectra, large quantities of the mineral could dilute our SOM signal. The presence of additional endothermic regions at higher temperatures (700-800 °C) in several Inceptisol soils could indicate other minerals that were not completely solubilized, such as Mg-smectite (*Karathanasis and Harris*, 1994).

We explored the possibility that thermal analysis might provide additional insight into changes in SOM composition, by examining both the energy released and temperatures required to combust SOM before and after acid treatment. It is not surprising that greater amounts of energy were released following acid treatment, given that acid-treated soils had both higher C concentrations and a diminished soil mineral phase, which can mask exothermic reactions associated with SOM combustion (*Fernandez et al.*, 2012). However, we also observed a substantial increase in the energy density of soil C (energy content per unit C) following acid treatment, which may indicate alterations to the SOM pool itself. Greater energy densities are often associated with greater aromaticity, as greater heat inputs are required to combust aromatic structures compared with carbohydrates (*Leifeld*, 2007; *Peltre et al.*, 2013). However, other changes to the thermal behavior of soils can occur due to loss

of the soil mineral phase and concentration of OM (*Peltre et al.*, 2013; *Plante et al.*, 2011). In untreated soils, lower combustion temperatures may be the result of kaolinite catalyzing the thermal oxidation of OM (*Yariv et al.*, 2011). In addition, lower energy densities can result from energy adsorption by the mineral matrix and energy consumption during the desorption of SOM from the mineral phase (*Plante et al.*, 2011). Conversely, in acid treated soils with high C concentrations, oxygen availability may be insufficient for complete burning at lower temperatures (230-380 °C). In such cases, carbon and nitrogen atoms may form intercalated black residues (charcoals) that burn at higher temperatures (300-560 °C, *Yariv et al.* (2011)). Higher C soils may also experience more incomplete combustion as carbon monoxide, a phenomenon which would help explain the lower CO_2 yields of acid-treated soils. The presence of several distinct peaks in some acid-treated soils may likewise be the result of partial combustion followed by secondary condensation reactions (*Duguy and Rovira*, 2010). The question of whether SOM composition can be deconvoluted from other differences in the thermal behavior of soils with different organomineral associations and C concentrations remains to be explored as thermal analysis methods are further refined for SOM studies (*Fernandez et al.*, 2012; *Plante et al.*, 2009).

6.5. Conclusions

Our study is among the first to examine patterns in C chemistry in surface and subsoils in from tropical forests. Similarly to researchers working in Amazonian soils, SOM in these tropical forests appears dominated by carbohydrates and lipids. Differences in SOM composition across two soil types with contrasting mineralogies were small but differences across climactically driven forest types were pronounced. These findings suggest organomineral associations may play a smaller role than climate and vegetation in dictating the chemistry of SOM, possibly because climate can have such a dramatic effect on the soil decomposer community. The three fold higher alkyl: *O*-alkyl C ratio in soils from the Colorado forest suggests a greater degree of OM decomposition, preferential loss of labile polysaccharides and accumulation of poorer-quality aliphatic C, which may be an important component of the stable C pool in these soils. Trends in C chemistry with depth vary at the level of individual soil pits, suggesting topography, drainage and local vegetation are important controls. Similarly to its role influencing bulk soil C and nutrient stocks, topography may represent a major control on C chemistry and mediate the stability of C with depth across the Luquillo Critical Zone.

Fractionation of SOM by HF treatments is an important consideration and should continue to be investigated, particularly in low-C tropical subsoils where many rounds of acid are required to concentrate C. We did not find evidence for consistent patterns in SOM losses among our samples, although variations in ¹⁵N abundances before and after acid treatment may point to selective loss or enrichment of N-rich components such as proteins. Thermal analysis confirmed substantial loss of the soil mineral matrix following acid treatment, but at the present thermal analysis alone cannot conclusively demonstrate changes in SOM composition following acid treatment because disruption of organomineral associations may lead to other changes in the thermal behavior of SOM.

Table 6.1: Number of HF acid treatments per sample, sample mass losses, C and N enrichment factors (C_E and N_E), percent C and N recovered $(C_R \text{ and } N_R)$, and R values indicating the degree of change in C:N ratio following HF

Soil Order	Forest Type	Topo	Depth No.	Acid treatments	Mass Loss %	C_E	N_E	$C_R \% N_R$	% R
Inceptisol	Colorado	Ridge	0	3	44.26	0.88	0.79	48.87 44.0	06.0 0
		Ridge	30	3	83.00	1.62	1.36	27.60 23.0	7 0.84
		Ridge	60	3	47.27	0.89	0.94	46.70 49.4	3 1.06
		Slope	0	3	36.21	1.77	1.87	>100 >10	0 1.05
		Slope	30†	3	78.38	0.34	BDL	7.36 0.0	* C
		Valley	0	3	40.93	0.68	0.64	39.99 37.9	7 0.95
		Valley	30	6	39.43	0.77	0.86	46.72 51.9	1 1.11
		Valley	60	3	24.47	0.65	0.78	48.81 59.1	1 1.21
		Valley	90	2	38.01	1.11	1.42	68.68 87.8	2 1.28
		Valley	140	3	34.12	1.76	2.31	>100 >10	0 1.32
Inceptisol	Tabonuco	Ridge	0	2	45.39	1.08	1.05	59.09 57.2	9 0.97
		Ridge	30†	3	85.55	1.30	1.29	18.86 18.5	8 0.99
		Slope	0	3	46.88	1.50	1.35	79.50 71.5	06.0 0
		Slope	30	3	80.27	1.47	1.36	29.08 26.7	8 0.92
		Valley	0	3	56.08	1.32	1.35	58.03 59.3	5 1.02

page
next
no
ıtinued
Cot

				month and from	Luos					
Soil Order	Forest Type	Topo	Depth No.	Acid treatments N	Mass Loss %	C_E	N_E	C_R %	N_R %	R
		Valley	30	3	75.84	1.75	1.33	42.17	32.21	0.76
		Valley	÷09	4	83.14	1.43	1.09	24.08	18.39	0.76
Oxisol	Colorado	Ridge	0	2	80.38	3.29	3.36	64.51	65.95	1.02
		Ridge	30	5	97.99	11.55	12.40	23.25	24.95	1.07
		Ridge	÷09	5	89.97	2.22	2.77	22.26	27.82	1.25
		Slope	0	c	57.01	1.72	1.73	73.77	74.25	1.01
		Slope	30	4	90.76	3.43	3.35	31.71	30.94	0.98
		Slope	09	9	98.93	15.05	17.00	16.06	18.14	1.13
		Slope	80	5	96.52	10.55	15.86	36.67	55.14	1.50
		Valley	0	С	*	1.87	1.87	*	*	1.00
		Valley	30	С	94.87	7.32	69.9	37.53	34.30	0.91
		Valley	09	5	*	18.27	16.46	*	*	0.90
		Valley	90	9	90.08	15.54	15.86	14.28	14.58	1.02
Oxsiol	Tabonuco	Ridge	0‡	c	54.06	2.28	1.91	>100	87.65	0.84
		Ridge	30	\mathfrak{c}	91.51	2.41	2.53	20.45	21.47	1.05
		Slope	0	4	63.98	2.14	2.13	76.99	76.66	1.00
		Slope	30	4	96.14	6.13	6.67	23.68	25.77	1.09

Table6.1 -Continued from previous page

. I for • ć Tabled 1

 $\dot{\tau}$ = sample excluded from subsequent NMR analysis

BDL = below detection limit

Soil Order	Forest Type	Topo	Depth	δ ¹³ C Initial δ	¹³ C Final	∇	δ ¹⁵ N Initial δ	¹⁵ N Final	\bigtriangledown
Inceptisol	Colorado	Ridge	0	-28.22	-28.92	-0.71	4.24	2.90	-1.34
		Ridge	30	-26.76	-27.60	-0.84	6.01	6.05	0.04
		Ridge	60	-27.07	-27.62	-0.56	4.38	3.47	-0.91
		Slope	0	-28.85	-28.60	0.25	0.80	0.53	-0.28
		Slope	30†	-28.31	-29.55	-1.24	2.72	0.53	-2.19
		Valley	0	-29.04	-29.37	-0.33	1.88	0.24	-1.64
		Valley	30	-29.00	-29.34	-0.35	1.76	0.95	-0.81
		Valley	60	-29.25	-29.54	-0.28	1.36	0.28	-1.08
		Valley	90	-29.43	-29.70	-0.27	2.06	0.69	-1.37
		Valley	140	-28.76	-29.11	-0.35	1.75	0.50	-1.24
Inceptisol	Tabonuco	Ridge	0	-28.36	-28.77	-0.41	2.90	2.63	-0.27
		Ridge	30†	-26.76	-27.56	-0.80	6.44	6.21	-0.23
		Slope	0	-28.19	-28.42	-0.24	4.29	3.42	-0.87
		Slope	30	-27.14	-28.57	-1.43	6.34	3.12	-3.22
		Valley	0	-27.57	-29.14	-1.57	1.27	1.11	-0.16
		Valley	30	-28.15	-28.89	-0.74	3.91	4.62	0.71

Continued on next page

Table 6.2: ¹³C and ¹⁵N stable isotope abundances before and after HF treatment. Values are expressed in parts per thousand (‰)

					•				
Soil Order	Forest Type	Topo	Depth	δ^{13} C Initial	δ ¹³ C Final	Δ	δ ¹⁵ N Initial δ	i ¹⁵ N Final	∇
		Valley	60†	-27.59	-28.89	-1.30	5.03	4.62	-0.41
Oxisol	Colorado	Ridge	0	-28.41	-27.75	0.66	4.75	8.77	4.03
		Ridge	30	-27.35	-27.83	-0.48	6.42	7.07	0.65
		Ridge	÷09	-26.95	-27.75	-0.80	8.00	8.77	0.77
		Slope	0	-27.51	-27.83	-0.33	4.60	4.50	-0.10
		Slope	30	-26.80	-27.70	-0.90	6.81	6.62	-0.19
		Slope	60	-27.03	-27.32	-0.29	5.44	6.01	0.57
		Slope	80	-26.48	-27.49	-1.01	5.83	6.31	0.48
		Valley	0	-28.17	-28.58	-0.41	3.58	4.39	0.81
		Valley	30	-27.68	-28.51	-0.83	4.90	4.50	-0.40
		Valley	60	-27.41	-28.66	-1.25	4.97	4.11	-0.86
		Valley	90	-26.55	-28.00	-1.45	6.12	5.73	-0.39
Oxisol	Tabonuco	Ridge	$\dot{+}0$	-28.02	-28.93	-0.90	4.63	3.13	-1.50
		Ridge	30	-27.34	-28.06	-0.72	7.51	8.21	0.70
		Slope	0	-28.07	-28.34	-0.27	4.58	4.52	-0.06
		Slope	30	-27.25	-27.36	-0.11	6.97	7.26	0.29
		Valley	0	-28.14	-28.28	-0.15	5.97	6.02	0.05

Table 6.2 -Continued from previous page

130

Continued on next page
Ι Δ	0.50	
δ ¹⁵ N Fina	8.19	
δ ¹⁵ N Initial	7.69	
∇	-0.69	
§ ¹³ C Final	-27.43	
δ^{13} C Initial	-26.74	
Depth	30	
Topo	Valley	
Forest Type		
Soil Order		
	Soil Order Forest Type Topo Depth δ^{13} C Initial δ^{13} C Final Δ δ^{15} N Initial δ^{15} N Final Δ	Soil OrderForest TypeTopoDepth δ 13 C Initial Δ δ 15 N Initial δ 15 N Final Δ Valley30-26.74-27.43-0.697.698.190.50

Table6.2 -Continued from previous page

 $\dot{\tau}$ = sample excluded from subsequent NMR analysis

BDL = below detection limit

Table 6.3: Average exothermic energy content and energy density of SOM as determined by DSC, maximum temperatures for energy flux and CO_2 evolution, and CO_2 yield as a % of total sample C. Values represent means \pm one standard error.

	Untreated	HF Treated	T statistic, P value
n	34	34	
Exothermic energy (mJ mg ⁻¹ soil)	992 ± 178	2793 ± 440	4.86, < 0.001
Energy density (mJ mg ⁻¹ C)	15937 ± 1673	22367 ± 1126	3.4, < 0.01
DSC max (°C)	255 ± 4	324 ± 12	5.9, < 0.001
CO ₂ max (°C)	346 ± 4	431 ± 9	9.6, < 0.001
CO ₂ yield (%)	80 ± 3	68 ± 2	-3.4, < 0.01

	Soil (n=28)	Fungi (n=3)	Litter (n=4)	Root (n=4)
Alkyl	32.2 ± 2.2	16.9 ± 3.9	18.8 ± 1.4	12.9 ± 1.1
N-alkyl	8.4 ± 0.3	9.8 ± 1.2	7.2 ± 0.3	9.6 ± 0.1
<i>O</i> -alkyl	23.9 ± 1.2	45.8 ± 6.1	32.1 ± 1.1	46 ± 1.1
Di-O-alkyl	6.9 ± 0.3	11.7 ± 2	8.7 ± 0.1	8.8 ± 0.2
Aromatic	13.4 ± 0.6	4.1 ± 0.9	16.8 ± 0.5	11.5 ± 0.3
Phenolic	6.1 ± 0.4	1.1 ± 0.2	9.6 ± 0.6	5.7 ± 0.2
Amide	9.5 ± 0.3	10.6 ± 2	6.7 ± 1.4	5.5 ± 0.2
Alkyl: O-alkyl	1.6 ± 0.2	0.4 ± 0.2	0.6 ± 0	0.3 ± 0

Table 6.4: Percent size of the seven chemical shift regions integrated from 13 C NMR spectra. Values represent means \pm one standard error.



Figure 6.1: Representative ¹³C NMR spectra from a) a surface soil, b) leaf litter, c) roots and d) fungal biomass. Dashed red lines denote boundaries of integrated chemical shift regions. Integrated chemical shift regions are as follows: Alk = alkyl (0-45 ppm), NA = N-alkyl (45-60)ppm), OA = O-alkyl (60-95 ppm), DiOA = Di-O-alkyl (95-110ppm), Aro = aromatic (110-145 ppm), Pheno = phenolic (145-165 ppm), Am = O-alkylamide (165-215 ppm).



Figure 6.2: Principal components analysis of cleaned ¹³C NMR dataset. Points represent individual samples and arrows represent correlation strengths and directions of major chemical shift regions. 70% confidence ellipses were drawn around distinct groups, including litter, roots and fungi. Triangles indicate surface soils (0 cm), while circles indicate subsoils (30–140 cm). Samples with < 2% C or a spectral signal : noise ratio < 10 were excluded, resulting in the exclusion of 6 soil samples and reducing the total number of soil samples analyzed to 28.



Figure 6.3: ¹³C NMR depth profile sequence for a Colorado Inceptisol valley. Dashed red lines indicate boundaries of different integrated chemical shift regions. Numbers represent the chemical shift value (in ppm) of peak maxima.



Figure 6.4: ¹³C NMR depth profile sequence for a Colorado Oxisol slope. Dashed red lines indicate boundaries of different integrated chemical shift regions. Numbers represent the chemical shift value (in ppm) of peak maxima.



Figure 6.5: ¹³C NMR depth profile sequence for a Colorado Oxisol valley. Dashed red lines indicate boundaries of different integrated chemical shift regions. Numbers represent the chemical shift value (in ppm) of peak maxima.

CHAPTER 7 : Conclusions

This dissertation characterizes the microbial ecology and soil organic matter composition found in soils throughout the Luquillo Critical Zone. Chapter 2 experimentally tests the resource allocation theory of microbial ecology to elucidate controls on microbial activity in surface soils. Subsequent chapters of this dissertation take advantage of natural gradients represented by depth profiles, contrasting parent materials and forest types to investigate environmental controls on soil microbial ecology and soil carbon. The major findings of the dissertation, their limitations, implications and potential avenues for future research are detailed below.

7.1. Effects of plant roots and nutrients on microbial functional traits in surface soils

In chapter 2, we found that microbial extracellular enzyme activities are regulated in response to carbon and nutrient availabilities, consistent with microbial resource allocation theory. Although we observed shifts in plant carbon allocation and tissue nutrient concentrations due to nutrient manipulations, plant roots did not appear to influence microbial responses to nutrients. Experimental artifacts, including relatively high nutrient addition rates, may be at play here, or microbial communities in these surface soils may not be carbon-limited. Longer-term field experiments can help unravel microbial functional responses to shifting resource availability in rhizospheres and bulk soils. Overall, our results suggest the potential for enhanced microbial carbon and nutrient cycling activity due to nitrogen deposition in tropical forest soils.

7.2. Patterns in soil microbial ecology and soil organic matter along depth profiles

A consistent finding throughout chapters 3-6 of this dissertation is the orders of magnitude decline in microbial abundance and activity with depth, which parallels declining energy availability in the form of organic carbon. While the relationship between biological activity and energy may seem self-evident, this association has important and often overlooked implications for the stability of deep SOM. The age of deep SOM is often taken as an indicator of its high stability (*Rumpel and Kogel-Knabner*, 2011; *Trumbore*, 2009), but the degree to which SOM is stabilized by physical protection mechanisms, biochemical recalcitrance or diminished microbial activity has bearing for predicting its long-term persistence. Indeed, the high specific metabolic activities we observe in subsoils suggest that, on a per-biomass basis, the capacity of microorganisms to participate in carbon and nutrient mineralization remains constant or even increases with soil depth. Moreover, we found little difference in microbial metabolic activity across the two soil types, which differ markedly in their texture and mineralogy. This finding suggests that organo-mineral associations may not be a primary control on the stability of carbon with depth in these forest soils. Lastly, in chapter 6 we found the chemical composition of soil organic matter to be similar between surface and subsoils from the same pit. That subsoil carbon is not drastically different in its composition from surface carbon suggests that, despite being older and presumably more microbially processed, the deep soil carbon pool is still composed of recognizable biomolecules rather than "humified", refractory compounds.

Taken together, the results of this dissertation point to low energy availability, and hence suppressed microbial activity, rather than carbon chemistry or organo-mineral associations, as the primary control on deep soil carbon stability. Low energy availability can be a result of greater competition for limited substrates and increased spatial separation between microorganisms, substrates and exoenzymes (*Salome et al.*, 2010). While low energy availability may suppress microbial metabolic activity in situ, the potential for substrate metabolism can (and does) still exist, as indicated by laboratory assays of potential activity or measurements of functional metabolic genes. These findings fit into a broader picture emerging from microbial ecology studies of the "deep biosphere"–low energy subsurface environments including the continental crust and deep ocean sediments–which suggest that, while a substantial fraction of cells in these environments may be dormant, microbial communities are capable of re-starting their metabolism given small amounts of energy and nutrients (*Hoehler and Jorgensen*, 2013).

The possibility of an active carbon cycle to depth of 1 meter and beyond in tropical forests has broad implications for the terrestrial carbon cycle. Integrating even small concentrations of active carbon and biomass over the large volumes of soil below 20 cm depth means that the fluxes associated

with these pools can be significant, particularly on decadal and longer timescales (Trumbore et al., 1995). Moreover, if the stability of subsoil carbon is essentially maintained by microbial starvation, additional inputs of carbon to subsoils may accelerate losses. It has been suggested that one effect of elevated atmospheric CO_2 will be an increase in root exudation, and therefore an increase in the supply of fresh organic matter to depth (Philips et al., 2006). Increased belowground investment of plants could stimulate microbial metabolism and lead to the mineralization of older carbon-the so-called "priming" effect (Fontaine et al., 2007). Land use change can lead to accumulation or loss of carbon in subsoils, with carbon stock increases of up to 48 % found in B-horizons after conversion from forest to grassland (Don et al., 2009; Mueller and Kogel-Knabner, 2009). In addition, natural disturbances such as hurricanes and landslides occur frequently in the Luquillo Mountains and other montane tropical forests (Scatena and Lugo, 1995). Such disturbances can lead the exposure, and potential de-stabilization, of subsoil carbon. While landslide scars accumulate soil organic matter rapidly following disturbance, recovery of soil C pools to pre-disturbance levels can still take decades (Zarin and Johnson, 1995). Chronosequences of landslide scars may offer an opportunity to study the potential for loss of exposed subsoil carbon following disturbance. Finally, very few studies have addressed the potential effects of climate warming on tropical soil carbon cycling, despite projections of mean temperature increases of 1.7-5 °C over the 21st century (Christensen et al., 2007), and the fact that even a slight change in the uptake and storage of C in these ecosystems could have substantial consequences for the global C cycle and present large feedbacks to future climate (Lewis et al., 2009; Wood et al., 2012). The construction of the very first in situ tropical soil warming experiment is currently underway in the El Yunque National Forest, with plans to warm soils to a depth of 1 meter (Gonzalez et al.). This experiment will offer a host of new opportunities for studies of tropical soil carbon dynamics and microbial responses to climate change. Despite the current lack of experimental evidence from field manipulations, the biogeochemical capacity of subsoil microorganisms demonstrated in this dissertation underscores the need for models that track carbon to depths greater than 20 cm in order to accurately simulate responses to global change (Rumpel and Kogel-Knabner, 2011; Schmidt et al., 2011; Trumbore, 2009).

In addition to the implications of our depth profile studies for soil carbon cycling, the study of mi-

crobial community structure and functions along depth profiles advances our basic understanding of microbial ecology and the other biogeochemical processes soil biota perform. To this day it remains the case that the vast majority of soil microbial ecology studies focus on the upper 10 centimeters of the soil profile. However, if soil microbial populations shift with depth, the ecological strategies and metabolic capacities of these communities may change as well. In chapters 3-4 we observe changes in microbial community structure using phospholipid fatty acid analysis, and changes in community functions (as indicated by shifting ecoenzyme ratios and functional gene abundances) with soil depth. The vertical stratification of bacterial N-cycle genes found in chapter 4 suggests N-fixation to be an important process in surface soils, where plant demands for N are greatest, while denitrification may be relatively more important in subsoils due to fluctuating subsurface redox conditions. In addition, high specific phosphatase activity in subsoils may speak to the flexible use of exoenzymes to acquire various resources under energy-limited conditions, as discussed in chapter 4. By considering phosphatase activity strictly as an indicator of microbial phosphorus demand, an idea substantiated by microbial ecological studies in relatively high-carbon environments, we may be overlooking an important aspect of the microbial ecology of tropical subsoils. Taken together, the evidence presented in chapters 3 and 4 suggest that subsoil microbial communities are structurally and functionally distinct from surface communities. Soil profiles may be viewed as an environmental gradient that drives natural selection of communities best able to compete for resources, survive and reproduce at any given depth. Other researchers have found there can be equal or greater changes in microbial communities with soil depth than across surface soils taken from diverse and geographically disparate ecosystems (Eilers et al., 2012). Such findings fit with the cosmopolitan view of the microbial world, which suggests spatial patterns in microbial diversity are driven by environmental heterogeneity more than geographic distance (Green and Bohannan, 2006).

7.3. Patterns in soil microbial ecology and soil organic matter across state factors

In most cases, the dramatic changes we observed in microbial activity with soil depth dwarfed differences across the two parent materials and forest types studied in this dissertation. Nonetheless, this dissertation still finds evidence that state factors have important bearing for carbon biogeochemistry in the critical zone. Our ¹³C NMR results suggest a greater degree of soil organic matter processing and a retention of aliphatic carbon in the cooler, wetter Colorado forest, which supports the findings of previous researchers in this study site (*Cusack et al.*, 2011; *Ostertag et al.*, 2008). The enrichment of alkyl carbon during SOM decomposition suggests aliphatic compounds may represent an important component of the stable carbon pool in these soils (*Mikutta et al.*, 2009; *Ostertag et al.*, 2008). Difference in soil organic matter chemistry across the two forests may relate to broad differences in the substrate use preferences of soil decomposers, as discussed further in chapter 6. In addition, our results suggest topography may play a key role in determining the composition of organic matter present in a soil profile. These findings fit with a recent forest carbon inventory that finds topographic position and forest type are the primary controls on soil carbon stocks at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory (*Johnson et al.*, Under Review). While this dissertation principally focused on the influence of geology and vegetation as state factors that may influence carbon cycling, the study of differences in microbial activity along topographic gradients represents a promising future direction that may help to better identify biogeochemical "hotspots".

While carbon chemistry and microbial carbon cycling activity appear similar across the two parent materials, chapters 4 and 5 present evidence for differences in the nitrogen and phosphorus cycling capacity of the microbial communities, possibly indicative of differences in nutrient availability across two soil types that differ in their texture and mineralogy. Consistently higher levels of nitrogen functional genes in the quartz-diorite parent material may speak to a direct linkage between pedogenesis, soil transport processes, and biogeochemical cycling, with younger, sandier tropical soils exhibiting a more dynamic nitrogen cycle due to more rapid transport of dissolved nitrogen species to depth and potentially greater fluctuations in subsurface redox conditions (*McDowell et al.*, 1992; *McSwiney et al.*, 2001). Greater nitrogen cycling capacity in Inceptisols could also be an indicator of greater phosphorus availability and hence alleviated phosphorus-limitation. Consistent with this second explanation are the lower soil C:P and N:P ratios in Inceptisols compared with the Oxisols, and the higher overall catalytic capacity (K_a) for acid phosphatase in Oxisol soils. A larger pool of organic phosphorus-acquiring enzymes in the Oxisols may be the result of greater

organic phosphorus demand in an environment where inorganic phosphorus is strongly bound to soil minerals (*Chacon et al.*, 2006).

7.4. Methodologies

A secondary goal of this dissertation was to explore the use of various methodologies for the study of microbial ecology and carbon biogeochemistry throughout tropical soil profiles. As discussed in chapter 6, tropical soils pose significant methodological challenges to soil organic matter research due to their high iron content. For microbial ecologists, subsoils pose the additional challenge of low biomass concentrations, making microbial biomass and community structure determiniations challenging. Many of the methods used in this dissertation had to be carefully tested and optimized, and often, our samples found us near the detection limit of our instruments. For instance, routine measurements of bulk soil carbon and nitrogen concentrations via combustion analysis become challenging when carbon concentrations approach 0.1 % or lower, as was the case for many of our samples. Samples with carbon concentrations this low were re-run on a stable isotope mass spectrometer to improve measurement precision. The molecular techniques used in chapter 4 required a great deal of optimization. While DNA extraction from soils is now a routine procedure in microbial ecology, standard DNA extraction protocols needed to be modified to concentrate DNA in low-biomass soils. A major challenge in performing DNA-based studies in clay-rich soils is evaluating whether the extraction procedure is able to capture a representative sample of the microbial community. DNA extraction biases, compounded with the PCR amplification biases discussed in chapter 4, may lead to significant distortion of microbial community composition (Kopczynski et al., 1994; Suzuki and Giovannoni, 1996; Tedersoo et al., 2010). Techniques such as quantitative PCR, which measure the concentration of genes present in a DNA extract, may be subject to less bias than traditional PCR-based approaches, however, quantitative PCR only provides information about the abundance of pre-selected genes, making it an appropriate tool for characterizing select functional attributes but not community structure. The gold standard for assessing microbial community composition is via next-generation sequencing methods such as 454 or Illumina sequencing, which can provide deep taxonomic information on millions of different organisms present in a sample (*Bartram et al.*, 2011). However, extraction and amplification biases are of major concern for soil metagenomic approaches as well (*Kakirde et al.*, 2010; *Lombard et al.*, 2011). Future studies using any molecular tools to characterize the microbial ecology of clay-rich tropical soils will have to take these limitations into consideration.

Phospholipid fatty acid analysis offered us an alternative approach for profiling community structure. An older and less taxonomically precise method than DNA-based approaches, we nevertheless found phospholipid analysis to be a highly valuable technique in this dissertation, due to 1) its relatively high detection limit, 2) the ability of PLFA to provide broad structural information and 3) the use of PLFA as an indicator of viable microbial biomass (*Frostegard et al.*, 2011). Phospholipid analyses are to this day widely used in studies of low-carbon sediments (*Zhu et al.*, 2013; *Zink et al.*, 2003).

We used solid-state ¹³C NMR to assess carbon chemistry chapter 6. The methodological challenges associated with ¹³C NMR as discussed in detail in chapter 6. Overall, we find this technique provides valuable information on the composition of soil organic matter, though for tropical soils and subsoils, the multiple acid treatments required to obtain high-quality spectra raise concerns about soil organic matter fractionation. While we did not find strong evidence of organic matter fractionation, we suggest that researchers continue to explore this possibility when applying ¹³C NMR to soils, given that each soil type will respond to acid treatment somewhat differently. Although beyond the scope of the present dissertation, validation of ¹³C NMR results with an additional chemical profiling technique, such as infrared spectroscopy, may aid researchers in determining whether ¹³C NMR gives us a reliable characterization of soil carbon chemistry.

Tropical soils and subsoils contain unique biology, the ecology and composition of which are just beginning to be explored. The microorganisms inhabiting soils of the Luquillo Critical Zone dynamically contribute to carbon and nutrient cycling throughout at least the upper 1.4 meters of soil profiles and probably deeper. Despite facing resource scarcity in subsoils, resilience exists in the capacity of these microbial communities to mineralize carbon and nutrients. The high potential for subsoil microbial activity, and relatively small differences in carbon chemistry between surface and subsoils suggest that researchers should question the inherent stability of deep soil carbon and the mechanisms that govern it. Models that aim to predict the future changes to the global carbon cycle should begin to consider the capacity for carbon cycling to occur throughout the deep critical zone.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Acosta-Martinez, V., and M. Tabatabai (2011), *Phosphorus Cycle Enzymes*, Soil Science Society of America, Inc., Madison, WI.
- Agnelli, A., J. Ascher, G. Corti, M. T. Ceccherini, P. Nannipieri, and G. Pietramellara (2004), Distribution of microbial communities in a forest soil profile investigated by microbial biomass, soil respiration and DGGE of total and extracellular DNA, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 36(5), 859-868, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.02.004.
- Allison, S., M. Weintraub, T. Gartner, and M. Waldrop (2011), Evolutionary-economic principles as regulators of soil enzyme production and ecosystem function., book section 12, pp. 229–243, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg.
- Allison, S. D. (2005), Cheaters, diffusion and nutrients constrain decomposition by microbial enzymes in spatially structured environments, *Ecology Letters*, 8(6), 626-635.
- Allison, S. D. (2006), Soil minerals and humic acids alter enzyme stability: implications for ecosystem processes, *Biogeochemistry*, 81(3), 361-373.
- Allison, S. D., and J. D. Jastrow (2006), Activities of extracellular enzymes in physically isolated fractions of restored grassland soils, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 38(11), 3245-3256, doi:10. 1016/j.soilbio.2006.04.011.
- Allison, S. D., and J. B. H. Martiny (2008), Resistance, resilience, and redundancy in microbial communities, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105, 11512-11519, doi:10.1073/pnas.0801925105.
- Allison, S. D., and P. M. Vitousek (2005), Responses of extracellular enzymes to simple and complex nutrient inputs, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 37(5), 937-944.
- Allison, S. D., C. A. Hanson, and K. K. Treseder (2007), Nitrogen fertilization reduces diversity and alters community structure of active fungi in boreal ecosystems, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 39(8), 1878-1887.
- Allison, S. D., M. D. Wallenstein, and M. A. Bradford (2010), Soil-carbon response to warming dependent on microbial physiology, *Nature Geoscience*, 3(5), 336-340, doi:10.1038/ngeo846.
- Anderson, J. M., and M. J. Swift (1983), *Decomposition in tropical forests.*, pp. 287–309, Blackwell Science, Oxford.
- Averill, C., and A. Finzi (2011), Plant regulation of microbial enzyme production in situ, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 43(12), 2457-2460, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.09.002.
- Baath, E., and T. H. Anderson (2003), Comparison of soil fungal/bacterial ratios in a pH gradient using physiological and PLFA-based techniques, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 35(7), 955-963, doi:10.1016/s0038-0717(03)00154-8.

Baldock, J., and P. Nelson (1999), Soil organic matter, pp. 25-84, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

- Baldock, J. A., and J. O. Skjemstad (2000), Role of the soil matrix and minerals in protecting natural organic materials against biological attack, *Organic Geochemistry*, *31*(7-8), 697-710, doi: 10.1016/s0146-6380(00)00049-8.
- Baldock, J. A., J. M. Oades, A. M. Vassallo, and M. A. Wilson (1990), Solid-state CP/MAS C-13 NMR analysis of bacterial and fungal cultures isolated from a soil incubated with glucose, *Australian Journal of Soil Research*, 28(2), 213-225, doi:10.1071/sr9900213.
- Baldock, J. A., J. M. Oades, A. G. Waters, X. Peng, A. M. Vassallo, and M. A. Wilson (1992), Aspects of the chemica-structure of soil organic matter as revealed by solid-state C-13 NMRspectroscopy, *Biogeochemistry*, 16(1), 1-42.
- Baldrian, P., V. Merhautova, M. Petrankova, T. Cajthaml, and J. Snajdr (2010), Distribution of microbial biomass and activity of extracellular enzymes in a hardwood forest soil reflect soil moisture content, *Applied Soil Ecology*, 46(2), 177-182, doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2010.08.013.
- Balser, T., D. Wixon, L. Moritz, and L. Lipps (2010), *The Microbiology of Natural Soils*, Springer Science + Business Media B.V., Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- Banwart, S., et al. (2013), Sustaining Earth's Critical Zone: Basic Science and Interdisciplinary Solutions for Global Challenges, The University of Sheffield, United Kingdom.
- Barriuso, E., M. P. Mateos, and S. G. Carcedo (1988), Specific soil urease activity, Agrochimica, 32(4), 284-294.
- Bartram, A. K., M. D. J. Lynch, J. C. Stearns, G. Moreno-Hagelsieb, and J. D. Neufeld (2011), Generation of Multimillion-Sequence 16S rRNA Gene Libraries from Complex Microbial Communities by Assembling Paired-End Illumina Reads, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 77(11), 3846-3852, doi:10.1128/aem.02772-10.
- Bates, D., M. Maechler, and B. Bolker (2012), lme4:Linear mixed-effects models using S4 classes.
- Batjes, N. H. (1996), Total carbon and nitrogen in the soils of the world, *European Journal of Soil Science*, 47(2), 151-163, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2389.1996.tb01386.x.
- Bending, G. D., M. K. Turner, and J. E. Jones (2002), Interactions between crop residue and soil organic matter quality and the functional diversity of soil microbial communities, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 34(8), 1073-1082.
- Blume, E., M. Bischoff, J. M. Reichert, T. Moorman, A. Konopka, and R. F. Turco (2002), Surface and subsurface microbial biomass, community structure and metabolic activity as a function of soil depth and season, *Applied Soil Ecology*, 20(3), 171-181.
- Boccheciamp, R., W. Rivera, J. Trigo, J. Brunet, E. Torres, W. McKinze, and L. Rivera (1977), Soil Survey of the Humacao Area of Eastern Puerto Rico, *Report*, USDA Soil Conservation ServiceâĂă.

- Bossio, D. A., and K. M. Scow (1998), Impacts of carbon and flooding on soil microbial communities: Phospholipid fatty acid profiles and substrate utilization patterns, *Microbial Ecology*, *35*(3), 265-278.
- Brady, N., and R. Weill (1996), *The Nature and Properties of Soils.*, 11 ed., Prentice Hall, Inc., Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- Brookshire, E. N. J., S. Gerber, D. N. L. Menge, and L. O. Hedin (2012), Large losses of inorganic nitrogen from tropical rainforests suggest a lack of nitrogen limitation, *Ecology Letters*, 15(1), 9-16, doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01701.x.
- Brown, A. L. P., J. L. Garland, and F. P. Day (2009), Physiological Profiling of Soil Microbial Communities in a Florida Scrub-Oak Ecosystem: Spatial Distribution and Nutrient Limitations, *Microbial Ecology*, 57(1), 14-24, doi:10.1007/s00248-008-9461-0.
- Brown, S., A. Lugo, S. Silander, and L. Liegel (1983), Research history and opportunities in the Luquillo Experimental Forest, *Report*, USDA Forest Service.
- Burns, R. G. (1982), Enzyme activity in soil-location and a possible role in microbial ecology, Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 14(5), 423-427, burns, rg.
- Buss, H. L., M. A. Bruns, M. J. Schultz, J. Moore, C. F. Mathur, and S. L. Brantley (2005), The coupling of biological iron cycling and mineral weathering during saprolite formation, Luquillo Mountains, Puerto Rico, *Geobiology*, 3(4), 247-260.
- Buss, H. L., R. Mathur, A. F. White, and S. L. Brantley (2010), Phosphorus and iron cycling in deep saprolite, Luquillo Mountains, Puerto Rico, *Chemical Geology*, 269(1-2), 52-61.
- Carreiro, M. M., R. L. Sinsabaugh, D. A. Repert, and D. F. Parkhurst (2000), Microbial enzyme shifts explain litter decay responses to simulated nitrogen deposition, *Ecology*, 81(9), 2359-2365, doi:10.2307/177459.
- Chacon, N., W. L. Silver, E. A. Dubinsky, and D. F. Cusack (2006), Iron reduction and soil phosphorus solubilization in humid tropical forests soils: The roles of labile carbon pools and an electron shuttle compound, *Biogeochemistry*, 78(1), 67-84, doi:10.1007/s10533-005-2343-3.
- Chapman, S. K., and G. S. Newman (2010), Biodiversity at the plant-soil interface: microbial abundance and community structure respond to litter mixing, *Oecologia*, *162*(3), 763-769, doi: 10.1007/s00442-009-1498-3.
- Chen, X.-P., Y.-G. Zhu, Y. Xia, J.-P. Shen, and J.-Z. He (2008), Ammonia-oxidizing archaea: important players in paddy rhizosphere soil?, *Environmental Microbiology*, *10*(8), 1978-1987, doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2008.01613.x.
- Christensen, J., et al. (2007), *Regional climate projections.*, pp. 848–940, Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Chrost, R. (1991), Microbial enzymes in aquatic environments., Springer-Verlag, New York, NY.

- Clarholm, M. (1993), Microbial biomass-P, labile-P, and acid-phosphatase activity in the humus layer of a spruce forest, after repeated additions of fertilizers, *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *16*(4), 287-292, doi:10.1007/bf00369306.
- Cleveland, C. C., and D. Liptzin (2007), C : N : P stoichiometry in soil: is there a "Redfield ratio" for the microbial biomass?, *Biogeochemistry*, 85(3), 235-252.
- Cleveland, C. C., and A. R. Townsend (2006), Nutrient additions to a tropical rain forest drive substantial soil carbon dioxide losses to the atmosphere, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(27), 10316-10321, doi:10.1073/pnas.0600989103.
- Cleveland, C. C., et al. (2011), Relationships among net primary productivity, nutrients and climate in tropical rain forest: a pan-tropical analysis, *Ecology Letters*, *14*(9), 939-947, doi:10.1111/j. 1461-0248.2011.01658.x.
- Compton, J. E., L. S. Watrud, L. A. Porteous, and S. DeGrood (2004), Response of soil microbial biomass and community composition to chronic nitrogen additions at Harvard forest, *Forest Ecology and Management*, 196(1), 143-158, doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2004.03.017.
- Crottereau, C., and D. Delmas (1998), Exoproteolytic activity in an Atlantic pond (France): estimates of in situ activity, *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, *15*(3), 217-224, doi:10.3354/ame015217.
- Cusack, D. F., W. Silver, and W. H. McDowell (2009), Biological Nitrogen Fixation in Two Tropical Forests: Ecosystem-Level Patterns and Effects of Nitrogen Fertilization, *Ecosystems*, 12(8), 1299-1315, doi:10.1007/s10021-009-9290-0.
- Cusack, D. F., W. L. Silver, M. S. Torn, S. D. Burton, and M. K. Firestone (2011), Changes in microbial community characteristics and soil organic matter with nitrogen additions in two tropical forests, *Ecology*, 92(3), 621-632.
- Dai, K. H., and C. E. Johnson (1999), Applicability of solid-state C-13 CP/MAS NMR analysis in Spodosols: chemical removal of magnetic materials, *Geoderma*, 93(3-4), 289-310, doi:10.1016/ s0016-7061(99)00072-5.
- Davidson, E. A., et al. (2007), Recuperation of nitrogen cycling in Amazonian forests following agricultural abandonment, *Nature*, 447(7147), 995-U6, doi:10.1038/nature05900.
- DeAngelis, K. M., W. L. Silver, A. W. Thompson, and M. K. Firestone (2010), Microbial communities acclimate to recurring changes in soil redox potential status, *Environmental Microbiology*, *12*(12), 3137-3149.
- DeForest, J. L. (2009), The influence of time, storage temperature, and substrate age on potential soil enzyme activity in acidic forest soils using MUB-linked substrates and L-DOPA, *Soil Biology* & *Biochemistry*, 41(6), 1180-1186.
- DeForest, J. L., and L. G. Scott (2010), Available Organic Soil Phosphorus Has an Important Influence on Microbial Community Composition, *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 74(6), 2059-2066, doi:10.2136/sssaj2009.0426.

- DeForest, J. L., K. A. Smemo, D. J. Burke, H. L. Elliott, and J. C. Becker (2012), Soil microbial responses to elevated phosphorus and pH in acidic temperate deciduous forests, *Biogeochemistry*, *109*(1-3), 189-202.
- Dick, D. P., C. N. Goncalves, R. S. D. Dalmolin, H. Knicker, E. Klamt, I. Kogel-Knaber, M. L. Simoes, and L. Martin-Neto (2005), Characteristics of soil organic matter of different Brazilian Ferralsols under native vegetation as a function of soil depth, *Geoderma*, 124(3-4), 319-333, doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2004.05.008.
- Don, A., T. Scholten, and E. D. Schulze (2009), Conversion of cropland into grassland: Implications for soil organic-carbon stocks in two soils with different texture, *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science-Zeitschrift Fur Pflanzenernahrung Und Bodenkunde*, 172(1), 53-62, doi:10.1002/ jpln.200700158.
- Dorioz, J. M., M. Robert, and C. Chenu (1993), The role of roots fungi and bacteria on clay particle organization- an experimental approach, *Geoderma*, 56(1-4), 179-194, doi:10.1016/0016-7061(93)90109-x.
- Drake, J. E., B. A. Darby, M. A. Giasson, M. A. Kramer, R. P. Phillips, and A. C. Finzi (2013), Stoichiometry constrains microbial response to root exudation-insights from a model and a field experiment in a temperate forest, *Biogeosciences*, 10(2), 821-838, doi:10.5194/bg-10-821-2013.
- Duguy, B., and P. Rovira (2010), Differential thermogravimetry and differential scanning calorimetry of soil organic matter in mineral horizons: Effect of wildfires and land use, *Organic Geochemistry*, 41(8), 742-752, doi:10.1016/forggeochem.2010.05.015.
- Dutton, C. M., C. Paynton, and S. S. Sommer (1993), General method for amplifying regions of very high G+C content, *Nucleic Acids Research*, 21(12), 2953-2954, doi:10.1093/nar/21.12.2953.
- Eilers, K. G., S. Debenport, S. Anderson, and N. Fierer (2012), Digging deeper to find unique microbial communities: The strong effect of depth on the structure of bacterial and archaeal communities in soil, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 50, 58-65.
- Ekelund, F., R. Ronn, and S. Christensen (2001), Distribution with depth of protozoa, bacteria and fungi in soil profiles from three Danish forest sites, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 33(4-5), 475-481.
- Esti, M., I. Benucci, K. Liburdi, and A. M. V. Garzillo (2011), Effect of Wine Inhibitors on Free Pineapple Stem Bromelain Activity in a Model Wine System, *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59(7), 3391-3397, doi:10.1021/jf104919v.
- Eusterhues, K., C. Rumpel, M. Kleber, and I. Kogel-Knabner (2003), Stabilisation of soil organic matter by interactions with minerals as revealed by mineral dissolution and oxidative degradation, *Organic Geochemistry*, 34(12), 1591-1600.
- Fang, C. M., and J. B. Moncrieff (2005), The variation of soil microbial respiration with depth in relation to soil carbon composition, *Plant and Soil*, 268(1-2), 243-253.

- FAO (2001), Global forest resources assessment 2000- main report, Report.
- Farrell, R. E., V. Gupta, and J. J. Germida (1994), Effects of cultivation on the activity and kinetics of arylsulfatase in Saskatchewan soils, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 26(8), 1033-1040, doi:10. 1016/0038-0717(94)90118-x.
- Farrelly, V., F. A. Rainey, and E. Stackebrandt (1995), Effect of genome size and RRN gene copy number on PCR amplification of 16S ribsomal-RNA genes from a mixture of bacterial species, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 61(7), 2798-2801.
- Federle, T. W., D. C. Dobbins, J. R. Thorntonmanning, and D. D. Jones (1986), Microbial biomass, activity and community structure in subsurface soils, *Ground Water*, 24(3), 365-374.
- Fernandez, J. M., C. Peltre, J. Craine, and A. Plante (2012), Improved Characterization of Soil Organic Matter by Thermal Analysis Using CO2/H2O Evolved Gas Analysis, *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46, 8921-8927.
- Fierer, N., and R. B. Jackson (2006), The diversity and biogeography of soil bacterial communities, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(3), 626-631.
- Fierer, N., and J. T. Lennon (2011), The generation and maintenance of diversity in microbial communities, *American Journal of Botany*, 98(3), 439-448, doi:10.3732/ajb.1000498.
- Fierer, N., A. S. Allen, J. P. Schimel, and P. A. Holden (2003a), Controls on microbial CO2 production: a comparison of surface and subsurface soil horizons, *Global Change Biology*, 9(9), 1322-1332.
- Fierer, N., J. P. Schimel, and P. A. Holden (2003b), Variations in microbial community composition through two soil depth profiles, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 35(1), 167-176.
- Fierer, N., et al. (2007), Metagenomic and small-subunit rRNA analyses reveal the genetic diversity of bacteria, archaea, fungi, and viruses in soil, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73(21), 7059-7066, doi:10.1128/aem.00358-07.
- Fischlin, A., et al. (2007), *Ecosystems, their properties, goods, and services.*, pp. 211–272, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Fog, K. (1988), The effect of added nitrogen on the rate of decomposition of organic-matter, *Biological Reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society*, *63*(3), 433-462, doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X. 1988.tb00725.x.
- Fontaine, S., S. Barot, P. Barre, N. Bdioui, B. Mary, and C. Rumpel (2007), Stability of organic carbon in deep soil layers controlled by fresh carbon supply, *Nature*, 450(7167), 277-U10, doi: 10.1038/nature06275.
- Fonte, S. J., and T. D. Schowalter (2004), Decomposition of greenfall vs. senescent foliage in a tropical forest ecosystem in Puerto Rico, *Biotropica*, *36*(4), 474-482.

- Forbes, M. S., K. Broos, J. A. Baldock, A. L. Gregg, and S. A. Wakelin (2009), Environmental and edaphic drivers of bacterial communities involved in soil N-cycling, *Australian Journal of Soil Research*, 47(4), 380-388, doi:10.1071/sr08126.
- Frey, S. D., M. Knorr, J. L. Parrent, and R. T. Simpson (2004), Chronic nitrogen enrichment affects the structure and function of the soil microbial community in temperate hardwood and pine forests, *Forest Ecology and Management*, 196(1), 159-171, doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2004.03.018.
- Fritze, H., J. Pietikainen, and T. Pennanen (2000), Distribution of microbial biomass and phospholipid fatty acids in Podzol profiles under coniferous forest, *European Journal of Soil Science*, 51(4), 565-573.
- Frossard, A., L. Gerull, M. Mutz, and M. O. Gessner (2012), Disconnect of microbial structure and function: enzyme activities and bacterial communities in nascent stream corridors, *Isme Journal*, 6(3), 680-691.
- Frostegard, A., A. Tunlid, and E. Baath (2011), Use and misuse of PLFA measurements in soils, Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 43(8), 1621-1625.
- Galloway, J. N., et al. (2004), Nitrogen cycles: past, present, and future, *Biogeochemistry*, 70(2), 153-226, doi:10.1007/s10533-004-0370-0.
- Gans, J., M. Wolinsky, and J. Dunbar (2005), Computational improvements reveal great bacterial diversity and high metal toxicity in soil, *Science*, *309*(5739), 1387-1390.
- Gelsomino, A., and A. Azzellino (2011), Multivariate analysis of soils: microbial biomass, metabolic activity, and bacterial-community structure and their relationships with soil depth and type, *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 174(3), 381-394.
- German, D. P., M. N. Weintraub, A. S. Grandy, C. L. Lauber, Z. L. Rinkes, and S. D. Allison (2011), Optimization of hydrolytic and oxidative enzyme methods for ecosystem studies, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 43(7), 1387-1397.
- Ghiorse, W., and J. Wilson (1988), *Microbial ecology of the terrestrial subsurface.*, pp. 107–172, Academic Press, New York.
- Gianfreda, L., and M. Rao (2011), *Stabilizing Enzymes as Synthetic Complexes*, pp. 319–369, Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI.
- Gianfreda, L., M. A. Rao, and A. Violante (1991), Invertase (beta-fructosidase)- effects of montmorillonite, Al-hydroxide and Al (OH) X-montmorillonite complex on activity and kineticproperties, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 23(6), 581-587, doi:10.1016/0038-0717(91)90116-2.
- Gianfreda, L., M. A. Rao, and A. Violante (1992), Adsorption, activity and kinetic-properties of urease on montmorillonite, aluminum hydroxide and Al (OH) X-montmorillonite complexes, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 24(1), 51-58, doi:10.1016/0038-0717(92)90241-o.

- Giardina, C. P., M. G. Ryan, D. Binkley, and J. H. Fownes (2003), Primary production and carbon allocation in relation to nutrient supply in a tropical experimental forest, *Global Change Biology*, 9(10), 1438-1450, doi:10.1046/j.1365-2486.2003.00558.x.
- Glazer, A., and H. Nikaido (1995), Microbial Biotechnology, W.H. Freeman, New York.
- Gleixner, C. CJ, K. C, L. B, and S. MWI (2001), Plant compounds and their turnover and stabilization as soil organic matter., pp. 201–215, Academic Press, San Diego, CA.
- Goncalves, C. N., R. S. D. Dalmolin, D. P. Dick, H. Knicker, E. Klamt, and I. Kogel-Knabner (2003), The effect of 10CPMAS C-13 NMR spectra and on the quality of organic matter in Ferralsols, *Geoderma*, *116*(3-4), 373-392, doi:10.1016/s0016-7061(03)00119-8.
- Gonzalez, G., D. Lodge, K. McGinley, L. Jennings, T. Heartsill-Scalley, and T. Wood (), Tropical forest responses to Global change: Evidence from the Luquillo Experimental Forest, in *Ecological Society of America*.
- Graffelman, J. (2013), calibrate: Calibration of Scatterplot and Biplot Axes.âĂă.
- Green, J., and B. J. M. Bohannan (2006), Spatial scaling of microbial biodiversity, *Trends in Ecology Evolution*, 21, 501-507.
- Greenhouse, S., and S. Geisser (1959), On Methods in the Analysis of Profile Data, *Psychometrika*, *32*, 95-112.
- Griffiths, B. S., K. Ritz, N. Ebblewhite, and G. Dobson (1999), Soil microbial community structure: Effects of substrate loading rates, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, *31*(1), 145-153.
- Guckert, J. B., C. P. Antworth, P. D. Nichols, and D. C. White (1985), Phospholipid, ester-linked fatty-acid profiles as reproducible assays for changes in prokaryotic community structure of estuarine sediments, *Fems Microbiology Ecology*, 31(3), 147-158.
- Hafeez, F., A. Spor, M.-C. Breuil, C. Schwartz, F. Martin-Laurent, and L. Philippot (2012), Distribution of bacteria and nitrogen-cycling microbial communities along constructed Technosol depth-profiles, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 231, 88-97, doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2012.06.041.
- Hall, S. J., and W. L. Silver (2013), Iron oxidation stimulates organic matter decomposition in humid tropical forest soils, *Global Change Biology*, 19(9), 2804-2813.
- Hansel, C. M., S. Fendorf, P. M. Jardine, and C. A. Francis (2008), Changes in bacterial and archaeal community structure and functional diversity along a geochemically variable soil profile, *Applied* and Environmental Microbiology, 74(5), 1620-1633.
- Harris, N., A. Lugo, S. Brown, and T. Heartsill Scalley (2012), Luquillo Experimental Forest: Research history and opportunities., *Report*, U.S. Department of Agriculture.
- Harrison, A. (1987), Soil Organic Phosphorus: A Review of World Literature, 257 pp., CAB International, Wallingford, Oxon, UK.

- Hartmann, M., S. Lee, S. J. Hallam, and W. W. Mohn (2009), Bacterial, archaeal and eukaryal community structures throughout soil horizons of harvested and naturally disturbed forest stands, *Environmental Microbiology*, 11(12), 3045-3062.
- Heckman, K., A. Welty-Bernard, C. Rasmussen, and E. Schwartz (2009), Geologic controls of soil carbon cycling and microbial dynamics in temperate conifer forests, *Chemical Geology*, 267(1-2), 12-23.
- Henry, H. A. L., J. D. Juarez, C. B. Field, and P. M. Vitousek (2005), Interactive effects of elevated CO2, N deposition and climate change on extracellular enzyme activity and soil density fractionation in a California annual grassland, *Global Change Biology*, 11(10), 1808-1815, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.001007.x.
- Hernandez, D. L., and S. E. Hobbie (2010), The effects of substrate composition, quantity, and diversity on microbial activity, *Plant and Soil*, 335(1-2), 397-411.
- Hobbie, S. E. (1992), Effects of plant-species on nutrient cycling, *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 7(10), 336-339, doi:10.1016/0169-5347(92)90126-v.
- Hodge, A., I. J. Alexander, and G. W. Gooday (1995), Chitinolytic enzymes of pathogenic and ectomycorrhizal fungi, *Mycological Research*, *99*, 935-941.
- Hoehler, T. M., and B. B. Jorgensen (2013), Microbial life under extreme energy limitation, *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 11(2), 83-94.
- Holden, P. A., and N. Fierer (2005), Microbial processes in the vadose zone, *Vadose Zone Journal*, 4(1), 1-21.
- Holdridge, L. (1967), Life Zone Ecology, Tropical Science Center, San Jose, Costa Rica.
- Hong, S. H., J. Bunge, C. Leslin, S. Jeon, and S. S. Epstein (2009), Polymerase chain reaction primers miss half of rRNA microbial diversity, *Isme Journal*, 3(12), 1365-1373, doi:10.1038/ ismej.2009.89.
- Hoppe, H. G., and S. Ullrich (1999), Profiles of ectoenzymes in the Indian Ocean: phenomena of phosphatase activity in the mesopelagic zone, *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, *19*(2), 139-148.
- Hui, D. F., M. A. Mayes, and G. S. Wang (2013), Kinetic parameters of phosphatase: A quantitative synthesis, Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 65, 105-113, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.05.017.
- IPCC (2007), Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis.
- Jobbagy, E. G., and R. B. Jackson (2000), The vertical distribution of soil organic carbon and its relation to climate and vegetation, *Ecological Applications*, *10*(2), 423-436.
- Johnson, A., and X. Hao (2013), Landscape-Scale Soil Survey Results for Soil Profile.

- Johnson, A., X. X. Hao, and F. Scatena (Under Review), Controls on soil carbon stocks in El Yunque National Forest, Puerto Rico, *Soil Science Society of America Journal, Under Review*.
- Johnson, A. H., J. Frizano, and D. R. Vann (2003), Biogeochemical implications of labile phosphorus in forest soils determined by the Hedley fractionation procedure, *Oecologia*, 135(4), 487-499.
- Johnson, K. D., F. N. Scatena, and W. L. Silver (2011), Atypical soil carbon distribution across a tropical steepland forest catena, *Catena*, 87(3), 391-397.
- Jolles, P., and R. Muzzarelli (1999), Preface, Birkhauser Verlag, Basel.
- Kaiser, K., and G. Guggenberger (2000), The role of DOM sorption to mineral surfaces in the preservation of organic matter in soils, *Organic Geochemistry*, 31(7-8), 711-725, doi:10.1016/ s0146-6380(00)00046-2.
- Kaiser, K., and K. Kalbitz (2012), Cycling downwards dissolved organic matter in soils, Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 52, 29-32, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.04.002.
- Kaiser, K., and W. Zech (2000), Dissolved organic matter sorption by mineral constituents of subsoil clay fractions, *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science-Zeitschrift Fur Pflanzenernahrung Und Bodenkunde*, *163*(5), 531-535, doi:10.1002/1522-2624(200010)163:5<531::aid-jpln531>3. 0.co;2-n.
- Kaiser, K., K. Eusterhues, C. Rumpel, G. Guggenberger, and I. Kogel-Knabner (2002), Stabilization of organic matter by soil minerals - investigations of density and particle-size fractions from two acid forest soils, *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science-Zeitschrift Fur Pflanzenernahrung Und Bodenkunde*, 165(4), 451-459, doi:10.1002/1522-2624(200208)165:4<451::aid-jpln451>3. 0.co;2-b.
- Kaiser, K., G. Guggenberger, and L. Haumaier (2004), Changes in dissolved lignin-derived phenols, neutral sugars, uronic acids, and amino sugars with depth in forested Haplic Arenosols and Rendzic Leptosols, *Biogeochemistry*, 70(1), 135-151, doi:10.1023/b:biog.0000049340.77963.18.
- Kakirde, K. S., L. C. Parsley, and M. R. Liles (2010), Size does matter: Application-driven approaches for soil metagenomics, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 42(11), 1911-1923, doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.07.021.
- Kan, J. J., K. Wang, and F. Chen (2006), Temporal variation and detection limit of an estuarine bacterioplankton community analyzed by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE), *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 42(1), 7-18, doi:10.3354/ame042007.
- Kanagawa, T. (2003), Bias and artifacts in multitemplate polymerase chain reactions (PCR), *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 96(4), 317-323, doi:10.1016/s1389-1723(03)90130-7.
- Karathanasis, T. A. D., and W. G. Harris (1994), *Quantitative thermal analysis of soil materials.*, pp. 360–411, Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI.

- Kelleher, B. P., and A. J. Simpson (2006), Humic substances in soils: Are they really chemically distinct?, *Environmental Science & Technology*, 40(15), 4605-4611, doi:10.1021/es0608085.
- Kelleher, B. P., A. J. Simpson, K. O. Willeford, M. J. Simpson, R. Stout, A. Rafferty, and W. L. Kingery (2004), Acid phosphatase interactions with organo-mineral complexes: influence on catalytic activity, *Biogeochemistry*, 71(3), 285-297, doi:10.1023/B:BIOG.0000049348.53070.6f.
- Khalili, B., F. Nourbakhsh, N. Nili, H. Khademi, and B. Sharifnabi (2011), Diversity of soil cellulase isoenzymes is associated with soil cellulase kinetic and thermodynamic parameters, *Soil Biology* & *Biochemistry*, 43(8), 1639-1648, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.03.019.
- Kisand, V., and J. Wikner (2003), Limited resolution of 16S rDNA DGGE caused by melting properties and closely related DNA sequences, *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 54(2), 183-191, doi:10.1016/s0167-7012(03)00038-1.
- Kleber, M., R. Mikutta, M. S. Torn, and R. Jahn (2005), Poorly crystalline mineral phases protect organic matter in acid subsoil horizons, *European Journal of Soil Science*, 56(6), 717-725, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2389.2005.00706.x.
- Kleber, M., P. Sollins, and R. Sutton (2007), A conceptual model of organo-mineral interactions in soils: self-assembly of organic molecular fragments into zonal structures on mineral surfaces, *Biogeochemistry*, 85(1), 9-24, doi:10.1007/s10533-007-9103-5.
- Kleber, M., P. S. Nico, A. F. Plante, T. Filley, M. Kramer, C. Swanston, and P. Sollins (2011), Old and stable soil organic matter is not necessarily chemically recalcitrant: implications for modeling concepts and temperature sensitivity, *Global Change Biology*, 17(2), 1097-1107, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02278.x.
- Knicker, H., and H. D. Ludemann (1995), N-15 and C-13 CPMAS and solution NMR-studies of N-15 enriched plant-material during 600 days of microbial-degradation, *Organic Geochemistry*, 23(4), 329-341, doi:10.1016/0146-6380(95)00007-2.
- Knight, T. R., and R. P. Dick (2004), Differentiating microbial and stabilized beta-glucosidase activity relative to soil quality, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 36(12), 2089-2096, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio. 2004.06.007.
- Kogel-Knabner, I. (1997), C-13 and N-15 NMR spectroscopy as a tool in soil organic matter studies, *Geoderma*, 80(3-4), 243-270, doi:10.1016/s0016-7061(97)00055-4.
- Kogel-Knabner, I. (2000), Analytical approaches for characterizing soil organic matter, Organic Geochemistry, 31(7-8), 609-625, doi:10.1016/s0146-6380(00)00042-5.
- Kogel-Knabner, I. (2002), The macromolecular organic composition of plant and microbial residues as inputs to soil organic matter, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 34(2), 139-162.
- Kogel-Knabner, I., P. G. Hatcher, E. W. Tegelaar, and J. W. Deleeuw (1992a), Aliphatic components of forest soil organic-matter as determined by solid-state C-13 NMR and analytical pyrolysis, *Science of the Total Environment*, 113(1-2), 89-106, doi:10.1016/0048-9697(92)90018-n.

- Kogel-Knabner, I., J. Deleeuw, and P. G. Hatcher (1992b), Nature and distribution of alkyl carbon in forest soil profiles- implications for the origin and humification of aliphatic biomacromolecules, *Science of the Total Environment*, 118, 175-185.
- Kopczynski, E. D., M. M. Bateson, and D. M. Ward (1994), Recognition of chimeric small-subunit ribosomal DNAs composed of genes from uncultivated microorganisms, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 60(2), 746-748.
- Kramer, C., and G. Gleixner (2008), Soil organic matter in soil depth profiles: Distinct carbon preferences of microbial groups during carbon transformation, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 40(2), 425-433.
- Kramer, S., S. Marhan, H. Haslwimmer, L. Ruess, and E. Kandeler (2013), Temporal variation in surface and subsoil abundance and function of the soil microbial community in an arable soil, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 61, 76-85.
- Krashevska, V., M. Maraun, L. Ruess, and S. Scheu (2010), Carbon and nutrient limitation of soil microorganisms and microbial grazers in a tropical montane rain forest, *Oikos*, *119*(6), 1020-1028, doi:10.1111/j.1600-0706.2009.18169.x.
- Krull, E. S., and J. O. Skjemstad (2003), delta(13)C and delta(15)N profiles in (14)C-dated Oxisol and Vertisols as a function of soil chemistry and mineralogy, *Geoderma*, 112(1-2), 1-29, doi: 10.1016/s0016-7061(02)00291-4.
- Kuzyakov, Y. (2002), Review: Factors affecting rhizosphere priming effects, *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science-Zeitschrift Fur Pflanzenernahrung Und Bodenkunde*, 165(4), 382-396, doi:10.1002/1522-2624(200208)165:4<382::aid-jpln382>3.0.co;2-#.
- Ladd (1978), Origin and range of enzymes in soil, pp. 51-96, Academic Press, London.
- Lane, D. (1991), 16S/23S rRNA sequencing, pp. 115–175, Academic Press, Chichester, U.K.
- Lawrence, W. (1996), The Food Base, p. 616, University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL.
- Legendre, P. (2013), Imodel2: Model II Regression.
- Leifeld, J. (2007), Thermal stability of black carbon characterised by oxidative differential scanning calorimetry, *Organic Geochemistry*, *38*(1), 112-127, doi:10.1016/j.orggeochem.2006.08.004.
- Leininger, S., T. Urich, M. Schloter, L. Schwark, J. Qi, G. W. Nicol, J. I. Prosser, S. C. Schuster, and C. Schleper (2006), Archaea predominate among ammonia-oxidizing prokaryotes in soils, *Nature*, 442(7104), 806-809, doi:10.1038/nature04983.
- Lewis, S. L., J. Lloyd, S. Sitch, E. T. A. Mitchard, and W. F. Laurance (2009), *Changing Ecology of Tropical Forests: Evidence and Drivers, Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics*, vol. 40, pp. 529–549, Annual Reviews, Palo Alto, doi:10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.39.110707. 173345.

- Lichtfouse, E., C. Leblond, M. Da Silva, and F. Behar (1998), Occurrence of biomarkers and straight-chain biopolymers in humin: Implication for the origin of soil organic matter, *Natur*wissenschaften, 85(10), 497-501, doi:10.1007/s001140050538.
- Lindsay, E. A., M. J. Colloff, N. L. Gibb, and S. A. Wakelin (2010), The Abundance of Microbial Functional Genes in Grassy Woodlands Is Influenced More by Soil Nutrient Enrichment than by Recent Weed Invasion or Livestock Exclusion, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 76(16), 5547-5555, doi:10.1128/aem.03054-09.
- Lindsay, W. (1979), Chemical Equilibria in Soils, Wiley, New York, NY, USA.
- Livingston, G. P., P. M. Vitousek, and P. A. Matson (1988), Nitrous-oxide flux and nitrogen transformations across a lanscape gradient in Amazonia, *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres*, 93(D2), 1593-1599, doi:10.1029/JD093iD02p01593.
- Lombard, N., E. Prestat, J. D. van Elsas, and P. Simonet (2011), Soil-specific limitations for access and analysis of soil microbial communities by metagenomics, *Fems Microbiology Ecology*, 78(1), 31-49.
- Marhan, S., L. Philippot, D. Bru, S. Rudolph, J. Franzaring, P. Hogy, A. Fangmeier, and E. Kandeler (2011), Abundance and activity of nitrate reducers in an arable soil are more affected by temporal variation and soil depth than by elevated atmospheric CO2, *Fems Microbiology Ecology*, 76(2), 209-219, doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2011.01048.x.
- Marin-Spiotta, E., O. A. Chadwick, M. Kramer, and M. S. Carbone (2011), Carbon delivery to deep mineral horizons in Hawaiian rain forest soils, *Journal of Geophysical Research-Biogeosciences*, 116, doi:10.1029/2010jg001587, times Cited: 5 Carbone, Mariah/H-7389-2012 Carbone, Mariah/0000-0002-7832-7009 5.
- Martinez, A. T., A. E. Gonzalez, M. Valmaseda, B. E. Dale, M. J. Lambregts, and J. F. Haw (1991), Solid-state NMR-studies of lignin and plant polysaccharide degradation by fungi, *Holzforschung*, 45, 49-54, doi:10.1515/hfsg.1991.45.s1.49.
- Marx, M. C., E. Kandeler, M. Wood, N. Wermbter, and S. C. Jarvis (2005), Exploring the enzymatic landscape: distribution and kinetics of hydrolytic enzymes in soil particle-size fractions, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 37(1), 35-48, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.05.024.
- McCarthy, A. J., and S. T. Williams (1992), Actinomycetes as agents of biodegradation in the environment- A review, *Gene*, 115(1-2), 189-192.
- McDowell, W., F. Scatena, and R. Waide (2012), Geographic and ecological setting of the Luquillo Mountains., pp. 72–163, Oxford University Press, USA.
- McDowell, W. H., W. B. Bowden, and C. E. Asbury (1992), Riparian nitrogen dynamics in 2geomorphilcally distinct tropical rain-forest watersheds- subsurface solute patterns, *Biogeochemistry*, 18(2), 53-75.

- McGroddy, M., and W. L. Silver (2000), Variations in belowground carbon storage and soil CO2 flux rates along a wet tropical climate gradient, *Biotropica*, *32*(4), 614-624.
- McGroddy, M. E., T. Daufresne, and L. O. Hedin (2004), Scaling of C : N : P stoichiometry in forests worldwide: Implications of terrestrial redfield-type ratios, *Ecology*, 85(9), 2390-2401, doi:10.1890/03-0351.
- McSwiney, C. P., W. H. McDowell, and M. Keller (2001), Distribution of nitrous oxide and regulators of its production across a tropical rainforest catena in the Luquillo Experimental Forest, Puerto Rico, *Biogeochemistry*, 56(3), 265-286, doi:10.1023/a:1013191010244.
- Mergel, A., O. Schmitz, T. Mallmann, and H. Bothe (2001), Relative abundance of denitrifying and dinitrogen-fixing bacteria in layers of a forest soil, *Fems Microbiology Ecology*, 36(1), 33-42, doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2001.tb00823.x.
- Mertz, C., M. Kleber, and R. Jahn (2005), Soil organic matter stabilization pathways in clay subfractions from a time series of fertilizer deprivation, *Organic Geochemistry*, *36*(9), 1311-1322, doi:10.1016/j.orggeochem.2005.03.009.
- Michaelis, M., and L. Menten (1913), Die Kinetik der Invertinwirkung, Biochem Z, 49, 3330369.
- Mikutta, R., G. E. Schaumann, D. Gildemeister, S. Bonneville, M. G. Kramer, J. Chorover, O. A. Chadwick, and G. Guggenberger (2009), Biogeochemistry of mineral-organic associations across a long-term mineralogical soil gradient (0.3-4100 kyr), Hawaiian Islands, *Geochimica Et Cosmochimica Acta*, 73(7), 2034-2060, doi:10.1016/j.gca.2008.12.028.
- Moscatelli, M. C., A. Lagomarsino, A. M. V. Garzillo, A. Pignataro, and S. Grego (2012), beta-Glucosidase kinetic parameters as indicators of soil quality under conventional and organic cropping systems applying two analytical approaches, *Ecological Indicators*, 13(1), 322-327, doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.06.031.
- Mueller, C. W., and I. Kogel-Knabner (2009), Soil organic carbon stocks, distribution, and composition affected by historic land use changes on adjacent sites, *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 45(4), 347-359, doi:10.1007/s00374-008-0336-9.
- Muyzer, G., E. C. Dewaal, and A. G. Uitterlinden (1993), Profiling of complex microbialpopulations by denaturing gradient gel-electrophoresis analysis of polymerase chain reactionamplified genes coding for 16S ribosomal RNA, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 59(3), 695-700.
- Nannipieri, P., and L. Gianfreda (1998), *Kinetics of enzyme reactions in soil environments*, pp. 449–479, J. Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Nannipieri, P., J. Ascher, M. T. Ceccherini, L. Landi, G. Pietramellara, and G. Renella (2003), Microbial diversity and soil functions, *European Journal of Soil Science*, 54(4), 655-670, doi: 10.1046/j.1351-0754.2003.0556.x.

- Nausch, M., and G. Nausch (2007), Bioavailable dissolved organic phosphorus and phosphorus use by heterotrophic bacteria, *Aquatic Biology*, *1*(2), 151-160.
- Nemergut, D. R., et al. (2008), The effects of chronic nitrogen fertilization on alpine tundra soil microbial communities: implications for carbon and nitrogen cycling, *Environmental Microbiology*, 10(11), 3093-3105, doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2008.01735.x.
- Nemergut, D. R., C. C. Cleveland, W. R. Wieder, C. L. Washenberger, and A. R. Townsend (2010), Plot-scale manipulations of organic matter inputs to soils correlate with shifts in microbial community composition in a lowland tropical rain forest, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 42(12), 2153-2160, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.08.011.
- Neufeldt, H., D. V. S. Resck, and M. A. Ayarza (2002), Texture and land-use effects on soil organic matter in Cerrado Oxisols, Central Brazil, *Geoderma*, 107(3-4), 151-164, doi:10.1016/ s0016-7061(01)00145-8.
- Oades, J. (1989), *An introduction to organic matter in mineral soils.*, pp. 89–159, 2nd edition ed., Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI.
- Oksanen, J. (2013), Multivariate Analysis of Ecological Communities in R: vegan tutorial.
- Olander, L. P., and P. M. Vitousek (2000), Regulation of soil phosphatase and chitinase activity by N and P availability, *Biogeochemistry*, 49(2), 175-190, doi:10.1023/a:1006316117817.
- Onyenwoke, R. U., J. A. Brill, K. Farahi, and J. Wiegel (2004), Sporulation genes in members of the low G+C Gram-type-positive phylogenetic branch (Firmicutes), *Archives of Microbiology*, 182(2-3), 182-192, doi:10.1007/s00203-004-0696-y.
- Ostertag, R., E. Marin-Spiotta, W. L. Silver, and J. Schulten (2008), Litterfall and decomposition in relation to soil carbon pools along a secondary forest chronosequence in Puerto Rico, *Ecosystems*, *11*(5), 701-714, doi:10.1007/s10021-008-9152-1.
- Peltre, C., J. M. Fernandez, J. M. Craine, and A. F. Plante (2013), Relationships between Biological and Thermal Indices of Soil Organic Matter Stability Differ with Soil Organic Carbon Level, *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 77(6), 2020-2028, doi:10.2136/sssaj2013.02.0081.
- Philips, D. A., T. C. Fox, and J. Six (2006), Root exudation (net efflux of amino acids) may increase rhizodeposition under elevated CO2, *Global Change Biology*, 12(3), 561-567, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01100.x.
- Piccolo, A. (2001), The supramolecular structure of humic substances, *Soil Science*, *166*(11), 810-832, doi:10.1097/00010694-200111000-00007.
- Plante, A., M. Stone, and W. McGill (In Press), *The Metabolic Physiology of Soil Microorganisms*, Elsevier Academic Press, Waltham, MA, USA.
- Plante, A. F., J. M. Fernandez, and J. Leifeld (2009), Application of thermal analysis techniques in soil science, *Geoderma*, 153(1-2), 1-10, doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2009.08.016.

- Plante, A. F., J. M. Fernandez, M. L. Haddix, J. M. Steinweg, and R. T. Conant (2011), Biological, chemical and thermal indices of soil organic matter stability in four grassland soils, *Soil Biology* & *Biochemistry*, 43(5), 1051-1058, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.01.024.
- Preston, C. M. (1996), Applications of NMR to soil organic matter analysis: History and prospects, *Soil Science*, 161(3), 144-166, doi:10.1097/00010694-199603000-00002.
- Priest, F. (1977), Extracellular enzyme synthesis in the genus Bacillus., Bacteriological ReviewsâĂă, 41, 711-753.
- Quideau, S. A., O. A. Chadwick, A. Benesi, R. C. Graham, and M. A. Anderson (2001), A direct link between forest vegetation type and soil organic matter composition, *Geoderma*, 104(1-2), 41-60, doi:10.1016/s0016-7061(01)00055-6.
- Quiquampoix, H. (2000), Mechanisms of Protein Adsorption on Surfaces and Consequences for Extracellular Enzyme Activity in SoilâĂă, pp. 171–206, Marcel Dekker, New York.
- Ranjard, L., and A. S. Richaume (2001), Quantitative and qualitative microscale distribution of bacteria in soil, *Research in Microbiology*, 152(8), 707-716.
- Rao, M. A., A. Violante, and L. Gianfreda (2000), Interaction of acid phosphatase with clays, organic molecules and organo-mineral complexes: kinetics and stability, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 32(7), 1007-1014, doi:10.1016/s0038-0717(00)00010-9.
- Rasse, D. P., C. Rumpel, and M. F. Dignac (2005), Is soil carbon mostly root carbon? Mechanisms for a specific stabilisation, *Plant and Soil*, 269(1-2), 341-356.
- Reed, S. C., C. C. Cleveland, and A. R. Townsend (2007), Controls over leaf litter and soil nitrogen fixation in two lowland tropical rain forests, *Biotropica*, 39(5), 585-592, doi:10.1111/j. 1744-7429.2007.00310.x.
- Regan, K., C. Kammann, K. Hartung, K. Lenhart, C. Muller, L. Philippot, E. Kandeler, and S. Marhan (2011), Can differences in microbial abundances help explain enhanced N2O emissions in a permanent grassland under elevated atmospheric CO2?, *Global Change Biology*, 17(10), 3176-3186, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02470.x.
- Rinkes, Z. L., M. N. Weintraub, J. L. Deforest, and D. L. Moorhead (2011), Microbial substrate preference and community dynamics during decomposition of Acer saccharum, *Fungal Ecology*, 4(6), 396-407.
- Robertson, G., and P. Groffman (2007), Nitrogen Transformations, Springer, New York, NY, USA.
- Roper, M. M., and J. K. Ladha (1995), Biological N-2 fixation by heterotrophic and phototrophic bacteria in association with straw, *Plant and Soil*, *174*(1-2), 211-224, doi:10.1007/bf00032248.

Rosario-Martinez, H. (2012), phia: Post-Hoc Interaction Analysis.

- Rousk, J., E. Baath, P. C. Brookes, C. L. Lauber, C. Lozupone, J. G. Caporaso, R. Knight, and N. Fierer (2010), Soil bacterial and fungal communities across a pH gradient in an arable soil, *Isme Journal*, 4(10), 1340-1351.
- Rumpel, C., and I. Kogel-Knabner (2011), Deep soil organic matter-a key but poorly understood component of terrestrial C cycle, *Plant and Soil*, *338*(1-2), 143-158.
- Rumpel, C., I. Kogel-Knabner, and F. Bruhn (2002), Vertical distribution, age, and chemical composition of organic, carbon in two forest soils of different pedogenesis, *Organic Geochemistry*, 33(10), 1131-1142, doi:10.1016/s0146-6380(02)00088-8.
- Rumpel, C., K. Eusterhues, and I. Kogel-Knabner (2004), Location and chemical composition of stabilized organic carbon in topsoil and subsoil horizons of two acid forest soils, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 36(1), 177-190, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2003.09.005.
- Rumpel, C., N. Rabia, S. Derenne, K. Quenea, K. Eusterhues, I. Kogel-Knabner, and A. Mariotti (2006), Alteration of soil organic matter following treatment with hydrofluoric acid (HF), *Organic Geochemistry*, 37(11), 1437-1451, doi:10.1016/j.orggeochem.2006.07.001.
- Rygiewicz, P. T., and C. P. Andersen (1994), Mycorrhizae alter quality and quantity of carbon allocated below ground, *Nature*, *369*(6475), 58-60, doi:10.1038/369058a0.
- Saiya-Cork, K. R., R. L. Sinsabaugh, and D. R. Zak (2002), The effects of long term nitrogen deposition on extracellular enzyme activity in an Acer saccharum forest soil, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 34(9), 1309-1315.
- Salome, C., N. Nunan, V. Pouteau, T. Z. Lerch, and C. Chenu (2010), Carbon dynamics in topsoil and in subsoil may be controlled by different regulatory mechanisms, *Global Change Biology*, *16*(1), 416-426, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.01884.x.
- Sarkar, J. M., A. Leonowicz, and J. M. Bollag (1989), Immobilization of enzymes on clays and soils, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 21(2), 223-230, doi:10.1016/0038-0717(89)90098-9.
- Scatena, F. (1989), An Introduction to the Physiography and History of the Bisley Experimental Watersheds in the Luquillo Mountains of Puerto Rico, *Report*, United States Department of Agriculture.
- Scatena, F. N., and A. E. Lugo (1995), Geomorphology, disturbance, and the soil and vegetation of 2 subtropical wet steepland watersheds of puerto-rico, *Geomorphology*, *13*(1-4), 199-213.
- Schimel, J. P., and M. N. Weintraub (2003), The implications of exoenzyme activity on microbial carbon and nitrogen limitation in soil: a theoretical model, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 35(4), 549-563, doi:10.1016/s0038-0717(03)00015-4.
- Schmidt, M. W. I., and G. Gleixner (2005), Carbon and nitrogen isotope composition of bulk soils, particle-size fractions and organic material after treatment with hydrofluoric acid, *European Journal of Soil Science*, 56(3), 407-416, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2389.2004.00673.x.

- Schmidt, M. W. I., H. Knicker, P. G. Hatcher, and I. KogelKnabner (1997), Improvement of C-13 and N-15 CPMAS NMR spectra of bulk soils, particle size fractions and organic material by treatment with 10*European Journal of Soil Science*, 48(2), 319-328, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2389. 1997.tb00552.x.
- Schmidt, M. W. I., et al. (2011), Persistence of soil organic matter as an ecosystem property, *Nature*, 478(7367), 49-56.
- Seiders, V. (1971a), Cretaceous and lower Tertiary stratigraphy of the Gurabo and El Yunque Quadrangles, Puerto Rico., *Report*, US Geological Survey.
- Seiders, V. (1971b), Geologic Map of the El Yunque Quadrangle.
- Sessitsch, A., A. Weilharter, M. H. Gerzabek, H. Kirchmann, and E. Kandeler (2001), Microbial population structures in soil particle size fractions of a long-term fertilizer field experiment, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67(9), 4215-4224.
- Setlow, P. (2007), I will survive: DNA protection in bacterial spores, *Trends in Microbiology*, *15*(4), 172-180.
- Sidhu, P. S., R. J. Gilkes, R. M. Cornell, A. M. Posner, and J. P. Quirk (1981), DISSOLUTION OF IRON-OXIDES AND OXYHYDROXIDES IN HYDROCHLORIC AND PERCHLORIC ACIDS, *Clays and Clay Minerals*, 29(4), 269-276, doi:10.1346/ccmn.1981.0290404.
- Silver, W. L. (1994), Is nutrient availability related to plant nutrient use in humid tropical forests, *Oecologia*, 98(3-4), 336-343.
- Silver, W. L., F. N. Scatena, A. H. Johnson, T. G. Siccama, and M. J. Sanchez (1994), Nutrient availability in a montane wet tropical forest- spatial patterns and methodological considerations, *Plant and Soil*, *164*(1), 129-145.
- Silver, W. L., J. Neff, M. McGroddy, E. Veldkamp, M. Keller, and R. Cosme (2000), Effects of soil texture on belowground carbon and nutrient storage in a lowland Amazonian forest ecosystem, *Ecosystems*, 3(2), 193-209, doi:10.1007/s100210000019.
- Silver, W. L., D. J. Herman, and M. K. Firestone (2001), Dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium in upland tropical forest soils, *Ecology*, 82(9), 2410-2416, doi:10.1890/0012-9658(2001) 082[2410:dnrtai]2.0.co;2.
- Silver, W. L., A. W. Thompson, A. Reich, J. J. Ewel, and M. K. Firestone (2005), Nitrogen cycling in tropical plantation forests: Potential controls on nitrogen retention, *Ecological Applications*, 15(5), 1604-1614, doi:10.1890/04-1322.
- Simon, A., M. Larsen, and C. Hupp (1990), The role of soil processes in determining mechanisms of slope failure and hillslope development in a humid-tropical forest, eastern Puerto Rico., *Geomorphology*, 3, 263-286.

- Sinsabaugh, R. L., and D. L. Moorhead (1994), Resource-allocation to extracellular enzymeproduction- A model for nitrogen and phosphorus control of litter decomposition, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 26(10), 1305-1311.
- Sinsabaugh, R. L., and J. J. F. Shah (2010), Integrating resource utilization and temperature in metabolic scaling of riverine bacterial production, *Ecology*, 91(5), 1455-1465, doi:10.1890/ 08-2192.1.
- Sinsabaugh, R. L., and J. J. F. Shah (2012), Ecoenzymatic Stoichiometry and Ecological Theory, Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, Vol 43, 43, 313-343.
- Sinsabaugh, R. L., M. E. Gallo, C. Lauber, M. P. Waldrop, and D. R. Zak (2005), Extracellular enzyme activities and soil organic matter dynamics for northern hardwood forests receiving simulated nitrogen deposition, *Biogeochemistry*, 75(2), 201-215, doi:10.1007/s10533-004-7112-1.
- Sinsabaugh, R. L., et al. (2008), Stoichiometry of soil enzyme activity at global scale, *Ecology Letters*, *11*(11), 1252-1264.
- Sinsabaugh, R. L., B. H. Hill, and J. J. F. Shah (2009), Ecoenzymatic stoichiometry of microbial organic nutrient acquisition in soil and sediment, *Nature*, 462(7274), 795-U117.
- Skjemstad, J. O., L. J. Janik, and J. A. Taylor (1998), Non-living soil organic matter: what do we know about it?, Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture, 38(7), 667-680.
- Smejkalova, D., R. Spaccini, and A. Piccolo (2008), Multivariate analysis of CPMAS (13)C-NMR spectra of soils and humic matter as a tool to evaluate organic carbon quality in natural systems, *European Journal of Soil Science*, 59(3), 496-504, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2389.2007.01005.x.
- Snajdr, J., V. Valaskova, V. Merhautova, J. Herinkova, T. Cajthaml, and P. Baldrian (2008), Spatial variability of enzyme activities and microbial biomass in the upper layers of Quercus petraea forest soil, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 40(9), 2068-2075.
- Sollins, P., M. G. Kramer, C. Swanston, K. Lajtha, T. Filley, A. K. Aufdenkampe, R. Wagai, and R. D. Bowden (2009), Sequential density fractionation across soils of contrasting mineralogy: evidence for both microbial- and mineral-controlled soil organic matter stabilization, *Biogeochemistry*, 96(1-3), 209-231, doi:10.1007/s10533-009-9359-z.
- Sombroek, W. G., F. O. Nachtergaele, and A. Hebel (1993), Amounts, dynamics and sequestering of carbon in tropical and subtropical soils, *Ambio*, 22(7), 417-426.
- Spielvogel, S., J. Prietzel, and I. Kogel-Knabner (2008), Soil organic matter stabilization in acidic forest soils is preferential and soil type-specific, *European Journal of Soil Science*, 59(4), 674-692.
- Spohn, M., and Y. Kuzyakov (2013), Phosphorus mineralization can be driven by microbial need for carbon, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 61, 69-75.

Staff, S. S. (2013), Soil Series Classification Database.

- Stahl, D., and J. de la Torre (2012), Physiology and diversity of ammonia-oxidizing ArchaeaâĂă, *Annual Review of Microbiology*, 66, 83-101.
- Stals, I., B. Samyn, K. Sergeant, T. White, K. Hoorelbeke, A. Coorevits, B. Devreese, M. Claeyssens, and K. Piens (2010), Identification of a gene coding fora deglycosylating enzyme in Hypocrea jecorina, *Fems Microbiology Letters*, 303(1), 9-17, doi:10.1111/j.1574-6968. 2009.01849.x.
- Steenbergh, A. K., P. L. E. Bodelier, H. L. Hoogveld, C. P. Slomp, and H. J. Laanbroek (2011), Phosphatases relieve carbon limitation of microbial activity in Baltic Sea sediments along a redox-gradient, *Limnology and Oceanography*, 56(6), 2018-2026.
- Steinweg, J. M., J. S. Dukes, and M. D. Wallensteine (2012), Modeling the effects of temperature and moisture on soil enzyme activity: Linking laboratory assays to continuous field data, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 55, 85-92, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.06.015.
- Steinweg, J. M., S. Jagadamma, J. Frerichs, and M. A. Mayes (2013), Activation Energy of Extracellular Enzymes in Soils from Different Biomes, *Plos One*, 8(3), 7.
- Stone, M., A. Plante, and B. Casper (2013), Plant and nutrient controls on microbial functional characteristics in a tropical Oxisol, *Plant and Soil*, *373*, 893-905.
- Stone, M., J. DeForest, and A. Plante (2014), Changes in extracellular enzyme activity and microbial community structure with soil depth at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 75, 237-247.
- Stone, M., J. Kan, and A. Plante (In Press), Parent material and vegetation influence bacterial community structure and nitrogen functional genes along deep tropical soil profiles at the Luquillo Critical Zone Observatory, Soil Biology & Biochemistry.
- Stone, M. M., and A. F. Plante (2014), Changes in phosphatase kinetics with soil depth across a variable tropical landscape, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 71, 61-67, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2014. 01.006.
- Suzuki, M. T., and S. J. Giovannoni (1996), Bias caused by template annealing in the amplification of mixtures of 16S rRNA genes by PCR, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *62*(2), 625-630.
- Swift, M. J., O. W. Heal, and J. M. Anderson (1979), *Decomposition inâĂăterrestrial ecosystems.*, Blackwell, Oxford, UK.
- Sylvia, D., J. Fuhrmann, P. Hartel, and D. Zuberer (2005), Principles and applications of soil microbiology, Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- Tabatabai, M., and J. Bremner (1971), Michaelis constants of soil enzymes, Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 3, 317-323.
- Tabatabai, M. A., A. M. Garcia-Manzanedo, and V. Acosta-Martinez (2002), Substrate specificity of arylamidase in soils, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 34(1), 103-110, doi:10.1016/s0038-0717(01) 00162-6.
- Talbot, J. M., and K. K. Treseder (2010), Controls over mycorrhizal uptake of organic nitrogen, *Pedobiologia*, 53(3), 169-179, doi:10.1016/j.pedobi.2009.12.001.
- Tate, R. L. (1979), Microbial activity in organic soils as affected by soil depth and crop, *Applied* and Environmental Microbiology, 37(6), 1085-1090.
- Taylor, J. P., B. Wilson, M. S. Mills, and R. G. Burns (2002), Comparison of microbial numbers and enzymatic activities in surface soils and subsoils using various techniques, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 34(3), 387-401.
- Team, R. C. (2012), R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- Tedersoo, L., et al. (2010), 454 Pyrosequencing and Sanger sequencing of tropical mycorrhizal fungi provide similar results but reveal substantial methodological biases, *New Phytologist*, 188(1), 291-301, doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03373.x.
- Templer, P. H., W. L. Silver, J. Pett-Ridge, K. M. DeAngelis, and M. K. Firestone (2008), Plant and microbial controls on nitrogen retention and loss in a humid tropical forest, *Ecology*, 89(11), 3030-3040, doi:10.1890/07-1631.1.
- Tiessen, H., and J. Moir (1993), *Characterization of available P by sequential extraction*, pp. 75–86, Lewis publishers, Boca Raton.
- Tiessen, H., P. Chacon, and E. Cuevas (1994), Phosphorus and nitrogen status in soils and vegetation along a toposequence of dystrophic rain-forests on the upper Rio-negro, *Oecologia*, 99(1-2), 145-150, doi:10.1007/bf00317095.
- Torn, M. S., S. E. Trumbore, O. A. Chadwick, P. M. Vitousek, and D. M. Hendricks (1997), Mineral control of soil organic carbon storage and turnover, *Nature*, 389(6647), 170-173, doi:10.1038/ 38260.
- Torn, M. S., A. G. Lapenis, A. Timofeev, M. L. Fischer, B. V. Babikov, and J. W. Harden (2002), Organic carbon and carbon isotopes in modern and 100-year-old-soil archives of the Russian steppe, *Global Change Biology*, 8(10), 941-953, doi:10.1046/j.1365-2486.2002.00477.x.
- Torres, P. A., A. B. Abril, and E. H. Bucher (2005), Microbial succession in litter decomposition in the semi-arid Chaco woodland, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, *37*(1), 49-54, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio. 2004.042.
- Torsvik, V., and L. Ovreas (2002), Microbial diversity and function in soil: from genes to ecosystems, *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 5(3), 240-245.

Trasar-Cepeda, C., M. C. Leiros, and F. Gil-Sotres (2008), Hydrolytic enzyme activities in agricul-

tural and forest soils. Some implications for their use as indicators of soil quality, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 40(9), 2146-2155.

- Treseder, K. K. (2008), Nitrogen additions and microbial biomass: a meta-analysis of ecosystem studies, *Ecology Letters*, 11(10), 1111-1120, doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01230.x.
- Treseder, K. K., and P. M. Vitousek (2001), Effects of soil nutrient availability on investment in acquisition of N and P in Hawaiian rain forests, *Ecology*, 82(4), 946-954, doi:10.2307/2679894.
- Trumbore, S. (2000), Age of soil organic matter and soil respiration: Radiocarbon constraints on belowground C dynamics, *Ecological Applications*, *10*(2), 399-411, doi:10.2307/2641102.
- Trumbore, S. (2009), Radiocarbon and Soil Carbon Dynamics, Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, vol. 37, pp. 47–66, Annual Reviews, Palo Alto, doi:10.1146/annurev.earth.36. 031207.124300.
- Trumbore, S. E., E. A. Davidson, P. B. Decamargo, D. C. Nepstad, and L. A. Martinelli (1995), Belowground cycling of carbon in forests and pastures of eastern Amazonia, *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 9(4), 515-528, doi:10.1029/95gb02148.
- Turner, B. L., and B. M. J. Engelbrecht (2011), Soil organic phosphorus in lowland tropical rain forests, *Biogeochemistry*, *103*(1-3), 297-315, doi:10.1007/s10533-010-9466-x.
- Turner, B. L., and T. E. Romero (2010), Stability of hydrolytic enzyme activity and microbial phosphorus during storage of tropical rain forest soils, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 42(3), 459-465, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2009.11.029.
- Vance, E. D., and F. S. Chapin (2001), Substrate limitations to microbial activity in taiga forest floors, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 33(2), 173-188, doi:10.1016/s0038-0717(00)00127-9.
- Venkatesan, S., and V. K. Senthurpandian (2006), Comparison of enzyme activity with depth under tea plantations and forested sites in south India, *Geoderma*, 137(1-2), 212-216.
- Vitousek, P. M., and R. L. Sanford (1986), Nutrient cycling in moist tropical forest, Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 17, 137-167, doi:10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.17.1.137.
- Vitousek, P. M., S. Porder, B. Z. Houlton, and O. A. Chadwick (2010), Terrestrial phosphorus limitation: mechanisms, implications, and nitrogen-phosphorus interactions, *Ecological Applications*, 20(1), 5-15, doi:10.1890/08-0127.1.
- Wagai, R., and L. M. Mayer (2007), Sorptive stabilization of organic matter in soils by hydrous iron oxides, *Geochimica Et Cosmochimica Acta*, 71(1), 25-35, doi:10.1016/j.gca.2006.08.047.
- Waldrop, M. P., D. R. Zak, and R. L. Sinsabaugh (2004), Microbial community response to nitrogen deposition in northern forest ecosystems, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 36(9), 1443-1451, doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.04.023.

- Waldrop, M. P., D. R. Zak, C. B. Blackwood, C. D. Curtis, and D. Tilman (2006), Resource availability controls fungal diversity across a plant diversity gradient, *Ecology Letters*, 9(10), 1127-1135, doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00965.x.
- Wallenstein, M., and R. Burns (2011), Ecology of Extracellular Enzyme Activities and Organic Matter Degradation in Soil: A Complex Community-Driven Process, book section 2, Soil Science Society of America, Inc., Madison, Wisconson, USA.
- Wallenstein, M. D., and R. J. Vilgalys (2005), Quantitative analyses of nitrogen cycling genes in soils, *Pedobiologia*, 49(6), 665-672, doi:10.1016/j.pedobi.2005.05.005.
- Wallenstein, M. D., and M. N. Weintraub (2008), Emerging tools for measuring and modeling the in situ activity of soil extracellular enzymes, *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 40(9), 2098-2106, doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2008.01.024.
- Wallenstein, M. D., S. McNulty, I. J. Fernandez, J. Boggs, and W. H. Schlesinger (2006), Nitrogen fertilization decreases forest soil fungal and bacterial biomass in three long-term experiments, *Forest Ecology and Management*, 222(1-3), 459-468, doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2005.11.002.
- Waring, B., S. Weintraub, and R. Sinsabaugh (2013), Ecoenzymatic stoichiometry of microbial nutrient acquisition in tropical soils. Biogeochemistry, *Biogeochemistry*.
- Wattel-Koekkoek, E. J. W., P. P. L. van Genuchten, P. Buurman, and B. van Lagen (2001), Amount and composition of clay-associated soil organic matter in a range of kaolinitic and smectitic soils, *Geoderma*, 99(1-2), 27-49, doi:10.1016/s0016-7061(00)00062-8.
- Weaver, P., and P. Murphy (1990), Forest structure and productivity in Puerto Rico's Luquillo Mountains, *Biotropica*, (22), 62-82.
- Weaver, P. L. (1991), Environmental gradients affect forest composition in the Luquillo Mountains of Puerto-Rico, *Interciencia*, *16*(3), 142-151.
- Weintraub, S. R., W. R. Wieder, C. C. Cleveland, and A. R. Townsend (2013), Organic matter inputs shift soil enzyme activity and allocation patterns in a wet tropical forest, *Biogeochemistry*, 114(1-3), 313-326.
- White, A. F., A. E. Blum, M. S. Schulz, D. V. Vivit, D. A. Stonestrom, M. Larsen, S. F. Murphy, and D. Eberl (1998), Chemical weathering in a tropical watershed, Luquillo mountains, Puerto Rico: I. Long-term versus short-term weathering fluxes, *Geochimica Et Cosmochimica Acta*, 62(2), 209-226, doi:10.1016/s0016-7037(97)00335-9.
- White, D. C., W. M. Davis, J. S. Nickels, J. D. King, and R. J. Bobbie (1979), Determination of the sedimentary microbial biomass extractable lipid phosphate, *Oecologia*, 40(1), 51-62.
- Whitman, W. B., D. C. Coleman, and W. J. Wiebe (1998), Prokaryotes: The unseen majority, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 95(12), 6578-6583, doi:10.1073/pnas.95.12.6578.

- Wieder, W. R., G. B. Bonan, and S. Allison (2013), Global soil carbon predictions are improved by modelling microbial processes, *Nature Climate Change*, 3, 909-912.
- Williams, P. (1973), The validity of the application of simple kinetic analysis to heterogeneous microbial populations., *Limnology and Oceanography*, (18), 159-165.
- Wood, T. E., M. A. Cavaleri, and S. C. Reed (2012), Tropical forest carbon balance in a warmer world: a critical review spanning microbial- to ecosystem-scale processes, *Biological Reviews*, 87(4), 912-927, doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2012.00232.x.
- Yao, J., W. C. Hockaday, D. B. Murray, and J. White (2014), Changes in fire-derived soil black carbon storage in a subhumid woodland, *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences*, 119, doi:doi:10.1002/2014JG002619.
- Yariv, S., M. Borisover, and I. Lapides (2011), Few introducing comments on the thermal analysis of organoclays, *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry*, 105(3), 897-906, doi:10.1007/ s10973-010-1221-y.
- Zarin, D. J., and A. H. Johnson (1995), Base saturation, nutrient cation, and organic-matter increases during early pedogenesis on landslipde scars in the Luquillo Experimental Forest, Puerto Rico, *Geoderma*, 65(3-4), 317-330, doi:10.1016/0016-7061(94)00048-f.
- Zech, W., L. Haumaier, and I. Kogelknabner (1989), Changes in aromaticity and carbon distribution of soil organic-matter due to pedogenesis, *Science of the Total Environment*, 81-2, 179-186, doi: 10.1016/0048-9697(89)90123-x.
- Zech, W., N. Senesi, G. Guggenberger, K. Kaiser, J. Lehmann, T. M. Miano, A. Miltner, and G. Schroth (1997), Factors controlling humification and mineralization of soil organic matter in the tropics, *Geoderma*, 79(1-4), 117-161, doi:10.1016/s0016-7061(97)00040-2.
- Zelles, L. (1999), Fatty acid patterns of phospholipids and lipopolysaccharides in the characterisation of microbial communities in soil: a review, *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 29(2), 111-129.
- Zhu, R., T. Evans, L. Wormer, Y. Lin, C. Zhu, and K. Hinrichs (2013), Improved sensitivity of sedimentary phospholipid analysis resulting from a novel extract cleanup strategy, *Organic Geochemistry*, 65, 46-52.
- Zimmerman, A. E., A. C. Martiny, and S. D. Allison (2013), Microdiversity of extracellular enzyme genes among sequenced prokaryotic genomes, *Isme Journal*, 7(6), 1187-1199.
- Zink, K., H. Wilkes, U. Disko, M. Elvert, and B. Horsfield (2003), Intact phospholipids- microbial "life markers" in marine deep subsurface sediments, *Organic Geochemistry*, *34*(6), 755-769.
- Zogg, G. P., D. R. Zak, D. B. Ringelberg, N. W. MacDonald, K. S. Pregitzer, and D. C. White (1997), Compositional and functional shifts in microbial communities due to soil warming, *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 61(2), 475-481.

Zvyagintsev, D. (1994), Vertical distribution of microbial communities in soils., pp. 29–37, Wiley, West Sussex, UK.

INDEX

actinobacteria, 30, 36, 41, 47, 70 aliphatic, 36, 103, 114, 120, 122, 125, 127, 146 anaerobic, 36, 41, 47, 64, 74 aromatic, 73, 111, 115, 120, 122, 125 bioavailability, 45, 72 biogeochemistry, 2, 4, 5, 146, 147 biomass, 5, 7, 9, 11, 13, 16–19, 29–32, 35–40, 42–45, 47–49, 62, 73, 89, 102, 105, 108, 114, 120, 121, 143, 147, 148 carbon, 2-8, 10, 29-31, 35, 36, 61, 62, 73, 87, 89, 118, 120, 124, 126, 142-149 cellulose, 47, 103, 104, 120, 122 chitin, 17, 44, 74, 75 clay, 5, 32, 33, 47, 75, 76, 96, 105, 118, 124, 147, 148 climate change, 2, 144 Colorado, 6, 29, 33, 34, 39, 64, 68–70, 72, 73, 91, 93, 96, 102, 103, 108, 113, 115, 116, 121, 122, 124, 127, 146 community structure, 5, 19, 29-32, 35, 38, 39, 41, 42, 46-49, 60, 62-64, 66, 68-73, 76, 77, 94, 105, 122, 145, 147, 148 critical zone, 2, 146, 149 decomposition, 3, 4, 7, 8, 29, 60, 63, 64, 69, 77, 103–105, 111, 119–125, 127, 146 deep biosphere, 62, 143 denitrification, 60, 63, 64, 69, 75-77, 145 DGGE, 60, 64-68, 71 diversity, 3, 48, 71, 72, 145 energy, 2, 3, 31, 32, 37, 42, 46, 62, 64, 74, 87, 94, 97, 105, 107, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119, 125, 126, 142, 143, 145 enzyme, 3, 5–9, 11–19, 29–32, 34, 36–49, 64, 73, 75, 87, 89–92, 94–97, 105, 121, 122, 142 exudate, 8, 9, 17–19 Fe oxide, 120, 124 fingerprinting, 60, 62, 64-66, 122 fractionation, 35, 106, 107, 118, 119, 127, 148 fungal, 30, 38, 41, 44, 46, 47, 56, 102, 108, 109, 114, 115, 120 fungi, 19, 36, 41, 47, 74, 114, 115 gram negative, 30, 36, 38, 41, 47, 48 gram positive, 30, 36, 38, 41, 47, 48 Inceptisol, 29, 33, 39, 41, 61, 65, 69, 70, 72, 75–77, 87, 91, 93, 94, 96, 102, 103, 108–110, 113–116, 118, 124, 125, 146 labile, 8, 9, 16, 18, 19, 44, 45, 76, 94, 103, 106, 111, 122–125, 127 lignin, 47, 104, 114, 119, 123

microbial ecology, 3–5, 29, 37, 142, 143, 145, 147, 148 mineralization, 32, 89, 143, 144 mineralogy, 3, 4, 31, 33, 62, 72, 76, 107, 118, 121, 143, 146

niche, 62, 70

nitrification, 63, 74, 76

nitrogen, 4–8, 11, 29, 31, 36, 60, 61, 63, 87, 102, 104, 113, 114, 126, 142, 146, 147

nitrogen fixation, 60, 63, 64, 69, 74-77, 145

Oxisol, 5, 7, 8, 29, 33, 39, 41, 47, 61, 64, 68–70, 72, 75, 76, 87, 91, 93, 96, 102, 105, 108, 114–116, 120, 123, 124, 146

parent material, 5, 6, 32–34, 41, 49, 60, 63, 64, 72, 77, 87, 90, 91, 96, 106, 108, 142, 145, 146 peptidoglycan, 17, 44 phosphatase, 6, 7, 12, 14–16, 25, 29, 30, 36, 45, 49, 87–92, 95–97, 145, 146 phosphorus, 4–8, 29, 31, 61, 87, 89, 145–147 polysaccharide, 44, 103, 106, 114, 119, 120, 122–124, 127 principal component, 30, 38, 39, 41, 112, 115, 117 protein, 11, 16, 17, 104, 114, 119, 120, 124, 127

redox, 3, 4, 31, 47, 48, 61, 62, 74–77, 123, 125, 145, 146 resource allocation theory, 7, 8, 15, 16, 19, 142 rhizosphere, 7, 8, 11, 13, 14, 47, 142 root, 5, 8–11, 13, 17–19, 43, 47, 73, 102, 108, 109, 114, 115, 120–122, 142, 144 rooting depth, 73

sand, 10, 35, 76, 77, 109

soil organic matter, 2-4, 6, 47, 102-108, 111, 112, 114, 116, 118-127, 142-144, 146-148

sorption, 41, 44, 104, 105, 126

stability, 4, 44, 49, 104, 105, 127, 142–144, 148

stoichiometry, 4, 7, 11, 16, 18, 19, 37, 60, 70, 72, 73, 76, 95

subsoil, 2, 4–6, 29–32, 41–44, 46, 47, 49, 62, 64, 65, 69–71, 73–77, 87, 88, 90, 92, 94–97, 102, 104–106, 115, 116, 118, 121, 122, 124, 127, 143–145, 147, 148

substrate, 12, 16, 17, 19, 31, 32, 36, 37, 41, 43, 44, 51, 63, 74, 75, 88–92, 94–97, 103, 105, 122, 143, 146

Tabonuco, 6, 9, 29, 33, 34, 39, 64, 69, 72, 73, 91, 93, 96, 102, 103, 108, 115, 116, 121, 122 turnover, 30, 32, 44, 46, 48, 49, 90, 96